

Characterising the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation

Nicholas Martin Thompson

School of Psychology and Clinical Language Sciences

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

September 2019

Declaration of original authorship

I confirm that this is my own work and the use of all material from other sources has been properly and fully acknowledged.

Nicholas Martin Thompson (PhD candidate)

1st September 2019

Abstract

Empathy and emotion regulation are both processes that are vital for effective social functioning and emotional wellbeing. Broadly speaking, empathy refers to understanding and/or sharing another's emotion, and emotion regulation refers to the processes by which one manages emotions. Despite increasing awareness that empathy and emotion regulation may be closely related, there has been little empirical study of this topic and the nature of the inter-relationships between their different component processes are not well characterised.

This thesis addresses current gaps in the literature by utilising a range of approaches, including self-report, behavioural, eye-tracking, and psychophysiology measures, to examine the relationship between different trait and task measures of empathy and emotion regulation. It was predicted that the cognitive (i.e. understanding others' emotions) and affective (i.e. sharing others' emotions) dimensions of empathy would show different relationships with emotion regulation. Broadly speaking, it was expected that emotion regulation abilities would be positively associated with cognitive empathy but negatively associated with affective empathy.

There was strong support for the hypothesis that empathy and emotion regulation are related. Furthermore, in most studies there was evidence to suggest that cognitive and affective empathy are related to emotion regulation abilities and behaviours in different ways. Divergent

relationships between trait and task metrics of cognitive and affective empathy were observed for various emotion regulation measures, including habitual strategy use, implicit emotion regulation ability, and reappraisal ability. While there was some support for the hypothesis that emotion regulation abilities are positively associated with cognitive empathy but negatively associated with affective empathy, conflicting findings were observed.

This thesis makes a significant contribution to current knowledge and represents an important step towards elucidating the nature of the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation. The findings also highlight some important considerations regarding the relationship between different methods used to assess empathy and emotion regulation, and prompt actionable research questions to be addressed by future work.

Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank my supervisors, Professor Bhisma Chakrabarti and Professor Carien van Reekum, for all they have done in helping me reach this point. I have learned a great deal from them throughout this PhD and I am ever grateful for all of their guidance and support. Thanks also to every member of Bhismalab, particularly, Dr Anthony Haffey and Dr Nick Hedger for their insight and patience.

I would also like to thank Professor James Gross and Dr Andero Uusberg for their guidance and for making me feel so welcome during my time as a visiting researcher. Of course, a big thank you to my family for putting up with my pessimism and moaning over the last few years (or more accurately, the last 33 years). Last but not least, thanks to Becky for always being there to cheer me up when things were particularly tough.

Table of contents

1
2
4
5
9
12
13

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	14
1.1. General introduction	15
1.2. Empathy	16
1.2.1. Component processes of empathy	17
1.2.1.1. Perception	20
1.2.1.2. Mimicry/embodiment	22
1.2.1.3. Cognitive processes	25
1.3. Emotion regulation	28
1.3.1. Emotion regulation strategies	29
1.3.2. Explicit and implicit emotion regulation	36
1.3.3. Distinction between emotion generation and regulation	38
1.4. Relationship between empathy and emotion regulation	40
1.4.1. Evidence from atypical populations	42
1.4.2. Social appraisals and emotion generation/regulation	42
1.4.3. Overlap in cognitive control processes/neural substrates	44
1.4.4. Emotional awareness and understanding	48
1.5. Summary, aims, and hypotheses	50

CHAPTER 2: TRAIT MEASURES OF EMPATHY & EMOTION REGULATION

2.1. Introduction	57
2.1.1. Trait measures of empathy	57
2.1.2. Trait measures of emotion regulation	59
2.1.3. The current studies	60
2.2. Study 1: Trait empathy & the use of reappraisal & suppression	63
2.2.1. Methods	63
2.2.1.1. Participants	63
2.2.1.2. Materials	64
2.2.1.3. Data reduction and analyses	66
2.2.2. Results	66
2.3. Study 2: Trait empathy and emotion dysregulation	68
2.3.1. Methods	68
2.3.1.1. Participants	68
2.3.1.2. Materials	69

2.3.1.3. Data reduction and analyses	70
2.3.2. Results	70
2.4. Discussion	72
2.4.1. Summary of findings	72
2.4.2. Cognitive empathy and emotion regulation	74
2.4.3. Affective empathy and emotion regulation	76
2.4.4. Summary, conclusions, and limitations	78

CHAPTER 3: TRAIT EMOTION REGULATION & TASK MEASURE	SOF
COGNITIVE & AFFECTIVE EMPATHY	82
3.1. Introduction	83
3.1.1. Task measures of cognitive empathy	84
3.1.2. Task measures of affective empathy	87
3.1.3. The current study	89
3.2. Methods	92
3.2.1. Participants	92
3.2.2. Materials and procedure	93
3.3. Results	103
3.3.1. Director task	103
3.3.2. Reading the mind in the eyes task	105
3.3.3. Spontaneous facial mimicry task	106
3.3.4. Summary of results	110
3.4. Discussion	111
3.4.1. Summary of findings	111
3.4.2. Cognitive empathy and emotion regulation	112
3.4.3. Affective empathy and emotion regulation	114

3.4.4. Summary, conclusions, and limitations	119
--	-----

CHAPTER 4: TRAIT EMPATHY & TASK MEASURES OF IMPLICIT EMOTION REGULATION 122

4.1. Introduction	123
4.1.1. Implicit emotion regulation	123
4.1.2. Task measures of implicit emotion regulation	126
4.1.3. Emo Go/NoGo	126
4.1.4. Emo Stroop	128
4.1.5. The current study	130
4.2. Emo-GNG task	133
4.2.1. Participants	133
4.2.2. Materials	134
4.2.3. Procedure	134
4.2.4. Data reduction and analyses	137
4.2.5. Results	138
4.3. Emo-Stroop task	143
4.3.1. Participants	143

4.3.2. Materials	143
4.3.3. Procedure	144
4.3.4. Data reduction and analyses	146
4.3.5. Results	147
4.4. Discussion	151
4.4.1. Summary of findings	151
4.4.2. Emo-GNG task	152
4.4.3. Emo-Stroop task	154
4.4.4. Summary, conclusions, and limitations	157

CHAPTER 5: TRAIT EMPATHY & TASK MEASURES OF

REAPPRAISAL	160
5.1. Introduction	161
5.1.1. Task measures of reappraisal	161
5.1.2. The current studies	163
5.2. Study 1: Trait empathy and implicit reappraisal	164
5.2.1. Participants	165
5.2.2. Materials	165
5.2.3. Procedure	168
5.2.4. Data reduction and analyses	170
5.2.5. Results	171
5.2.6. Study 1 discussion	174
5.3. Study 2: Trait empathy and explicit reappraisal	175
5.3.1. Automated facial coding	176
5.3.2. Participants	178
5.3.3. Materials	179
5.3.4. Procedure	180
5.3.5. Data reduction and analyses	186
5.3.6. Results	187
5.4. Discussion	195
5.4.1. Summary of findings	195
5.4.2. Cognitive empathy and reappraisal	195
5.4.3. Affective empathy and reappraisal	198
5.4.4. Summary, conclusions, and limitations	200

CHAPTER 6: TRAIT/TASK MEASURES OF EMPATHY & THEIR RELATIONSHIP WITH SPONTANEOUS & INSTRUCTED EMOTION REGULATION 204 6.1. Introduction 205

203
205
207
209

6.2. Methods	210
6.2.1. Participants	210
6.2.2. Materials	211
6.2.3. Procedure	212
6.2.4. Data reduction and analyses	216
6.3. Results	219
6.3.1. Block 1: Emotional reactivity and spontaneous recovery	219
6.3.2. Block 2: Instructed emotion regulation	223
6.4. Discussion	229
6.4.1. Summary of findings	229
6.4.2. Cognitive empathy and emotion regulation	230
6.4.3. Affective empathy and emotion regulation	231
6.4.4. Summary, conclusions, and limitations	233

CHAPTER 7: GENERAL DISCUSSION	238
7.1. Summary	239
7.2. Cognitive empathy and emotion regulation	241
7.2.1. Trait/task measures of cognitive empathy and their	
relationship with trait emotion regulation	242
7.2.2. Trait cognitive empathy and task measures of emotion	
regulation	245
7.3. Affective empathy and emotion regulation	251
7.3.1. Trait/task measures of affective empathy and their	
relationship with trait emotion regulation	252
7.3.2. Trait affective empathy and task measures of emotion	
regulation	254
7.4. Divergent patterns for trait and task measures of ER in terms of	their
relationship with cognitive/affective empathy	255
7.4.1. Propensity versus ability	256
7.4.2. Social versus non-social emotional triggers	257
7.4.3. Long-term versus short-term ER processes	258
7.5. Implications, limitations, and further work	262
References	267
Appendices	330

List of figures

Fig. 1.1. Heuristic depicting component processes of empathy	19
Fig. 1.2. Schematic of the Extended Process Model of emotion regulation	ı 31
Fig. 2.1. Scatterplot of QCAE and ERQ-Reappraisal relationship	67
Fig. 2.2. Scatterplot of QCAE and ERQ-Suppression relationship	68
Fig. 2.3. Scatterplot of relationship between QCAE and DERS-Total	71
Fig. 3.1. Example of trial stimuli from the director task	96
Fig. 3.2. Example of stimuli from the reading the mind in the eyes test	99
Fig. 3.3. Example of trial from the spontaneous facial mimicry task	101
Fig. 3.4. Mean RT for each condition in the director task	103
Fig. 3.5. Scatterplot showing relationship between perspective-taking	
ability (director task) and DERS-Total	104
Fig. 3.6. Scatterplot showing relationship between perspective-taking	
ability (director task) and ERQ	105
Fig. 3.7. Mean baseline corrected zygomaticus activity in the SFM task	107
Fig. 3.8. Mean baseline corrected corrugator activity in the SFM task	108
Fig. 3.9. Scatterplot showing relationship between DERS-Total and	
angry/happy face mimicry	109
Fig. 3.10. Scatterplot showing relationship between ERQ-reappraisal use	2
and angry/happy face mimicry	110
Fig. 4.1. Trial schematic for the Emo-GNG task	136
Fig. 4.2. Mean D-prime across conditions in the Emo-GNG task	139

Fig. 4.3. Scatterplot showing relationship between QCAE and emotional	l
interference effect in the Emo-GNG task	141
Fig. 4.4. Schematic of trial structure in the Emo-Stroop task	145
Fig. 4.5. Mean RT across conditions in the Emo-Stroop	149
Fig. 4.6. Scatterplot showing relationship between QCAE and Emo-Stro	ор
emotion interference effect	150
Fig. 5.1. Schematic of trial events in the implicit reappraisal task	170
Fig. 5.2. Mean valence ratings across each condition in the implicit	
reappraisal task	172
Fig. 5.3. Scatterplot showing relationship between implicit reappraisal t	ask
metric and QCAE	173
Fig. 5.4. Schematic of trial events in the explicit reappraisal task	183
Fig. 5.5. Depiction of key steps in Facereader AFC video analysis	185
Fig. 5.6. Mean valence and arousal ratings across each condition in the	
explicit reappraisal task	189
Fig. 5.7. Mean AFC valence scores for negative and neutral images in the	2 2
explicit reappraisal task	190
Fig. 5.8. Mean baseline corrected AFC valence scores for each epoch ac	ross
rethink and watch conditions in the explicit reappraisal task	191
Fig. 5.9. Mean baseline corrected AFC valence scores in each 1 second	
epoch of the explicit reappraisal task	192
Fig. 5.10. Scatterplot showing relationship between arousal rating	
difference metric and QCAE	193

Fig. 5.11. Scatterplot showing relationship between AFC valence score as	nd
QCAE	194
Fig. 6.1. Schematic of spontaneous and instructed regulation task	214
Fig. 6.2. Mean arousal and valence ratings for negative and neutral imag	jes
in spontaneous block of the regulation task	219
Fig. 6.3. Mean baseline corrected corrugator separated by early/late	
periods for reactivity and recovery epochs – spontaneous block	221
Fig. 6.4. Mean baseline corrected corrugator in each 1-second period of	;
reactivity and recovery epochs – spontaneous block	221
Fig. 6.5. Mean arousal and valence ratings – instructed block	224
Fig. 6.6. Mean baseline corrected corrugator separated by early/late	
periods for reactivity and recovery epochs – instructed block	226
Fig. 6.7. Mean baseline corrected corrugator in each 1 second period of	
reactivity and recovery epochs – instructed block	226

List of tables

Table 1.1. Overview of empirical chapters/studies in this thesis.	54	
Table 2.1. Correlations between QCAE and DERS subscales	72	
Table 3.1. Summary of correlations reported in this chapter	110	
Table 4.1. Block structure and trial N in the Emo-GNG task	135	
Table 4.2. Block structure and trial N in Emo-Stroop task	145	
Table 6.1. Correlations between task measures of cognitive (DT) and		
affective (SFM) empathy and self-report measures of reactivity	222	
Table 6.2. Correlations between task measures of cognitive (DT) and		
affective (SFM) empathy and EMG measure of spontaneous recovery	223	
Table 6.3. Correlations between cognitive (DT) and affective (SFM) empathy		
tasks with self-report measures of instructed regulation	227	
Table 6.4. Correlations between task measures of cognitive and affective		
empathy and corrugator EMG measures of instructed regulation	228	
Table 7.1. Summary of chapter hypotheses and findings	240	

List of manuscripts resulting from this thesis

Published

Thompson, N. M., Uusberg, A., Gross, J. J. and Chakrabarti, B. (2019) *Empathy and emotion regulation: an integrative account.* In: Emotion and Cognition. Progress in Brain Research, 247. Elsevier, pp. 273-304.

Submitted/in preparation

Thompson, N. M., van Reekum, C. M., and Chakrabarti, B. (submitted). How cognitive and affective empathy relate to emotion regulation: Divergent patterns from trait and task-based measures of reappraisal.

Thompson, N. M., van Reekum, C. M., and Chakrabarti, B. (in prep). Distinct components of empathy are differentially related to trait emotion dysregulation: Evidence from trait and task measures of cognitive and affective empathy.

Thompson, N. M., van Reekum, C. M., and Chakrabarti, B. (in prep). Trait empathy and implicit emotion regulation: Evidence of a dissociation between cognitive and affective empathy in an emo-Stroop and emogo/nogo task.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1. General introduction

Empathy and emotion regulation are both processes that are vital for effective social functioning and emotional wellbeing (Decety and Lamm, 2006; Gross, 2002, 2015). Broadly speaking, empathy refers to understanding and/or sharing another's emotion (Chakrabarti and Baron-Cohen, 2006; Decety and Jackson 2004; Preston and de Waal 2002), and emotion regulation refers to the processes by which one manages emotions (Gross, 1998, 2015). While empathy and emotion regulation largely have been considered separately, there is growing awareness that these processes may be closely related. Consider a situation in which somebody has upset or angered you. Trying to see things from that person's perspective and understand the motivations behind their actions can often help to regulate any negative emotions you felt as a result of their behaviours. Or think of a parent whose child is in pain. Empathic processes can allow the parent to understand and share their child's distress. However, if they are unable to sufficiently regulate the emotional state elicited via empathic processes, it could impede the parent's ability to support their child appropriately. These everyday examples illustrate just some of the ways in which empathic and regulatory processes may interact.

While the extant literature discussed in this chapter provides some evidence to suggest that these constructs may be related, there has been little systematic study of this topic. As such, the nature of the interrelationships between different component processes related to empathy

and emotion regulation are not well characterised. The research presented in this thesis addresses current gaps in the literature by utilising a range of approaches, including self-report, behavioural, eye-tracking, and psychophysiology measures, to examine the relationship between the various component processes that comprise empathy and emotion regulation. This introductory chapter discusses key background literature relevant to the studies described within. I begin with an overview of the key components of empathy and emotion regulation, before discussing existing theoretical and empirical work suggestive of a relationship between these two constructs.

1.2. Empathy

Empathy refers to the capacity to understand and/or share the emotions of others. These abilities serve vital social functions, such as enabling one to understand and respond appropriately to others, thereby supporting the development and maintenance of interpersonal relationships (Bailey et al., 2008). Levels of empathy have been shown to vary within the general population, and it is considered to be a measurable and relatively stable trait (Baron-Cohen and Wheelwright, 2004; Leiberg and Anders, 2006). Various approaches have been used to assess variability in empathy; subsequent chapters describe in greater detail some commonly used selfreport (chapter 2) and task-based (chapter 3) measures of empathy. The focus of this section is upon providing a broad overview of the construct, highlighting the different component processes that support the human

capacity to understand and resonate with the emotional experiences of others.

1.2.1. Component processes of empathy

Most theories of empathy distinguish between two core dimensions: affective empathy (the propensity/ability to *share* others' emotions), and cognitive empathy (the ability to *understand* others' emotional experiences) (Decety and Jackson, 2004; Singer and Lamm, 2009). There is considerable support for this distinction between the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy, which are each mediated by largely non-overlapping neural substrates (see review by Yu and Chou, 2018). For example, individuals with autism spectrum conditions (ASC) exhibit deficits in understanding others' emotional states, but their ability to resonate with others' emotions remains relatively intact (Baron-Cohen and Wheelwright, 2004; Lockwood et al., 2013; see Frith and Happé, 2005, for review). Conversely, individuals with psychopathic traits and conduct disorder display deficits in the affective dimension of empathy, but do not show similar difficulties with cognitive empathic abilities (Jones et al., 2010; Lockwood et al., 2013; Sebastian et al., 2012).

While many theoretical accounts use the term empathy to refer to the endstate(s) associated with understanding and/or sharing another's emotion, I propose that empathy is best conceptualized not as end-states, but as the processes themselves that mediate these states. As such, empathy is not a

distinct emotional state per se (e.g. sadness, happiness), but rather a set of processes through which these emotion-states can be cognitively represented and/or generated in response to observing another conspecific. The rationale for a departure from the conventional framing of the term empathy as an emotional state is that such use of the term can conflate it with other experiences, such as sympathy, which represents just one possible outcome of observing another individual's emotional state (Batson et al., 1987; Eisenberg et al., 1989).

In this thesis, I use the following heuristic for empathy, with three core components: 1) perception (perceptual mechanisms that facilitate the detection of relevant emotion cues), 2) mimicry/embodiment (mechanisms that can elicit spontaneous resonance with another's emotions), and 3) cognitive processes (mechanisms that enable the observer to make inferences about another's experience and manage the co-active self and other related representations) (fig. 1.1).

These empathic components reflect separable mechanisms mediated by distinct neural networks, each of which contributes to the understanding or sharing of another individual's emotional response as it unfolds. An affective reaction to another's emotional state has the potential to be elicited in response to whatever cues are available to the perception of the observer. Importantly, different emotion cues may act upon the observer in different ways. When "concrete" cues such as facial, bodily, or vocal

expressions can be perceived, the empathic process can be mediated by mimicry/embodiment mechanisms, which may result in sharing of emotion. In the absence of any concrete emotion cues, "abstract" cues, such as contextual information or verbal mediation through language, can enable an understanding of another's emotion via inferential cognitive processing (Goldman, 2011). As many situations offer a mixture of both types of cues, many empathy-induced reactions arise from a dynamic interplay between cognitive and mimicry-related processes. In the remainder of this subsection I discuss evidence in support of the delineation between the components of empathy described in this heuristic and draw upon relevant empirical findings to demonstrate the role these processes play in the ability to understand and/or share another's emotion.



Fig. 1.1. Component processes of empathy: Perceptual processes facilitate the detection of relevant emotion cues; mimicry/embodiment mechanisms can elicit spontaneous resonance with another's emotions; cognitive processes enable the observer to make inferences about the other's emotional state and distinguish self from other. The colour grading on each component reflects the temporal gradient of these processes: for example, perceptual processes are active very early in response to a stimulus, whereas cognitive processes come online at a later stage. While the three component processes reflect separable mechanisms that operate on different timescales and can act independently, they often operate in parallel.

1.2.1.1. Perception

Crucial to understanding and responding to another's emotion is the ability to attend to relevant cues pertaining to their state. Thus, attention to socio-emotional stimuli reflects a fundamental precursor to empathic processes. One of the primary means by which human emotion is communicated is through facial expressions (Adolphs, 2002). A human face expressing an emotion represents a highly salient cue that is often processed in a prioritized manner.

Efficient detection of facial expressions of emotion has been demonstrated using various paradigms (e.g. Fox et al., 2000; Sweeny et al., 2012). In attentional blink tasks, the inability to detect a second target face when it is preceded by another target with a short stimulus onset asynchrony (within 200-400ms; Fox et al., 2005) is reduced when the second face is emotional (Yerys et al., 2013). Event related potential (ERP) studies have demonstrated that relative to neutral faces, emotional faces are associated with enhanced positivity of fronto-central components, with differences observed as early as 180 ms after stimulus onset (Eimer and Holmes, 2007). Such findings suggest that salient emotional information may be processed at an early stage of perception on a relatively implicit level.

The importance of perceptual processes for empathy is evident in studies of trait empathy. Studies using the aforementioned attentional blink paradigms have shown that improved detection of sad facial expressions

during the 'attentional blink period' is positively related to trait empathy (Kang et al., 2017). Further, two recent eye-tracking studies have shown that trait empathy is positively associated with gaze bias towards social versus non-social stimuli (Chakrabarti et al., 2017; Hedger et al., 2018).

Higher trait empathy is also associated with more fixations on the eyeregion during face perception (Cowan et al., 2014) and a greater ability to infer complex mental/emotional states from images of just the eye-region (Vellante et al., 2013). The eyes appear to hold a special status in human social perception (Darwin, 1872) and attention to the eye-region of the face plays an important role in the perception component of empathy (Baron-Cohen et al., 1997). This view is supported by findings that individuals with ASC, a group of disorders characterized by deficits in social functioning and understanding others' mental/emotional states (Baron-Cohen et al., 1985; Frith and Happe, 2005), fixate less on the eye-region when viewing social stimuli than typical controls (Klin et al., 2002).

As the research discussed above highlights, the perception of facial cues pertaining to another's emotion is a core component process of empathy. While I have focused specifically upon facial expression of emotion, another's emotions can be communicated in a variety of ways, such as through bodily posture, prosody, or verbal mediation through language (Coulson, 2004; Scherer, 2003; Wallbott, 1998). All emotion cues are not necessarily as concrete as facial and bodily expressions: we routinely have

to respond to abstract emotion-relevant cues from our environment. As I will go on to discuss, while concrete emotion cues can spontaneously elicit a response in the observer through mimicry/embodiment mechanisms, abstract cues may require more elaborate cognitive processing (Bird and Viding, 2014; Goldman, 2011).

1.2.1.2. Mimicry/embodiment

Humans display an inherent predisposition to spontaneously mimic the behaviours of others, including their facial expressions, body language, and vocalisations (Chartrand and Bargh, 1999; Chartrand and Dalton, 2008; Dimberg et al., 2000; Hess and Blairy, 2001; Niedenthal et al., 2001). Spontaneous facial mimicry (SFM) has been extensively studied using facial electromyography (fEMG). Perception of emotional facial expressions elicits activity in congruent muscle groups in the observer; e.g. Corrugator supercilii in response to angry faces and the Zygomaticus major in response to happy faces (Dimberg and Petterson, 2000; Dimberg and Thunberg, 1998; Rymarczyk et al., 2018; Sims et al., 2012). Crucially, SFM can be triggered rapidly and automatically (Dimberg and Thunberg, 1998), even when the observer is not consciously aware of the presence of the face (Bornemann et al., 2012; Dimberg et al., 2000). Evidence of such spontaneous mimicry in young children who have not yet developed efficient cognitive control mechanisms (Nadel, 2002), suggests that these processes are recruited early in the hierarchy of empathy-related responses.

Spontaneous mimicry is consistent with the common neural coding between perception and action (Prinz, 1997), whereby the perception of a behaviour automatically activates the motor representations that participate in the first-hand enactment of that behaviour (Dijksterhuis and Bargh, 2001; Preston and de Waal, 2002). This principle has been associated with the putative mirror neuron system (MNS), a network of brain regions activated by both the observation and execution of a given action. The MNS includes the inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), inferior parietal lobule (IPL), superior/middle temporal sulcus/gyrus (STS/MTG), and the anterior insula (AI) (Casile et al., 2011; Iacoboni et al., 1999; Iacoboni and Dapretto, 2006; Rizzolatti and Craighero, 2004). It is thought that the MNS maps the perceived behaviour onto the observer's own motor and affective systems (Bernhardt and Singer, 2012; Stevens et al., 2000).

In the context of others' emotional displays, the shared neural substrates between self and other can evoke in the observer an affective state isomorphic to that of the perceived other (de Waal and Preston, 2017; Hatfield et al., 1993). This set of processes thus potentially enable a quick route to sharing another individual's emotion. This rudimentary embodiment of another's emotion may also facilitate recognition/understanding of the other's state by enabling the observer to draw upon the experience of the other mirrored in his or her own brain and body (Adolphs, 2002; Bastiaansen et al., 2009; Carr et al., 2003; Chartrand

and Bargh, 1999; Dimberg et al., 2000; Hatfield et al., 1993; Niedenthal et al., 2001; Preston and de Waal, 2002).

In support of the role of mimicry/embodiment in empathy, the magnitude of SFM has been found to be positively related to the extent of selfreported emotion shared between the observer and observed other (Sato et al., 2013, though see Hess and Blairy, 2001), and also to trait measures of empathy (Dimberg et al., 2011; Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002). Similarly, activation of structures in the MNS has been noted consistently across a range of paradigms measuring empathic processes (Carr et al., 2003; Chakrabarti et al., 2006; Kaplan and Iacoboni, 2006; Lamm et al., 2011). Individual differences in MNS activation have also been related to trait empathy. For instance, IFG activity during the perception of emotional faces and bodily movements is positively correlated with trait empathy (Kaplan and Iacoboni, 2006; Pfeifer et al., 2008). Meanwhile, lesions in MNS regions are associated with deficits in emotion recognition and a reduced capacity to share others' emotions (Adolphs et al., 2000; Shamay-Tsoory et al., 2009).

In sum, mimicry/embodiment represent component processes within empathy that enable a direct mapping of another individual's emotion on to the motor and affective systems of the observer, without an explicit need for complex cognition. These processes occur at an early stage of stimulus decoding and are largely automatic in nature. Further,

mimicry/embodiment processes may often, although not always, interact with the cognitive processes of empathy described in the following subsection.

1.2.1.3. Cognitive processes

The cognitive processes within empathy have been given various labels, such as perspective-taking and mentalizing, and are often considered synonymous with the construct of theory of mind (ToM) (Batson, 2009; Frith and Frith, 2003; Premack and Woodruff, 1978). This cognitive component encompasses various processes that enable the observer to take the perspective of another individual and make inferences about their mental/emotional state, based on knowledge of the context and estimations of the other's beliefs/intentions (Frith and Frith, 2003). When concrete emotion cues are available, cognitive processes often interact with mimicry/embodiment processes. In the absence of concrete emotion cues, this cognitive-inferential route may in itself be sufficient to enable an understanding of, and affective response to, another's emotion (Goldman, 2011; Singer and Lamm, 2009; Walter, 2012).

Emotional responses to a given stimulus/situation depend on how it is appraised in relation to one's goals (Buhle et al., 2014; Moors, 2013). Thus, in order to accurately represent and respond to another's emotions, the observer must make inferences about the knowledge, goals, and appraisals of the other in a given situation (Frith and Frith, 2003, 2006). At the most

basic level, such inferences can be drawn from situational cues using simple social scripts. For example, knowing that a student has missed the school bus may enable an observer to infer that he or she is likely feeling anxious about being late to school. Critically, the accuracy of these inferential processes is dependent upon the knowledge of the observer (Bird and Viding, 2014; Goldman, 2011). One who is not familiar with school buses and the education system might find it difficult to make the inference relative to another who is more embedded within this socio-cultural milieu.

Empathic processes can often lead to co-active representations of self and other (Decety and Sommerville, 2003; Osborn and Derbyshire, 2010; Santiesteban et al., 2012). In attempting to represent another's state via inferential processes, failures in self other-control can result in egocentric interference, whereby the observer's own knowledge, beliefs, and states can affect how accurately he or she is able to infer another's state (Camerer et al., 1989; Derbyshire et al., 2013; Epley et al., 2004; O'Connell et al., 2015; Silani et al., 2013; Todd et al., 2015). Similarly, where spontaneous mimicry/embodiment of another's emotion is elicited by concrete emotion cues, self-other control processes are necessary for the observer to subsequently represent the other's emotion as distinct from his or her own (Decety and Chaminade, 2003; Preckel et al., 2018). Thus, maintaining selfother distinction is an important cognitive process within empathy, that enables an understanding of another's emotion state (Jackson et al., 2005; Lamm et al., 2007).

In contrast to the relatively automatic nature of mimicry/embodiment processes, this cognitive component reflects more effortful processing. It relies upon various facets of cognitive control (Carlson et al., 2004; Dennis et al., 2009; Gokcen et al., 2016; Hansen, 2011) which enable the observer to simultaneously represent their own and the other's state, inhibit their default egocentric perspective in order to take the perspective of the other, and draw upon relevant knowledge from stored memory (Bird and Viding, 2014; Chakrabarti and Baron-Cohen, 2006; Goldman, 2011; O'Connell et al., 2015).

The cognitive component of empathy is associated with a largely cortical network including the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), the temporoparietal junction (TPJ), the superior temporal sulcus (STS), and the anterior temporal pole (TP) (Frith and Frith, 2006; Ruby and Decety, 2004; Saxe et al., 2004; van Overwalle and Baetens, 2009), with activations in these regions reported across a range of tasks that involve inferring another's mental/emotional state (Atique et al., 2011; Corradi-Dell'Acqua et al., 2014; Goel et al., 1995; Lamm et al., 2011; Morelli et al., 2014; van Overwalle, 2009).

In sum, cognitive processes represent the most elaborate and complex set of empathic processes. They involve switching between the representations of self and other in service of inferences based on concrete and/or abstract cues that requires the integration of perceptual information with stored knowledge. Understandably, these cognitive processes necessitate more cortical resources and time, and as such, occur later and evolve over a longer timescale than the other empathic processes described above.

1.3. Emotion regulation

Emotion regulation comprises diverse processes that transform a goal to experience a different state into distinct strategies that attempt to bias the unfolding of emotion in the desired direction (Gross, 1998, 2015). Emotions are typically defined as psychological and somatic responses to motivationally significant events (Frijda, 1986; Levenson, 1999). While emotions can serve a vital and adaptive function, such as facilitating appropriate behavioural adjustments to one's environment (Lazarus, 1991; Levenson, 1999; Oatley and Jenkins, 1992; Tooby and Cosmides, 1990), sometimes the emotions one experiences can be decidedly unhelpful. For instance, in preparing for an upcoming public talk, a moderate level of anxiety may facilitate the motivation necessary to work hard in order to deliver a successful presentation. However, if one's level of anxiety is excessive and/or improperly managed, it can impede the ability to function effectively in pursuit of this goal (Gross, 2015; Tamir and Millgram, 2017).

Emotion regulation enables control of the type, intensity, and duration of emotional experiences (Gross and Thompson, 2007), facilitating the ability to respond flexibly to situational demands and manage one's emotions in

such a way that they do not impede successful goal pursuit (Gyurak et al., 2011). The capacity to regulate emotions in an adaptive manner has important implications for social functioning, emotional wellbeing, and physical health (Aldao and Nolen-Hoeksema, 2010; Boden et al., 2013; D'Avanzato et al., 2013; Dvorak et al. 2014; Gross, 2002; Gross and John, 2003). Furthermore, there is evidence to suggest that emotion dysregulation plays a significant role in various psychopathologies, such as depression and anxiety (Crowell, et al., 2014; Folk et al. 2014).

1.3.1. Emotion regulation strategies

A fundamental aim of prior research has been to develop a taxonomic system that explains the myriad ways in which emotions can be regulated (Gross, 1998; Koole, 2009; Larsen, 2000; Naragon-Gainey et al., 2017; Webb et al., 2012a). Various models of emotion regulation have been proposed: Some distinguish between implicit and explicit regulatory processes (e.g. Gyurak et al., 2011), others provide a distinction based on the motivationalfunctional dimensions of different emotional processes (e.g. Koole, et al., 2006). In order to highlight the various regulatory strategies by which one can manage their emotions, here I refer to the extended process model of emotion regulation (EPM; Gross, 2015).

The EPM suggests that in order to understand how emotions can be regulated, it is useful to consider how emotions are generated in the first place. According to the EPM, emotion generation is a cybernetic process in

which a situation in the world, once perceived, is evaluated during appraisal processes, leading to various changes in emotional response systems such as facial expressions, autonomic activity, and subjective feelings (fig. 1.2). Emotion regulation begins when a goal to experience a different emotion is activated by a discrepancy between a generated emotion and some desired emotion state. While regulation goals are often hedonic in a proximate sense (e.g. increase immediate pleasure/reduce immediate pain), they can also be considered hedonic in a more ultimate sense (e.g. facilitate relationships with others) (Tamir, 2016; Tamir et al., 2019).

A regulation goal often leads to the selection and implementation of a regulation strategy to attain the desired state. Emotion regulation strategies can broadly be categorized based on which stage of emotion generation they primarily intervene: world, perception, valuation, or response (Gross, 2015). For instance, consider a situation in which one is feeling anxious about an upcoming presentation. To regulate this emotion by intervening in emotion generation at the world stage, one could cancel the upcoming talk (situation selection) or engage in thorough preparation to reduce feelings of anxiety (situation modification). Alternatively, one could intervene at the perception stage by taking one's mind off the situation (attentional deployment). Another option would be to intervene at the valuation stage and change one's appraisals of the situation, for instance by telling oneself that everything will most likely go according to plan, and even in the worst-case scenario, delivering a bad talk would not be the end

of the world (cognitive change). Finally, one could attempt to alter one's actual responses, for example, by attempting to suppress the associated experience/expression of emotion or engaging in deep-breathing to attenuate one's physiological arousal (response modulation).



Fig. 1.2. Schematic of the Extended Process Model of emotion regulation (Gross, 2015). The emotion generation process comprises a situation (world), which once perceived (perception) is subject to evaluative processes (valuation) which determine the emotional response (action). Each stage in this cycle can be targeted by different regulation strategies, thereby altering the emotional response the situation elicits.

While there is some variability in the precise network of brain regions associated with different regulatory strategies, emotion regulation has broadly been shown to involve the recruitment of prefrontal and parietal control regions, which attenuate activity in subcortical structures associated with emotion generation (Banks et al., 2007; Ferri et al., 2013; Goldin et al., 2008; Kalisch, 2009; Urry et al., 2009; Wager et al., 2008). I now discuss in greater detail each strategy described by the EPM, highlighting evidence regarding the underlying processes and neural substrates by which they are mediated, and the typical outcomes they entail. As situation selection/modification strategies are difficult to examine using lab-based approaches, these strategies are not discussed further.

Attentional deployment refers to controlling the way in which attention is allocated to different features of a stimulus/situation in order to alter its emotional impact. This could entail distraction, which involves directing attention away from the emotion-eliciting stimulus in an external (e.g. looking away) or internal (e.g. thinking about something incongruent with the emotional stimulus) manner. In addition to entirely distracting oneself, one may also attend to less emotionally relevant aspects of the situation (Gross and Thompson, 2007; Gross, 1998, 2015). Evidence suggests that people often try to shift their attention away from distressing stimuli (Langens and Morth, 2003), and show different patterns of gaze fixation during regulation relative to control conditions in laboratory tasks (van Reekum et al., 2007). Critically, there is evidence that diverting attention toward non-emotional features is effective in downregulating emotional intensity (Ferri et al., 2013; Nix et al., 1995). Conversely, one's emotional response may be heightened when more emotional features are attended (Ochsner et al., 2004a).

Cognitive change strategies involve modifying the way in which one thinks about the emotion-eliciting stimulus, such that the emotional response it elicits is altered in the desired manner (Gross, 1998, 2002, 2015). The most commonly studied cognitive change strategy is reappraisal, which is often operationalized either as semantic reappraisal or reappraisal via perspective taking (Webb et al., 2012a). Semantic reappraisal refers to a cognitive-linguistic strategy in which the meaning adhered to an emotional stimulus is altered (Goldin et al., 2008; Hajcak and Nieuwenhuis, 2006; Phan et al., 2005). Reappraisal via perspective taking involves adopting the perspective of a detached observer in order to cognitively distance oneself from an emotional stimulus/state, without necessarily changing its meaning (Erk et al., 2010; Koenigsberg et al., 2010; Messina et al., 2015; Webb et al., 2012a).

When participants are instructed to use these forms of reappraisal in laboratory studies, they experience significant reductions in negative emotional experience based on self-report, psychophysiological, and neural measures (Harrison and Chassey, 2019; Jackson et al., 2000; Ray et al., 2010; Shiota and Levenson, 2012; Wallace-Hadrill and Kamboj, 2016; Webb et al., 2012a). Furthermore, the habitual use of reappraisal is associated with various favourable outcomes, such as increased trait positive affect, more effective interpersonal functioning, and increased emotional well-being (Gross, 2002; Gross and John, 2003).

Response modulation strategies act directly upon the emotional response itself. The most commonly studied form of response modulation is expressive suppression (henceforth suppression), which involves efforts to inhibit behaviours associated with the expression of emotion (e.g., facial expressions) (Gross, 1998, 2015). Suppression is broadly considered to be a maladaptive emotion regulation strategy, with evidence that it is associated with increased sympathetic/cardiovascular activity (Gross and Levenson, 1997), increased acoustic startle response (Hagemann et al., 2006), and sustained activations in the amygdala and insula (Goldin et al., 2008). While some studies have found evidence of reduced self-reported negative emotion during suppression, this could be due to the redirection of attention necessary to control one's facial muscles, which may inherently reduce attentional resources allocated to the emotional stimulus/experience (Goldin et al., 2008).

In sum, emotion regulation comprises various strategies that enable the individual to manage their emotional responses by targeting different stages of the emotion generation process. As highlighted above, different regulation strategies vary in their short-term efficacy in modulating emotion; importantly, they may also differ in terms of their longer-term consequences (Gross, 1998, 2002, 2015; Koole, 2009; Tamir, 2009, 2011). Consider again the example of feeling anxious about an upcoming presentation. Efforts to distract oneself from the situation (i.e. attentional

deployment) may reduce feelings of anxiety in the short-term, but at the expense of long-term emotional adaptation (Kross and Ayduk, 2008; Paul et al., 2016; Uusberg et al., 2016). While trying to think differently about the situation (i.e. reappraisal) may be somewhat less effective than distraction in its short-term influence on the emotion state, this strategy may facilitate long-term adaptation, enabling the individual to more effectively deal with the affective impact of similar situations in the future (MacNamara et al., 2011).

While the primary focus of the EPM is upon the different regulatory strategies by which one can control their emotions, the model also highlights a broader repertoire of abilities necessary for effective emotion regulation. In addition to one's capacity to implement a given regulatory strategy, effective emotion regulation is reliant upon the ability to be aware of one's emotions and to select a regulatory strategy appropriate to a given emotional experience and context (Gross, 2015; Sheppes et al., 2015). This assertion is broadly aligned with other models of emotion regulation, which suggest that to adequately capture the complexity of the construct, one should take into account a range of abilities, such as: 1) awareness/clarity regarding one's emotional experiences, 2) the capacity to select and implement appropriate regulation strategies to manage emotions across diverse contexts, and 3) the ability to monitor the extent to which regulatory efforts are successful in generating the desired modulation of
emotion (Bonanno and Burton, 2013; Gratz and Roemer, 2004; Koole et al., 2015).

1.3.2. Explicit and implicit emotion regulation

A further distinction between different regulatory processes is the extent to which they are reliant upon conscious effortful implementation. Dual process models are common within human psychology and typically distinguish between *implicit* and *explicit* processes (Bargh and Gollwitzer, 1994). With regards to emotion regulation, explicit refers to the modulation of emotion by processes reliant upon conscious effortful implementation and monitoring; implicit refers to processes that are enacted in a relatively automatic manner and can exert their modulatory effect on emotion without the need for effortful cognition or conscious awareness (DeWall et al., 2011; Gyurak et al., 2011; Mauss et al., 2007).

As most definitions of emotion regulation emphasise "control" over one's emotional experience, it is relatively unsurprising that the term is most commonly used to refer to more deliberate effortful processes. Indeed, many processes associated with emotion regulation are closely aligned with this definition and involve conscious and deliberate efforts to control the frequency, intensity, and type of emotion (Gross, 1998, 2015). However, given the frequent need for emotion regulation in day-to-day life, the effortful nature of more explicit regulatory processes can place significant demands on vital and limited cognitive resources; thus, their

implementation may not always be possible. Other work highlights the crucial role of implicit processes, which may mediate to a large extent emotion regulation in day-to-day-life (Conner and Barrett, 2005; Greenwald and Banaji, 1995; Gyurak et al., 2011; Hetts et al., 1999; Mauss et al., 2007). Some have referred to implicit emotion regulation abilities as reflecting an "invisible shield", which can provide a buffer against the potential negative effects of emotions and facilitate improved mental health and emotional wellbeing (Bargh and Williams, 2006; DeWall et al., 2011; Gilbert et al., 1998; Koole et al., 2015; Mauss et al., 2007).

While a categorical "all or nothing" approach to distinguishing between implicit and explicit regulatory processes has a certain intuitive appeal, recent theoretical work suggests a more nuanced conceptualisation. Such work asserts that adaptive emotion regulation involves the dynamic interplay between implicit and explicit regulatory processes (Koole et al., 2015). As an example of the "porous" boundaries between implicit and explicit regulatory processes, the extent to which initially demanding regulation strategies are reliant upon effortful control can diminish over time and habitual use (Drabant et al., 2009; Gyurak et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2015). In addition to the automatic implementation of regulatory strategies, implicit emotion regulation also encompasses other processes that may occur at the earliest stages of response to an emotional stimulus. For example, the capacity to maintain goal-directed behaviours and inhibit the distraction that irrelevant emotional stimuli/experiences can entail

(Tottenham et al., 2011), and the ability to implicitly monitor one's emotional experience and adopt appropriate goals that motivate regulatory intervention (Koole et al., 2015).

1.3.3. Distinction between emotion generation and emotion regulation

While research on emotion regulation has seen a dramatic increase over the past few decades, an ongoing debate persists regarding the extent to which emotion regulation can be meaningfully distinguished from emotion generation (Gross and Feldman-Barrett, 2011). A simple distinction between these constructs asserts that emotion generation comprises the processes through which an emotion is elicited, and emotion regulation refers to the processes that serve to modify these emotion-generative processes (Gross et al., 2011). However, this distinction may not be so clear-cut as evidence suggests overlap in the processes and neural substrates of emotion generation and regulation (Ochsner et al., 2009), leading some to assert that a clear distinction between these constructs is not possible (Kappas, 2011).

In the context of this thesis, I argue that distinguishing emotion regulation from emotion generation at a conceptual level serves a useful function so long as certain caveats are taken into account. A primary concern associated with distinguishing these sets of processes relates to the temporal sequence that such a distinction can imply (Gross et al., 2011). Given the aforementioned definition of emotion generation and regulation,

it may be intuitive to infer that emotion generation processes unfold prior to the regulatory processes that can act upon them. While this may indeed be the case in many situations, there may also be instances in which regulatory processes occur alongside, or even precede, emotion generative processes (see reviews by Gross and Feldman-Barret, 2011; Gross et al., 2011).

In sum, this thesis adopts a definition of emotion regulation similar to that asserted by Gross and colleagues (e.g. Gross, 2015; Gross et al., 2011), referring to processes that can act upon and alter the processes that constitute emotion generation. Critically, I assert that regulatory processes need not necessarily occur after emotion generation, and that the two sets of processes can at times occur in parallel. While I do refer to emotion regulation as a distinct construct, I acknowledge the close relationship between these processes and those associated with emotion generation and recognise that it can often be difficult to disambiguate the unique influence that each may have on the trajectory of one's emotional response in a given situation. Given that regulatory processes may exert an influence at the earliest stages, and often without awareness or intent (Gyurak et al., 2011; Mauss et al., 2007), it is likely that an individual's emotional reactivity (i.e. the intensity with which they are prone to experience emotions) can be a reflection of both emotion generative and regulatory processes.

1.4. Relationship between empathy and emotion regulation

In this section I discuss relevant literature regarding the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation and highlight current gaps in our knowledge that this thesis seeks to address. A close relationship between empathy and emotion regulation has been proposed by previous theoretical accounts (e.g. Decety, 2010; Zaki, 2014), and there is strong overlap in the neural implementation and component processes associated with these constructs. For instance, the processes and neural substrates of reappraisal show significant overlap with those involved in the cognitive component of empathy (Kalisch, 2009; Mcrae et al., 2010; Ozonoff and McEvoy, 1994; Ozonoff et al., 1991; Sabbagh et al., 2006; Urry et al., 2009). Such work is suggestive of a relationship between empathy and emotion regulation.

In their discussion of the association between empathy and emotion regulation, Schipper and Petermann (2013) suggest that the relationship between these two abilities is bi-directional. They posit that not only can regulatory processes influence one's capacity to understand and share others' emotions, but that empathic processes can influence one's capacity for adaptive emotion regulation. Consistent with such theoretical work, this thesis asserts that the processes that underlie empathy and emotion regulation are closely related and seeks to test empirically the association between the various component processes that these complex multidimensional constructs comprise.

Of the handful of previous studies that have explored the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation, most have focused upon the moderating effect of emotion regulation on the association between affective empathy and different empathic outcomes (e.g. sympathy and personal distress; Okun et al., 2000), and prosocial behaviours (Lockwood et al., 2014). The key assertion of such work is that an optimal level of emotion regulation enables the observer to resonate with the negative emotions of others while maintaining arousal at a level where the observer does not become overly distressed by the other's state. The focus of this thesis is not upon how emotion regulation relates to different outcomes of empathy per se, but rather how the different cognitive and affective component processes associated with empathy are related to different emotion regulation abilities.

While not their primary focus, the aforementioned research examining the impact of emotion regulation on different empathic outcomes provides some evidence suggestive of a direct relationship between empathy and emotion regulation. For example, self-report measures of one's capacity to understand others' emotional states are positively related to the habitual use of reappraisal (Lockwood et al., 2014; Powell, 2018; Tully et al., 2016). Similarly, the self-reported capacity to take the perspective of others is negatively related to dispositional measures of emotion dysregulation (Contardi et al., 2016; Eisenberg and Okun, 1996; Okun et al., 2000). While relatively little work has directly examined the relationship between

cognitive/affective empathy and emotion regulation, some clues as to the nature of their potential relationship can be found through examination of prior work that has studied these two constructs in isolation.

1.4.1. Evidence from atypical populations

Findings from studies of atypical populations provide evidence of shared deficits in emotion regulation and empathy in certain psychopathologies. Relative to typical controls, individuals with autism spectrum conditions (ASC) exhibit poor performance on measures of ToM/cognitive empathy, and also report higher levels of emotion dysregulation (Konstantareas and Stewart, 2006). ASC individuals also report greater use of maladaptive regulation strategies, such as suppression, and less frequent use of adaptive strategies, such as reappraisal (Samson et al., 2012). Borderline personality disorder (BPD) is a condition characterised by difficulties regulating emotions and is often associated with atypically high levels of affective empathy (Fertuck et al., 2006; Lang et al., 2012). Such findings suggest that the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy may share different relationships with emotion regulation.

1.4.2. Social appraisals and emotion generation/regulation

Our emotions are often influenced by those around us; regulating the emotional state elicited by another's actions can at times necessitate being able to take their perspective in order to understand the motivations and intentions underlying their behaviours. Think for instance of an occasion in

which someone's behaviour has angered you. Component processes related to cognitive empathy may facilitate being able to put yourself in their perspective and infer that their behaviour was justified and that the negative response they evoked in you was not the other's intention. As this example highlights, empathic processes could facilitate emotion regulation in situations where one's emotional response was triggered by another individual. Empathic processes might also influence emotion generative and regulatory processes in instances where another individual was not the trigger for one's emotion.

Building upon prior work on appraisal theory, Manstead and Fischer (2001) proposed that in a given situation the object of one's appraisals are not simply the "event" itself, but that the behaviours and emotional responses of other individuals present in that situation may also be appraised, and thus, influence the individual's emotional response. To illustrate this point, consider an example of a nervous flyer who becomes anxious during a bout of turbulence. While their appraisal of the event itself may induce strong anxiety and fear, this experience may be attenuated by evidence that other passengers and the flight crew are clearly not concerned by the situation. The authors refer to these appraisals of others' emotional responses to an event as social appraisals (Manstead and Fischer, 2001).

Social appraisals are likely dependent upon one's ability to attend and accurately interpret relevant cues pertaining to others' emotions, which are

mediated by various empathic processes. Thus, it stands to reason that an individual's propensity and ability to engage empathic processes may play an important role in determining their emotional responses. Critically, given the close relationship between appraisal and reappraisal processes (which are typically differentiated only by the point in time at which they occur; Uusberg et al., 2019), the work discussed above suggests that one's ability to understand others' emotional experiences may influence their own regulatory, as well as emotion generative processes.

1.4.3. Overlap in cognitive control processes and neural substrates

Further evidence of a close association between empathy and emotion regulation comes from research that has highlighted partial overlap in the neural networks and cognitive control processes that underlie key component processes associated with these constructs. The term cognitive control (often executive function) refers to a range of processes that govern high-level control of action and facilitate abilities such as planning and attentional flexibility. While the different sub-components of cognitive control have been defined in various ways, key processes commonly referred to are: working memory, inhibition, and set-shifting (Miyake et al., 2000).

There is evidence to suggest that similar cognitive control processes play a critical role in both empathy and emotion regulation. Firstly, cognitive empathic abilities and emotion/self-regulation show similar developmental

trajectories and are related to the development of general cognitive control functions (Carlson et al., 2004; Joseph and Tager-Flusberg, 2004; McRae et al., 2012; Wade et al., 2018). Further, there is evidence that different processes related to cognitive empathy and emotion regulation rely to varying degrees upon set-shifting, working memory, and inhibitory control (Austin et al., 2014; Gokcen et al., 2016; Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016; Mcrae et al., 2013), and are associated with overlapping activation in regions of the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Happé et al., 1996; Kalisch, 2009; Leopold et al., 2012; Mcrae et al., 2010; Ochsner and Gross, 2005; Ozonoff et al., 1991; Ozonoff and McEvoy, 1994; Sabbagh et al., 2006).

The ability to attribute an emotional/mental state to another individual requires various cognitive control processes, which facilitate the necessary coordination of self and other representations (Carlson et al., 2004; Carlson and Moses, 2001; Decety and Sommerville, 2003; Flynn, 2007; Hansen, 2011; Hughes and Ensor, 2007; Perner and Lang, 1999). Prior work provides evidence suggestive of a close relationship between cognitive control abilities and cognitive empathy/ToM (Austin et al., 2014; Gokcen et al., 2016; Hughes and Ensor, 2007; Marcovitch et al., 2015; Mutter et al., 2006). Further support for the role of cognitive control processes in understanding others' emotional/mental states comes from studies demonstrating that increased cognitive load can result in decreased performance on ToM/cognitive empathy tasks (Bull et al., 2008; McKinnon and Moscovitch, 2007).

Similar cognitive control processes to those associated with the cognitive component of empathy have also been implicated in emotion regulation, where they underlie the ability to regulate affect and exert control over one's behaviours (Rothbart and Rueda, 2005). While there are conflicting findings regarding the precise sub-components of cognitive control with which they are related, there is evidence to suggest that emotion regulation processes are dependent upon various cognitive control abilities (Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016; Salas et al., 2014; Schmeichel and Demaree, 2010; Schmeichel et al., 2008).

Neuroimaging studies broadly suggest that emotion regulation is associated with a dynamic interaction between cognitive control regions of the PFC/parietal cortex and subcortical regions associated with emotion generation. Specifically, it has been demonstrated that activity in these control regions of the PFC inhibits activations in emotion generation regions, such as the amygdala and insula (Banks et al., 2007; Drabant et al., 2009; Goldin et al., 2008; Ochsner et al., 2012; Urry et al., 2009; Wager et al., 2008).

In addition to being associated with the recruitment of similar domaingeneral cognitive control processes, there is considerable overlap in the way in which certain empathic and regulatory processes are conceptualised. For example, reappraisal via perspective-taking or

cognitive-distancing (henceforth, distancing) (Messina et al., 2015; Webb et al., 2012a) involves taking a detached perspective from one's immediate egocentric experience (Cocking and Renninger, 1993; Ochsner, et al. 2004; Trope and Liberman, 2010). Distancing is conceptually similar to perspective-taking in that both involve a shift in perspective.

Consequently, one could argue that a greater ability to switch between self and other perspectives (a component process of cognitive empathy) might support the ability to regulate one's emotions using cognitive-distancing strategies. The capacity to adopt a more distanced perspective may also enable greater self-reflection, thereby facilitating other regulatory processes, such as the selection of appropriate strategies and the ability to generate alternative appraisals of a situation that might serve to modify one's emotional experience (Davis et al., 2011; Gruber et al., 2009; Katzir and Eyal, 2013; Kross and Ayduk, 2011; Ochsner and Gross, 2008; Wallace-Hadrill and Kamboj, 2016; Wisco and Nolen-Hoeksema, 2011).

In light of the findings discussed above, it is reasonable to infer that higher levels of cognitive empathy would be associated with improved emotion regulation abilities; this may be particularly true for more cognitively demanding regulatory processes. While cognitive empathic abilities may support emotion regulation, as I now discuss, the opposite could be true of affective empathy.

Individuals with greater affective empathy exhibit increased facial mimicry responses to others' emotions (Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002), which in turn have been shown to relate to increased self-reported resonance with the mimicked emotion (Hatfield et al., 1993; Laird et al. 1994; Wild et al., 2001). Furthermore, there is some evidence to suggest that greater affective empathy may be associated with increased emotional reactivity in a more general sense (Rueckert et al., 2011). Given that emotional stimuli/experiences can have a deleterious effect on the efficiency of cognitive control processes (Tottenham et al., 2011), the increased emotional reactivity associated with higher levels of affective empathy could interfere with one's ability to engage the often demanding processes necessary for emotion regulation. Therefore, in contrast to cognitive empathy, it is possible that greater affective empathy would be associated with a diminished ability to utilise more cognitively demanding regulatory strategies.

1.4.4. Emotional awareness and understanding

In addition to the overlap in the processes and neural substrates by which they are mediated, there is reason to infer that empathy and emotion regulation may be related in other ways. For instance, empathy not only enables one to understand the emotional states of others but may also support the capacity to be aware of and understand one's own emotional experiences. Many authors posit that self-understanding is a critical component of socio-cognitive abilities such as cognitive empathy/ToM

(Hobson, 2010; Frith and Frith, 2003). Indeed, a recent study found evidence to suggest that individuals who are better at differentiating their own negative emotional states, were also more accurate in recognising the emotional expressions of others (Israelashvili et al., 2019).

An awareness and understanding of one's own emotions is a fundamental prerequisite for adaptive emotion regulation: In order to effectively influence our emotional experiences, we must first of all recognise what we are feeling and why (van Rijn et al., 2011; Subic-Wrana et al., 2014). Indeed, it has been shown that greater clarity with regards to one's own emotions is associated with the use of more adaptive emotion regulation strategies (Gohm and Clore, 2002) and a greater ability to implement reappraisal (Fustos et al., 2013). Furthermore, the capacity to detect and understand the somatic experiences associated with emotion (i.e. interoceptive awareness) may support regulatory processes in various ways. For example, improved interoceptive awareness can enable the detection of emotional responses at an early stage, which may support the generation of appropriate regulatory processes prior to the emergence of a full blown emotional response (Craig, 2008; Fustos et al., 2013; Gross, 2015).

In sum, it is possible that the improved awareness and understanding of one's own emotions, associated with higher levels of empathy, could facilitate the ability to regulate one's emotions effectively. By the same logic, low levels of empathy could entail difficulties with emotional awareness/clarity, which might serve as a trigger for maladaptive emotion regulation (Schipper and Petermann, 2013).

1.5. Summary, aims, and hypotheses

In this chapter, I have discussed background literature relevant to the studies reported in this thesis. In the first section, I described the different component processes of empathy, with a focus upon the distinction between the cognitive and affective components that support the capacity to understand and/or resonate with another individual's emotions. I then provided a broad overview of emotion regulation, focusing upon models that distinguish between different regulatory processes based upon 1) the point within the emotion generation process at which they intervene, and 2) the extent to which they are reliant upon conscious, effortful implementation and monitoring. In the final section, I discussed extant theoretical and empirical work that provides some insight into the potential nature of the relationship between these constructs.

In sum, there is evidence suggestive of a close bidirectional relationship between empathy and emotion regulation; however, to date there has been little systematic study of how the distinct cognitive and affective components of empathy relate to different emotion regulation processes. Additionally, of the handful of studies that have explored this relationship, most have relied solely upon self-report measures of both constructs.

While self-report questionnaires represent a useful source of information, empathy and emotion regulation are complex multidimensional constructs and a sole focus upon respondents' self-perceptions of these abilities may be insufficient to fully capture their true complexity.

Various studies provide evidence of divergence between trait and task measures of empathy (e.g. Devlin et al., 2014; Melchers et al., 2015; Michalska et al., 2013), which suggests that these different approaches may not assess the same underlying constructs. A fundamental distinction between trait and task measures is their focus upon respondents' selfperceived abilities (trait) versus their actual abilities (task), which may not necessarily show strong convergence. While task measures can provide a more objective index of one's ability, trait measures may be more susceptible to response biases, such as overestimation of one's abilities and/or socially desirable responding (Gerdes et al., 2010; Moskowitz, 1986; Paulhus, 1991). Furthermore, trait measures reflect respondents' dispositional behaviours and experiences, which are likely to be relatively stable over time. In contrast, task measures typically assess more shortterm "state-level" responses, which may be more susceptible to contextual variability (Gross and John, 2003; Nezlek et al., 2007).

A further important distinction between trait and task measures of empathy and emotion regulation is the extent to which they index one's ability or propensity to engage these processes. Empathizing with another's emotion can come with certain emotional and cognitive costs, and one may often be motivated to avoid engaging empathic processes (Cameron et al., 2019; see Cameron et al., 2018 and Zaki, 2014 for reviews). Thus, it is not only one's ability to attend to another's emotion cues, mimic/resonate with their experience, and/or place oneself in their perspective that is important, but also one's motivation to engage these processes (Gehlbach, 2004; Keysers and Gazzola 2014).

In light of the above considerations, this thesis utilised a combination of trait and task measures of empathy and emotion regulation. This approach enables a more holistic examination of the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation, capturing aspects related to participants' self-perceived and actual ability to implement these processes, as well as their dispositional propensity to do so (Kagan, 2007; Russell-Smith et al., 2013; Moskowitz, 1986).

This thesis addresses current gaps in the literature by testing the hypothesis that individual differences in empathy are associated with variability in emotion regulation abilities. Across five empirical chapters, the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation is examined using a range of questionnaires and tasks, incorporating self-report, behavioural, eye-tracking, and psychophysiology measures. Based on the evidence discussed in this chapter, it was predicted that different component processes associated with empathy would be differentially related to

different components of emotion regulation. Broadly speaking, I predicted that emotion regulation abilities would be positively related to cognitive empathy but negatively related to affective empathy.

Each chapter begins with a brief review of the relevant literature, on which the specific hypotheses for the reported studies were based. I begin by exploring the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation using self-report (trait) measures of both constructs (chapter 2). I then build upon these findings by testing these same relationships using more objective task measures of component processes of cognitive and affective empathy (chapter 3). In subsequent chapters, I test the relationship between trait empathy and task measures of different emotion regulation abilities (chapters 4, 5, 6). An overview of the key focus of each empirical chapter is provided in table 1.1.

	Empathy Measure	ER Measure	Aims
Ch2	Trait (QCAE)	Trait (ERQ; habitual strategy use) Trait (DERS; difficulties with emotion regulation)	Examine the relationship between cognitive/affective empathy and self- reported emotion dysregulation and the habitual use of reappraisal and suppression
Ch3	Task (SFM; affective empathy) Task (DT; cognitive empathy) Task (RMET; cognitive empathy)	Trait (ERQ; habitual strategy use) Trait (DERS; difficulties with emotion regulation)	Examine the relationship between task measures of cognitive/affective empathy and self- reported emotion dysregulation and the habitual use of reappraisal and suppression
Ch4	Trait (QCAE)	Task (Emo-Go/NoGo) Task (Emo-Stroop)	Examine the relationship between trait empathy and task measures of implicit emotion regulation
Ch5	Trait (QCAE)	Task (Implicit reappraisal) Task (Explicit reappraisal)	Examine the relationship between trait empathy and task measures of reappraisal
Ch6	Trait (QCAE) Task (SFM; affective empathy) Task (DT; cognitive empathy)	Task (Spontaneous recovery) Task (Instructed regulation)	Examine the relationship between trait and task measures of cognitive/affective empathy and task measures of spontaneous emotional recovery and instructed emotion regulation

Table 1.1. Summary overview of empirical chapters in this thesis

QCAE: questionnaire of cognitive and affective empathy

ERQ: emotion regulation questionnaire

DERS: difficulties in emotion regulation scale

SFM: spontaneous facial mimicry (associated with affective empathy)

DT: director task (associated with cognitive empathy)

RMET: reading the mind in the eyes test (associated with cognitive empathy)

Chapter 2

Trait measures of empathy and emotion regulation

2.1. Introduction

It is thought that the individual in possession of the traits under investigation should be best placed to provide the most accurate information regarding their own thoughts, experiences, and behaviours (Kagan, 2007; McCrae and Costa, 1999; Paulhus and Vazire, 2007). Accordingly, self-report questionnaires are one of the predominant methods used to assess variability in personality constructs such as empathy (Robins et al., 2007). While performance-based tasks can provide more objective measures, the link between a given trait and a specific behaviour may not always be direct and some aspects of a construct may be most amenable to measurement via self-report (Furr and Funder, 2007).

This chapter reports two studies that tested the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation using trait measures of both constructs. Study (1), examines how trait cognitive and affective empathy are associated with the habitual use of an adaptive and maladaptive regulation strategy; study (2) examines the relationship between trait empathy and difficulties with various aspects of emotion regulation.

2.1.1. Trait measures of empathy

With reference to the conceptualisation of empathy discussed in the introductory chapter, trait empathy can be viewed as reflecting an individual's perceived *ability* and *motivation* to engage different empathic processes (Gehlbach, 2004; Keysers and Gazzola, 2014). Various

questionnaire measures have been developed to assess different components of empathy; as their development was often based upon slightly different conceptualisations of empathy there is some variability in the precise facets they assess (Reniers et al., 2011). Some trait measures, such as the Hogan Empathy Scales (HES; Hogan, 1969) and Empathy Quotient (EQ; Baron-Cohen and Wheelwright, 2004) give greater prominence to the cognitive dimension of empathy, whereas others, such as the Questionnaire Measure of Emotional Empathy (QMEE; Mehrabian and Epstein, 1972), focus upon the affective dimension. Given the multidimensional nature of empathy, trait measures that enable the assessment of the affective and cognitive dimensions as related but dissociable constructs may provide the most useful insight into how different components of empathy relate to emotion regulation.

The Questionnaire of Cognitive and Affective Empathy (QCAE; Reniers et al., 2011) is a more recent multidimensional trait measure of empathy. The QCAE measures the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy with improved precision over previous multidimensional measures (e.g. the Interpersonal Reactivity Index, Davis, 1983), which often conflated these facets of empathy with more general abilities and/or constructs that should be considered distinct from empathy, such as sympathy and personal distress (Baron-Cohen and Wheelwright, 2004; Jolliffe and Farrington, 2006; Lawrence et al., 2004; Reniers et al., 2011).

2.1.2. Trait measures of emotion regulation

While task-based measures of emotion regulation are useful for understanding the short-term effects of different regulatory strategies, their focus upon the relatively immediate consequences make them less helpful for understanding how individuals regulate their emotions in daily life (Gross and John, 2003). Task measures of emotion regulation are discussed further in later chapters (chapters 4, 5, and 6); the focus of this chapter is upon self-report measures that assess respondents' dispositional regulatory behaviours and experiences.

The Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ; Gross and John, 2003) measures the extent to which respondents habitually use reappraisal and suppression strategies day-to-day. A key benefit of the ERQ is that it captures the use of both an adaptive antecedent-focused strategy and a maladaptive response-focused regulation strategy (reappraisal and suppression, respectively). Prior work has demonstrated significant individual differences in the propensity to use these two strategies, which are associated with dramatically different consequences in terms of both their short-term efficacy and relationship with social functioning and emotional wellbeing (Cutuli, 2014; Gross and John, 2003; John and Gross, 2004).

Useful insight can be obtained through understanding the strategies individuals typically use to regulate their emotions; however, a sole focus

upon habitual strategy use may overlook other abilities crucial for effective emotion regulation (Greenberg et al., 2017; Gross, 2015; Kaufman et al., 2016). The Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS; Gratz and Roemer, 2004) adopts a broader perspective, measuring respondents' experiences of difficulties with various aspects of emotion regulation. While initially developed to examine emotion dysregulation in clinical populations, the DERS has proven effective for use in typical adult populations (Kaufman et al., 2016).

2.1.3. The current studies

This chapter examines how trait cognitive and affective empathy are related to the self-reported use of reappraisal and suppression (study 1), and self-reported experiences of emotion dysregulation (study 2). Prior to presenting the hypotheses of these studies, I provide a brief discussion of evidence regarding the potential relationships that trait cognitive and affective empathy may share with these measures of emotion regulation.

The tendency to automatically mimic the emotional facial expressions of those around us reflects a fundamental mechanism through which resonance with others' emotions is elicited (Chartrand and Dalton, 2008; de Waal and Preston, 2017; Hatfield et al., 1993; Preston and de Waal 2002). Given that suppression involves attempts to manage one's emotions by inhibiting their expression (Gross, 2015), a tendency to use this strategy could interfere with mimicry/embodiment processes, thereby diminishing

the extent to which the individual resonates with others' emotional experiences. Mimicry/embodiment of another's emotions can also support the capacity to understand their emotional experiences as the somatic state they evoke may provide useful information that one can draw upon in order to make inferences about what the other is feeling (Chartrand and Bargh, 1999; Hatfield et al., 1993; Preston and de Waal, 2002). Additionally, given evidence to suggest that suppression may diminish the availability of cognitive resources (Wang et al., 2014) it is possible that individuals who regularly use this strategy will be less able to engage the cognitive control processes necessary for representing and understanding others' emotions. In light of the above evidence, it was predicted that both dimensions of empathy would show a negative relationship with the habitual use of suppression.

Reappraisal reflects an effortful regulatory strategy, reliant upon various facets of cognitive control mediated by the PFC (Buhle et al., 2014; Messina et al., 2015; Webb et al., 2012a). Similar brain regions and cognitive control processes are associated with the cognitive component of empathy, where they mediate the ability to coordinate the coactive self and other representations in service of perspective taking and mental state attribution (Carlson et al., 2004; Dennis et al., 2009; Goel et al., 1995; Gokcen et al., 2017; Hansen, 2011; Saxe et al., 2004). Given this overlap, it is possible that higher cognitive empathy is associated with greater efficiency of the processes that support reappraisal.

Moreover, our emotions are often influenced by those around us; regulating how we feel in response to another's actions can at times necessitate being able to take their perspective in order to understand the motivations and intentions that underlie their behaviours. Given that reappraisal may often directly rely upon cognitive empathic processes it is possible that those with higher trait cognitive empathy will show an increased ability, and thus, propensity to use reappraisal in day-to-day life. Indeed, one prior study has reported a positive relationship between trait cognitive empathy and reappraisal use (Lockwood et al., 2014).

Given the potentially deleterious effect of emotional arousal on the cognitive control processes (Hare et al., 2005, 2008; Tottenham et al., 2011), the increased emotional reactivity associated with higher levels of affective empathy (Rueckert et al., 2011; Sato et al., 2013) could impede one's ability to utilise more cognitively demanding strategies such as reappraisal. Consequently, it was predicted that higher trait affective empathy would be associated with a reduced propensity to use reappraisal. While Lockwood et al. (2014) found no evidence of a relationship between affective empathy and reappraisal, the sample size in this study may have lacked the power to detect effects of a smaller magnitude.

A divergence between the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy might also be expected for other components of emotion regulation,

particularly those that are reliant upon cognitive control processes, such as the ability to control emotional impulses and maintain a focus upon goaloriented behaviours in emotional situations. Based on the evidence previously discussed, it was predicted that trait emotion dysregulation would show a negative relationship with cognitive empathy but would be positively related to affective empathy. A summary of the hypotheses for the two studies reported in this chapter is presented below.

- Higher cognitive empathy will be associated with greater use of reappraisal, lower use of suppression, and lower levels of emotion dysregulation.
- Higher affective empathy will be associated with lower use of reappraisal and suppression, and higher levels of emotion dysregulation.

2.2. Trait empathy and the use of reappraisal and suppression

2.2.1. Methods

2.2.1.1. Participants

An a priori sample size estimation was conducted using G*Power 3.1. (Faul et al., 2007). Based on a small to moderate correlation between reappraisal use and trait cognitive empathy reported by Lockwood et al. (2014), a minimum sample size of 67 was required to obtain power of .80 at an alpha level of p = .05. For reasons of convenience, data were collected from both

the UK and Denmark, with the goal of collecting two subsamples of approximately 100 participants. While no specific differences across these two subsamples were predicted, the data from each sample was analysed to examine the consistency of the observed results.

In total, 220 participants (161 female) were recruited from in and around the campuses of the University of Reading, UK (N = 94) and Aarhus University, Denmark (N = 126), using the online research panel and campus-based advertisements. All questionnaires were completed online in English and participants were reimbursed in the form of course credits or enrolment in a lottery to win free cinema tickets. The mean age of the overall sample was 21.96 (SD = 5.67). Ethical approval was obtained from the research ethics committees of the Universities of Reading and Aarhus, and informed consent was provided by all participants.

2.2.1.2. Materials

Empathy. Trait empathy was measured using the Questionnaire of Cognitive and Affective Empathy (QCAE; Reniers et al., 2011). The QCAE is a 31-item self-report questionnaire assessing respondents' capacity to understand and resonate with the emotions of others. It comprises five subscales which track onto the two core dimensions of empathy (cognitive and affective). The cognitive empathy dimension assesses one's propensity to take another's perspective and accurately infer their state (e.g. "When I am upset at someone, I usually try to 'put myself in his shoes' for a while", "I

can sense if I am intruding, even if the other person does not tell me"). The affective empathy dimension comprises items assessing respondents' tendency to resonate with others' emotions (e.g. "I am happy when I am with a cheerful group and sad when the others are glum", "It affects me very much when one of my friends seems upset").

Participants rated their response to each item using a 4-point scale, ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree"; higher values reflect greater levels of trait empathy. Cronbach's alpha within the total (N = 220) sample was high for both QCAE dimensions ($\alpha_{Cognitive empathy} = .90$; $\alpha_{Affective}$ empathy = .84). Cronbach's alpha was consistently high within the UK (N = 94, $\alpha_{Cognitive empathy} = .90$; $\alpha_{Affective empathy} = .84$) and Denmark (N = 126, $\alpha_{Cognitive}$ empathy = .90; $\alpha_{Affective empathy} = .84$) subsamples. Details of each QCAE item and scale coding are provided in appendix A.

Reappraisal & suppression use. Reappraisal and suppression use were measured using the Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ; Gross and John, 2003). The ERQ is a 10-item questionnaire measuring respondents' habitual propensity to use reappraisal and suppression. Each item is rated using a 7-point scale, ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree"; higher values reflect greater habitual use of each strategy. Cronbach's alpha for the reappraisal and suppression subscales were acceptable within the total (N = 220) sample, $\alpha_{\text{Reappraisal}} = .85$; $\alpha_{\text{Suppression}} = .77$); similar alpha levels were observed within each sub sample: UK (N = 94, $\alpha_{\text{Reappraisal}} = .80$;

 $\alpha_{\text{Suppression}} = .76$), Denmark (N = 126, $\alpha_{\text{Reappraisal}} = .86$; $\alpha_{\text{Suppression}} = .78$). Details of each ERQ item and scale coding are provided in appendix B.

2.2.1.3. Data Reduction & Analyses

The relationship between trait empathy and regulation strategy use was examined using bivariate correlations. Normality of each variable was assessed using Kolmogorov Smirnov tests. Accordingly, Spearman's rho is reported for correlations where any variable distribution showed significant deviation from normality. All correlations are reported as two-tailed, with a significance threshold of p < .05. To ensure that the observed results were not unduly influenced by a small number of outlier cases, the same analyses reported in this results section were also conducted following the removal of univariate and bivariate outlier cases (see appendix D).

2.2.2. Results

Trait empathy and reappraisal use

Cognitive empathy was significantly positively correlated with the use of reappraisal, rho(218) = .25, p < .001. There was no relationship between affective empathy and reappraisal use, rho(218) = .05, p = .42. These two correlations were significantly different, Steiger's Z = 2.42, p = .02 (see fig. 2.1). A consistent pattern of results was observed within both subsamples: UK (CE-reappraisal, rho(92) = .29, p = .004, AE-reappraisal, rho(92) = .02, p = .88); Denmark (CE-reappraisal, rho(124) = .21, p = .02; AE-reappraisal, rho(124) = .09, p = .34).



Fig. 2.1. Scatterplot showing the relationship between reappraisal use (ERQ) and Z-transformed cognitive/affective empathy (QCAE). Cognitive empathy (blue) showed a positive correlation with reappraisal use; affective empathy (red) showed no relationship with reappraisal use.

Trait empathy and suppression use

Trait cognitive and affective empathy both showed significant negative correlations with the habitual use of suppression (rho(218) = -.16, p = .02; rho(218) = -.26, p < .001, respectively). These correlations were not significantly different, Steiger's Z = 1.27, p = .20 (fig. 2.2). While the correlation between cognitive empathy and suppression did not reach significance in the UK sample, the pattern of results across both subsamples were broadly consistent: UK (CE-suppression, rho(92) = -.11, p =.30; AE-suppression rho(92) = -.29, p = .005); Denmark (CE-suppression rho(124) = -.21, p = .02, AE-suppression rho(124) = -.23, p = .008).



Fig. 2.2. Scatterplot showing the relationship between suppression use (ERQ) and Z-transformed trait cognitive/affective empathy (QCAE). Cognitive empathy (blue) and affective empathy (red) were both negatively correlated with suppression use.

2.3. Trait empathy and emotion dysregulation

2.3.1. Methods

2.3.1.1. Participants

A sample of 137 participants (101 female) was recruited from the University of Reading campus. The mean age of the sample was 20.26 years (SD = 3.01). Recruitment was via the university online research panel and all participants were awarded course credit for participation. Questionnaires were completed online. Ethical approval was obtained from the University of Reading research ethics committee.

2.3.1.2. Materials

Empathy. Trait empathy was measured using the QCAE (Reniers et al., 2011) (see section 2.1.3. for details). Cronbach's alpha was high for both empathy dimensions ($\alpha_{\text{Cognitive Empathy}} = .88$; $\alpha_{\text{Affective Empathy}} = .82$).

Emotion dysregulation. Trait emotion dysregulation was measured using the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation-short form (DERS-SF; Kaufman et al., 2016). The DERS-SF (henceforth, DERS) is an 18-item questionnaire assessing difficulties in six aspects of emotion regulation: 1) awareness of emotions (awareness), 2) clarity/understanding of emotions (clarity), 3) acceptance of emotions (non-acceptance), 4) capacity to maintain goaldirected behaviours in emotional situations (goals), 5) control over emotional impulses (impulse), and 6) ability to effectively manage one's emotional responses (strategies). Participants reported the extent to which they experience difficulties in these aspects of emotion regulation using a 5-point Likert scale, where 1 = almost never (0-10% of the time) and 5 =almost always (91-100% of the time); higher ratings reflect increased emotion dysregulation. The ratings of the six subscales are summed to provide a total score reflecting overall levels of emotion dysregulation (DERS-Total). Within this sample, the DERS-Total score, and each subscale demonstrated acceptable to high Cronbach's alpha: $\alpha_{\text{DERS-Total}} = .91$; $\alpha_{\text{Awareness}}$ = .79; $\alpha_{\text{Clarity}} = .86$; $\alpha_{\text{Acceptance}} = .82$; $\alpha_{\text{Goals}} = .89$; $\alpha_{\text{Impulse}} = .89$; $\alpha_{\text{Strategies}} = .83$. Details of each DERS item and scale coding are provided in appendix C.

2.3.1.3. Data Reduction & Analyses

The relationship between empathy and emotion dysregulation was examined using bivariate correlations. Normality of each variable was assessed using Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Accordingly, Spearman's rho is reported for correlations where any variable distribution showed significant deviation from normality. All correlations are reported as two-tailed, with a significance threshold of p < .05. For reference, the results following the removal of univariate and bivariate outliers are reported in appendix D.

2.3.2. Results

Cognitive empathy showed a significant negative correlation with DERS-Total scores, rho(135) = -.18, p = .04. Affective empathy was not significantly correlated with DERS-Total, rho(135) = .13, p = .14. These two correlations were significantly different, Steiger's Z = -3.3, p = .001 (fig. 2.3).



Fig. 2.3. Scatterplot showing the relationship between Z-transformed trait cognitive/affective empathy (QCAE) and overall levels of emotion dysregulation (DERS-Total). Cognitive empathy (blue) was negatively correlated with DERS-Total; affective empathy (red) was not significantly correlated with DERS-Total.

To better understand the relationship between cognitive/affective empathy and trait emotion dysregulation, exploratory analyses were conducted to examine the relationship between these two dimensions of empathy and each subscale of the DERS. Cognitive empathy was significantly negatively related to the awareness and impulse subscales and showed a trend-level negative relationship with clarity, non-acceptance, and strategies. There was no relationship between cognitive empathy and the goals subscale of the DERS.
Affective empathy was significantly positively related to the DERS goals and strategies subscales and showed a trend-level positive relationship with non-acceptance. Affective empathy was negatively related to awareness but showed no relationship with clarity or impulse control. Steiger's tests demonstrated that with the exception of the clarity subscale, the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy showed different relationships with each subscale of the DERS (all correlation coefficients and associated Steiger's test Z statistics are reported in table 2.1).

Table 2.1.

Correlation coefficients for cognitive/affective empathy and DERS

Variable	Awareness	Clarity	Non-	Goals	Impulse	Strategies
			Acceptance			
Cog Empathy	40***	16	15	.11	17*	10
Aff Empathy	22**	01	.16	.29**	.04	.23**
Steiger's (CE-AE)	-2.38**	-1.58	-3.42***	-4.36***	-2.31*	-3.6***

*< .05, ** < .01, *** < .001

2.4. Discussion

2.4.1. Summary of findings

Across two studies the relationship between trait measures of empathy and emotion regulation was examined. It was predicted that the two dimensions of empathy would both be negatively related to the use of suppression but share different relationships with the habitual use of reappraisal (ERQ; Gross and John, 2033) and self-reported emotion dysregulation (DERS; Kaufman et al., 2016). The observed results broadly support these hypotheses and highlight significant patterns of divergence in the relationships that trait cognitive and affective empathy share with habitual regulation strategy use and emotion dysregulation. The results suggest that while higher cognitive empathy is broadly associated with more adaptive emotion regulation, higher affective empathy is associated with increased difficulties with certain aspects of emotion regulation.

Trait cognitive and affective empathy were both negatively related to the habitual use of suppression. While higher cognitive empathy was associated with more frequent use of reappraisal, affective empathy showed no relationship with reappraisal use. The two dimensions of empathy also showed divergent patterns in their relationships with trait emotion dysregulation. Cognitive empathy was negatively related to overall levels of emotion dysregulation, suggesting that those with greater cognitive empathy experience fewer difficulties with emotion regulation. In contrast, affective empathy did not show a significant relationship with overall levels of emotion dysregulation. Significant divergence between cognitive and affective empathy were also observed for various subscales of the DERS.

During the writeup of these studies a paper was published that reported the same relationships between reappraisal use and trait cognitive and affective empathy in a large UK sample (Powell, 2018). Additionally, a study by Contardi et al. (2016) was published after the present studies were conducted, and reported similar relationships between trait empathy and

emotion dysregulation in a sample of Italian students. The findings of the current studies provide further support for this recent work by replicating the findings in a large sample from two countries.

Aside from the negative relationship between cognitive empathy and suppression, which was not found in the Lockwood et al. (2014) study, the current results show a consistent pattern with prior work (Contardi et al., 2016; Powell, 2018; Tully et al., 2016). Furthermore, by examining how trait empathy is associated with the different subscales of the DERS, the current study provides greater specificity regarding the relationship that cognitive and affective empathy share with different aspects of emotion dysregulation. While the correlational design of these studies precludes the ability to make direct attributions of cause and effect, some potential interpretations of these results are now discussed in relation to extant theoretical and empirical work.

2.4.2. Cognitive empathy & emotion regulation

Trait cognitive empathy was broadly associated with more adaptive emotion regulation in both studies, demonstrated by more frequent use of adaptive reappraisal strategies, less frequent use of maladaptive suppression strategies, and lower trait emotion dysregulation. The negative relationship between cognitive empathy and emotion dysregulation was driven primarily by relationships with DERS subscales assessing difficulties with emotional awareness and impulse control. The cognitive component of

empathy is reliant upon various cognitive control processes, which support the ability to take another's perspective and make accurate inferences about their mental/emotional state (Carlson et al., 2004; Dennis et al., 2009; Goel et al., 1995; Gokcen et al., 2017; Hansen, 2011; Saxe et al., 2004). Given that many forms of adaptive emotion regulation are reliant upon similar processes (Buhle et al., 2014; Goldin et al., 2008; Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016; Kalisch, 2009; McRae et al., 2012), it could be that higher cognitive empathy is associated with improved efficiency of the cognitive control processes that also underlie the ability to regulate one's emotions effectively. Conversely, lower levels of cognitive empathy may impede the ability to implement adaptive but cognitively demanding regulation strategies such as reappraisal.

Cognitive empathy was negatively associated with difficulties with emotional awareness, suggesting that individuals with greater cognitive empathy show a heightened awareness of their own emotional experiences. This finding is consistent with prior work, which asserts that cognitive empathic abilities may support the capacity to reflect upon and understand one's own emotions (Frith and Frith, 2003; Happe et al., 1996; Hobson, 2010). Given that the capacity to be aware of and understand one's own emotions may facilitate the ability to select and implement a regulation strategy suitable to a given context (Fustos et al., 2013; Gross, 2015), this heightened emotional awareness could in part explain why cognitive empathy was associated with more adaptive patterns of strategy use.

The negative correlation between trait cognitive empathy and suppression use suggests that individuals with higher cognitive empathy are less likely to use this strategy in their daily lives. As individuals with cognitive empathy experience fewer difficulties with emotion regulation and show a heightened propensity to use reappraisal, they may simply be less reliant upon maladaptive strategies such as suppression. This result could also be interpreted by considering the inverse relationship between these two constructs. Given that suppression can have a negative impact upon cognitive control processes (Wang et al., 2014), the frequent use of this strategy could interfere with the processes that mediate the ability to take another's perspective and make inferences about their state. Furthermore, the frequent use of suppression could inhibit mimicry/embodiment mechanisms (Chartrand and Bargh, 1999; Hatfield et al., 1993; Preston and de Waal, 2002), which might impede one's ability to understand others' emotions through embodied simulation.

2.4.3. Affective empathy & emotion regulation

Affective empathy was not significantly associated with overall trait emotion dysregulation but was significantly positively correlated with subscales assessing difficulties with managing one's emotions and maintaining goal-focused behaviours in emotional situations. In contrast, affective empathy was negatively related to difficulties with emotional awareness, suggesting that similar to cognitive empathy, greater affective

empathy may facilitate the capacity to be aware of one's own emotions. The divergent relationships that affective empathy shared with these sub-scales of the DERS could explain why it did not show a significant positive relationship with the overall emotion dysregulation (i.e. DERS-Total) metric.

Higher levels of affective empathy are associated with increased arousal in response to others' emotions (Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002), and may relate to heightened emotional reactivity in a more general sense (Rueckert et al., 2011). Given that emotions can interfere with the cognitive control processes upon which many aspects of adaptive emotion regulation are reliant (Hare et al., 2005; Tottenham et al., 2011), the increased emotional reactivity associated with higher affective empathy may diminish the capacity to regulate one's emotions effectively. While the heightened emotional awareness that greater affective empathy entails could facilitate certain aspects of emotion regulation, such as the selection of adaptive regulation strategies, the concurrent difficulties in maintaining goalfocused behaviours may negatively impact the implementation of more demanding regulatory strategies. This could explain why affective empathy showed no relationship with reappraisal use, despite being associated with improved emotional awareness, which ought to facilitate the selection of adaptive strategies such as reappraisal (Gross, 2015).

The negative relationship between affective empathy and the habitual use of suppression suggests that more frequent use of this strategy is

associated with a reduced capacity to share others' emotions. The emotional resonance by which affective empathy is defined is largely driven by spontaneous mimicry mechanisms, which can automatically elicit in the observer an emotional state isomorphic to that of the perceived other (Hatfield et al., 1993; Laird et al. 1994; Wild et al., 2001). Consequently, it is unsurprising that individuals who frequently attempt to suppress any outward indicators of their emotions (e.g. facial expressions) report a diminished capacity/propensity to resonate with the emotions of others.

2.4.4. Summary, conclusions, and limitations

The findings of these studies support the hypothesis that empathy and emotion regulation are related. Critically, they suggest that the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy share different relationships with the habitual use of reappraisal and various aspects of emotion dysregulation. While these findings represent an important first step in further elucidating the relationship between different components of empathy and emotion regulation, it is important to highlight certain limitations of these studies.

These studies utilised only self-report measures of empathy and emotion regulation, which, while helpful in understanding respondents' selfperceptions of their empathic and emotion regulation abilities (Dziobek et al., 2008) are not without their inherent limitations. Firstly, given that many of the processes associated with both empathy and emotion regulation can occur on an implicit level (Decety and Jackson, 2004; Gyurak et al., 2011;

Mauss et al., 2007; Pfeifer et al., 2008; Singer and Lamm, 2009), one could argue that certain features of these constructs may be difficult to assess accurately via introspection (Kagan, 1988). However, I would assert that while respondents may be unable to directly reflect upon the underlying processes associated with these constructs, the subsequent consequences of their empathic/regulatory abilities are likely available to perception.

A further limitation of trait measures is their reliance on retrospective selfreporting, which may leave them susceptible to inaccuracies and response biases (Moskowitz, 1986) such as socially desirable responding (Gerdes et al., 2010; Paulhus, 1991). In the present studies, all questionnaires were completed online and participants were explicitly informed that their responses would remain entirely confidential. This anonymity should have helped reduce the potential that any socially desirable responding was present in the data, and there is no reason to infer that participants would have been motivated toward impression management to any extent that might have impacted the results in a demonstrable way.

Finally, a fundamental limitation of using only trait measures is that they are unable to accurately capture more ability-based components of empathy, which may be more amenable to measurement using performance-based task approaches. Indeed, prior work highlights a lack of convergence between trait and task measures of empathy (e.g. Melchers et al., 2015), which could suggest that these approaches are assessing slightly

different latent constructs. One key distinction between trait and task measures is the extent to which they capture one's propensity or ability to engage empathic processes or use different regulatory strategies. More specifically, trait measures reflect a combination of respondents' selfperceived abilities and motivation to engage different empathic and regulatory processes, which may not necessarily be directly related to one's objective ability to implement these processes effectively.

Subsequent chapters of this thesis seek to build upon the findings of these studies in various ways. To address the limitations of using only trait measures of empathy, the next chapter examines the same relationships tested here using more objective task-based measures of different component processes of empathy. Later chapters utilise a range of tasks that directly assess some of the key aspects of emotion regulation found to be related to empathy in the present studies. For example, in chapter 4, the relationship between cognitive/affective empathy and performance-based measures of the ability to inhibit impulsive responses and maintain goal-focused behaviours in the presence of salient emotional distractors is examined. Finally, to build upon the findings suggestive of divergent relationships between cognitive/affective empathy and reappraisal, chapter 5 reports two studies that examined how these components of empathy are associated with task metrics assessing the ability to downregulate negative emotions using reappraisal.

Chapter 3

Trait emotion regulation and task measures of cognitive and affective empathy

3.1. Introduction

The results of the trait analysis reported in the previous chapter suggest that the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy share different relationships with emotion regulation. While trait measures provide an indication of respondents' self-perceived levels of cognitive/affective empathy (Dziobek et al., 2008), they are less effective in capturing key ability-based components of these constructs (Russell-Smith et al., 2013). More objective indicators of these abilities can be obtained using taskbased approaches. This chapter builds upon the findings of chapter 2 by examining the relationship between empathy and trait emotion regulation using established task paradigms that assess abilities related to distinct component processes of empathy.

Cognitive empathy was measured using two tasks that assess participants': (1) ability to take another individual's perspective, and (2) ability to accurately infer complex emotional/mental states based on subtle facial cues. A fundamental process associated with affective empathy was assessed using electromyographic (EMG) measures of spontaneous facial mimicry (SFM), which provide a proxy index of participants' propensity to resonate with others' emotions. I begin with a brief overview of these task measures of empathy before moving on to discuss evidence regarding their potential relationship with trait emotion regulation.

3.1.1. Task measures of cognitive empathy

The cognitive component of empathy comprises various abilities that enable the observer to take the perspective of another individual and make inferences about their emotional/mental state (Blair, 2005; Davis, 1983; Shamay-Tsoory, 2011). Broadly speaking, this cognitive component encompasses two partially dissociable categories of processes: (1) self-other control processes, which enable the observer to suppress their own egocentric perspective in order to take the perspective of another; (2) inferential processes, which facilitate the recognition and interpretation of various cues from which another's mental/emotional state can be understood (Bird and Viding, 2014; Decety, 2010).

The capacity to inhibit one's default egocentric perspective in order to take the perspective of another individual is a critical component process supporting the ability to understand others' emotions (Decety and Chaminade, 2003; Frith and Frith, 2003; Shanton and Goldman, 2010). Humans typically interpret incoming information based on their own perspective (Coburn et al., 2015; Wimmer and Perner, 1983), and in order to accurately represent another individual's experience, which may be different from one's own, this egocentric bias must be inhibited.

Failure to adequately inhibit one's default self-perspective can result in egocentric interference, whereby one's own knowledge, beliefs, and visual perspective can impact the accuracy with which one is able to infer another's experience (Camerer et al., 1989; Derbyshire et al., 2013; Epley et al., 2004; O'Connell et al., 2015; Schmid and Schmid-Mast, 2010; Silani et al., 2013; Todd et al., 2015). Suppressing one's egocentric bias is cognitively demanding and has been shown to be associated with cognitive control processes mediated in part by the PFC (Bailey and Henry, 2008; Healey and Grossman, 2018; Lamm et al., 2011; Saxe et al., 2004).

The director task (henceforth DT) is a visual perspective-taking paradigm commonly used to examine perspective-taking abilities in typical adult populations (Keysar et al., 2003). Participants are required to move objects positioned on a shelving unit in response to instructions delivered by a "director" who is facing them from the opposite side of the shelves. A subset of the objects visible to the participant are occluded from the director's view, meaning that on critical trials there is a conflict between the perspective of the participant and the director. For example, an instruction to move "the big cup", referring to the largest cup visible to both director and participant, might lead the participant to initially consider as a target the largest cup visible to them, which cannot be seen by the director (foil object). To respond correctly, participants must inhibit their prepotent egocentric perspective in order to correctly interpret the director's instruction and select the mutually visible cup to which they were actually referring (target object).

Behavioural measures, such as response time (RT) difference between conflict (experimental) and no-conflict (control) trials are sometimes used to assess DT performance. However, more recent studies utilise eyetracking metrics as more objective and informative indicators of perspective-taking ability (e.g. Rubio-Fernández, 2017). Gaze fixations are widely accepted as reflecting one's focus of attention and information processing (Altmann and Kamide, 1999; Just and Carpenter, 1980; Tanenhaus et al., 1995). Tracking an individual's eye gaze patterns during the DT enables the direct measurement of the extent to which they exhibit an egocentric bias (by considering the foil object as a possible target) and how efficiently they were able to suppress this initial bias (Rubio-Fernández, 2017; Symeonidou et al., 2016).

While perspective-taking processes play an important role in the cognitive component of empathy, the capacity to understand others' emotional experiences is also mediated by other abilities, such as those that enable the observer to make accurate inferences about what another individual may be thinking/feeling (Adolphs, 2009; Gallese et al., 2004; Vellante et al., 2013). These inferential processes are reliant upon the observer's ability to interpret the often subtle cues that may indicate another's emotion, such as facial expressions, body language, and prosody (Baron-Cohen, 1995; Frith and Frith, 2006). A task commonly used to measure this ability is the Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test (henceforth RMET; Baron-Cohen et al., 1997, 2001).

The RMET assesses participants' ability to correctly identify complex mental/emotional states based solely upon images of the eye region and is typically considered a measure of advanced theory of mind (ToM), a construct synonymous with cognitive empathy. Performance on the RMET is thought to rely upon the relatively automatic process of matching the perceived expressions to relevant expression archetypes and terminology stored in memory (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; Vellante et al., 2013). In contrast to the original version (Baron-Cohen et al., 1997), the revised RMET includes only complex emotional/mental states (e.g. embarrassed, jealous), which necessitates the process of attributing a belief to the target and is less prone to ceiling effects in typical adult populations (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; Vellante et al., 2013). While contrasting findings have been reported (e.g. Olderbak et al., 2015; Pinkham et al., 2018), studies have demonstrated that the RMET has sufficient sensitivity to assess variability in cognitive empathy/ToM in typical (Ahmed and Miller, 2011; Peterson and Miller, 2012) and atypical populations (e.g. ASC; Baron-Cohen et al., 1997; Baron-Cohen et al., 2001).

3.1.2. Task measures of affective empathy

The human predisposition to spontaneously mimic the emotional facial expressions of others can induce in the mimicker a state isomorphic to the perceived emotion and reflects a fundamental component process associated with affective empathy (de Waal and Preston, 2017; Hatfield et

al., 1993; Preston and de Waal 2002). Spontaneous facial mimicry (SFM) has been studied empirically using facial electromyography (fEMG), which provides a sensitive measure of rapid and automatic emotional responses that may be difficult to detect using other methods (Tassinary and Cacioppo, 1992).

There is considerable evidence that the perception of emotional facial expressions evokes activity in congruent muscle groups (e.g. the Zygomaticus major in response to happy faces, and Corrugator supercilii in response to angry faces) (Cacioppo et al., 1986; Dimberg and Petterson, 2000; Hess et al., 1998; Rymarczyk et al., 2018; Sims et al., 2012). SFM can occur rapidly and automatically (Dimberg, 1990; Dimberg and Thunberg, 1998), even when the individual is not aware of the presence of a face (Bornemann et al., 2012; Dimberg et al., 2000).

Facial muscle activity is believed to have a direct influence upon one's affective state (Ekman et al., 1983; Hennenlotter et al. 2009; Levenson et al., 1990), which suggests that mimicking another's emotional displays could trigger a corresponding state in the observer. Indeed, prior work has demonstrated that SFM magnitude is positively correlated with self-report indices of congruent emotional experiences (Gump and Kulik, 1997; Sato et al., 2013; Wild et al., 2001). Furthermore, blocking facial mimicry can attenuate activations in subcortical regions associated with emotional (Hennenlotter et al. 2009) and reward-related processing (Hsu et al., 2018).

Critically, the magnitude of SFM is positively related to trait measures of affective empathy (Dimberg et al., 2011; Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002), suggesting that it can provide a reliable proxy measure of one's propensity to resonate with others' emotions.

3.1.3. The current study

This study examined the relationship between empathy and trait measures of emotion dysregulation (DERS; Kaufman et al., 2016) and the habitual use of reappraisal/suppression (ERQ; Gross and John, 2003) using objective task measures of different component processes associated with cognitive and affective empathy. An eye-tracking version of the DT was used to assess perspective-taking ability, with the relative gaze time on target versus foil objects indexing participants' efficiency in suppressing their egocentric bias. An additional component of cognitive empathy was measured using the RMET, which provides an index of participants' ability to infer complex mental/emotional states based on images of the eye region. Finally, affective empathy was assessed using an emotional face perception task, wherein the fEMG-measured magnitude of Zygomaticus major (ZM) and Corrugator supercilii (CS) activation in response to happy and angry faces was used to index participants' propensity to resonate with others' emotions. Broadly speaking, it was predicted that the cognitive and affective components of empathy would show different relationships with trait emotion dysregulation, and the habitual use of different regulation strategies.

Given its reliance upon cognitive control processes also necessary for adaptive emotion regulation (Buhle et al., 2014; Carlson et al., 2004; Dennis et al., 2009; Goldin et al., 2008; Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016; Saxe et al., 2004), it was predicted that greater perspective-taking ability would be associated with lower levels of emotion dysregulation and more adaptive strategy selection (i.e. greater use of reappraisal and lower use of suppression). The specificity of this relationship was tested by examining the relationship between trait emotion regulation and an additional ability relevant to the cognitive component of empathy, as assessed by the RMET. Successful performance on the RMET is thought to rely upon more automatic processing of emotional information (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; Vellante et al., 2013), and is therefore likely to be less reliant than the DT upon cognitive control processes associated with emotion regulation. Consequently, it was predicted that RMET performance would show no relationship with trait measures of emotion regulation.

Given the potentially deleterious effect that emotional arousal can have on the cognitive control processes necessary for effective emotion regulation (e.g. Tottenham et al., 2011), it was predicted that a heightened propensity to resonate with others' emotions, as indexed by greater SFM, would be associated with increased trait emotion dysregulation and a reduced propensity to use reappraisal. While the studies reported in chapter 2 found no evidence of a relationship between trait affective empathy and

reappraisal use, and a positive relationship with only certain aspects of emotion dysregulation, this could be due to issues with trait measures conflating different components of empathy. For example, in order to report the extent to which one tends to resonate with others' emotions, one must first of all have the capacity to recognise these states in others (an ability associated with the cognitive component of empathy). As SFM reflects a more objective and "pure" measure of one's propensity to resonate with others' emotions (i.e. affective empathy), I expected it to show a different relationship with trait emotion regulation than the trait empathy measures used in chapter 2.

Finally, the negative relationship between suppression use and trait affective empathy reported in chapter 2, suggests that the habitual use of this strategy might interfere with the mimicry/embodiment processes that mediate the capacity to resonate with others' emotions. Thus, it was predicted that SFM magnitude would be negatively related to the use of suppression. A summary of the study hypotheses is highlighted below.

- Perspective-taking ability (DT) will be associated with lower levels of emotion dysregulation and suppression use. Perspective-taking ability will be positively associated with reappraisal use.
- 2) Mental state attribution accuracy (RMET) will show no relationship with trait emotion dysregulation or reappraisal/suppression use.

3) SFM magnitude will be positively related to emotion dysregulation and show a negative relationship with suppression and reappraisal use.

3.2. Methods

3.2.1. Participants

An a priori sample size estimation was conducted using G*Power 3.1. (Faul et al., 2007). Based on the expectation that these task measures of empathy would show stronger relationships with trait emotion regulation than the trait empathy measures used in chapter 2, the sample size estimation suggested that a sample of 44 would be required to detect correlations of a moderate to large effect size at an alpha level of p = .05, with power of .80. Forty-eight right-handed participants (31 females) were recruited from the UOR campus via the online research panel and poster advertisements.

All participants completed the DT and SFM tasks; a subsample of N = 40 participants also completed the RMET. The mean age of the sample was 21.29 yrs (SD = 4.03). One participant, for whom the necessary questionnaire data was incomplete, was removed prior to analysis. Following data quality checks, five participants were removed from the SFM task and eight participants were removed from the DT (see Facial EMG recording and processing, and Eye-tracking recording and processing sections for details). Reimbursement was in the form of either course credit or cash payment of £7 per hour. Questionnaires were completed online and

the tasks as part of a lab session, which also included the emotion regulation task reported in chapter 6. The order of task completion was counterbalanced across the sample. Ethical approval was obtained from the UOR research ethics committee.

3.2.2. Materials & Procedure

Emotion dysregulation. Trait emotion dysregulation was measured using the DERS-SF (Kaufman et al., 2016). The DERS-Total score demonstrated high internal consistency within this sample, $\alpha_{\text{DERS-Total}} = .89$.

Reappraisal and suppression use. The habitual use of reappraisal and suppression was measured using the ERQ (Gross and John, 2003). Cronbach's alpha was acceptable for both subscales of the ERQ: $\alpha_{\text{Reappraisal}} = .79$, $\alpha_{\text{Suppression}} = .77$.

Director task. Stimuli consisted of computerised images of a 4x4 shelving unit containing various objects. There were six object sets, each comprising six different objects. Each object set was used on four control trials and four experimental trials, with a different instruction for each trial. While all objects were visible to the participant, two objects were always located on shelves where the backs were covered, meaning they were not visible to the director. The director was physically present in the room and sat opposite participants facing a monitor positioned back to back with the monitor on which participants completed the task. This approach was used in order to increase the ecological validity over previous versions of the DT in which a "virtual" director is used. A photograph of the director facing the participant through the shelves was visible on the monitor.

Participants were informed that the director would verbally instruct them to move a particular object to a particular location, and that they should take into account which objects are visible to the director (see appendix E for full instructions). The target object referred to in the director's instruction was always one of three similar objects. For instance, where the instruction referred to a cup, a small, medium, and large cup were all present. Instructions on experimental trials referred to a target object that was visible only to the participant. For example, the instruction to move the "big cup" could induce participants to consider the foil object (i.e. the largest cup visible to them) as the target. However, the correct target would be the largest cup visible to both the participant and director. To respond correctly participants must inhibit their egocentric perspective in order to select the object that matches the instruction from the director's perspective. There were two types of conflict on experimental trials: spatial (e.g. "move the top/bottom cup") and size (e.g. "move the big/small cup"). There was no conflict on control trials as the director's instruction referred to a mutually visible object (e.g. the instruction to "move the small cup" referred to the smallest cup, which was visible to both director and participant) (fig. 3.1).

Each trial started with a central fixation cross which remained on screen as the scripted instruction was delivered verbally by the director. Immediately following the instruction, the director pressed the spacebar and the stimuli were presented on the monitor after a 400 ms delay. The cursor was not visible until the participant clicked the mouse button. Once the cursor appeared, participants then clicked on the target object then on the new location, at which point the display was updated to show the selected object in the new location. Participants were instructed that they should administer their first mouse click only once they have decided upon the target object and the new location. Response time (RT) was calculated as the interval between stimulus onset and the first mouse click. The task comprised 48 trials in total (24 experimental, 24 control) and lasted approximately 15 minutes. Trial order was pseudorandom, with no more than 3 trials of either condition in succession. Trial order was reversed for half of the sample. This DT differed from previous versions in that there was no trial time limit and participants completed six practice trials, three of which involved seeing the shelves as the director would see them.



Fig. 3.1. Example of trial stimuli from the participant's perspective in the Director task. Instructions on experimental trials referred to an object occluded from the director's perspective, e.g. "the big cup". The comparable control trial instructions for the same stimuli referred to a mutually visible object, e.g. "the small cup".

Eye-tracking recording & processing

Gaze data were recorded using a Tobii X2-60 eye-tracker recording at 60Hz, positioned below the monitor on which the task was completed. Participants' eye-gaze patterns were tracked during the initial "decision period" from stimulus onset until the first mouse click, thereby providing an indication of the objects being considered as potential targets. The display was separated into 16 regions corresponding to each shelf area. Analyses focused upon the key regions of interest, which were the shelves on which the target and foil objects were located. Any gaze points within the corresponding shelf regions were classified as a gaze to the target/foil. The key metric extracted from this task as a measure of perspective-taking ability was the duration of time spent looking at the target relative to the foil object on experimental trials. This metric was calculated by dividing target gaze time by foil gaze time, with larger values reflecting more efficient egocentric suppression (i.e. perspective-taking ability). In contrast to previous measures, such as the time it takes for the participant to look at the correct target object, this metric does not assume that the first look at the target object denotes the point at which egocentric bias has been successfully inhibited and can account for instances in which participants may look back and forth between the target and foil before making their decision. To isolate experimental trials that tapped into this ability there were two criteria for inclusion: (1) participants had to look at the foil object (to ensure egocentric bias was induced), and (2) a correct response had to follow (to ensure egocentric bias was successfully inhibited).

A technical fault led to gaze data from one participant not being recorded. To maintain data quality, any participant for whom more than ¼ of overall gaze points were not detected were removed (7 participants). Of the remaining N = 39 sample, any trials where more than ¼ of gaze points were not detected (56 trials), and/or in which RT deviated from the overall mean by more than 3*SD (67 trials) were removed. Given the aforementioned inclusion criteria, any trials in which the foil object was not looked at were not included in our metric of egocentric suppression (94 trials). Following

these exclusions, all participants retained at least 10 experimental trials from which the perspective-taking ability metric was calculated ($M \pm SD = 19.1 \pm 3.75$).

Reading the mind in the eyes test. The RMET comprised 36 trials (preceded by one practice trial), in which participants were presented with a photograph depicting the eye region of different Caucasian actors (19 male, 17 female) portraying complex mental/emotional states (e.g. despondent, playful, nervous). Stimuli were presented centrally on the monitor, surrounded by four numbered mental state descriptors (e.g. 1. jealous, 2. panicked, 3. arrogant, 4. hateful) (fig. 3.2). One of the descriptors described the depicted mental/emotional state; the other three descriptors were incorrect foils. Participants were instructed to select the descriptor that best described what the target was thinking/feeling (see appendix E for full instructions).

There was no time limit on each trial and participants provided their response by pressing on the keyboard the number (1-4) corresponding to the relevant descriptor. A booklet containing definitions of each descriptor was provided to minimise the extent to which any variability in word comprehension might influence participants' accuracy on the task. Participants were encouraged to consult the definition booklet if they were unsure of the meaning of any descriptors. The key metric extracted from this task was participants' mean accuracy score.



Fig. 3.2. Example of trial stimuli from the RMET.

Spontaneous facial mimicry task. A component of affective empathy was assessed using a spontaneous facial mimicry (SFM) task, in which fEMG was used to measure CS and ZM activity during the passive viewing of emotional facial expressions. Facial stimuli were taken from the MindreadingTM set (Baron-Cohen et al., 2004), and comprised 4000 ms clips of four different targets (2 males, 2 females) displaying happy and angry facial expressions. Dynamic video stimuli were used as they provide greater ecological validity and have been shown to elicit greater SFM than static stimuli (Rymarczyk et al., 2011; Sato and Yoshikawa, 2006; Weyers et al., 2006). Stimuli were presented centrally on the monitor at a height of 16 cm, a width of 28 cm, and a frame rate of 30 fps. The task lasted approximately 5 minutes.

The task comprised 48 trials (24 happy, 24 angry), with each clip presented six times in a randomised order. Each trial consisted of the following

sequence of events: (1) central fixation cross for 1000ms, (2) angry or happy facial expression clip for 4000 ms, (3) blank screen for 1000 ms (fig. 3.3). Participants were instructed simply to pay attention to the faces for the entirety of the task (see appendix E for full instructions). In accordance with prior SFM studies (e.g. Sims et al., 2012), in order to reduce the likelihood that participants were focusing on their facial muscles they were informed that the EMG sensors were measuring sweat gland activity.

Facial EMG recording and processing

EMG activity was measured using sensors positioned over the ZM and CS in accordance with the guidelines proposed by Fridlund and Cacioppo (1986). The skin was cleaned using 70% alcohol wipes, after which 4mm Ag/AgCl surface sensors (Discount Disposables, USA) filled with isotonic electrode gel (Mansfield R&D, UK) were attached bipolarly to the left side of the face using 5mm collars (Discount Disposables), at a distance of 10mm apart. A ground electrode was positioned over the left mastoid process.

The EMG signal was recorded using an ML-870 Power Lab, amplified 10,000 times by an ML-138 Octal Bioamp and recorded/processed using LabChart 8 (AD Instruments). The raw EMG signal was sampled at a rate of 1kHz, digitized with 16-bit precision. Digital 500 Hz low-pass and 50 Hz high-pass filters were applied to the signal offline. Data from three participants were removed due to technical issues resulting in poor quality recordings and/or lost event markers. Data were visually inspected and any trials with clear movement artefacts/noise or in which the mean CS or ZM activity deviated from the group mean by more than 3*SD were removed (92 trials). Following these removals, all participants had at least 12 trials per condition $(M \pm SD = 23.04 \pm 2.38)$. The EMG data were rectified and logarithmically transformed to remove negative values and minimize the impact of any extreme values.

To test for the emergence of SFM, the magnitude of EMG activity during the presentation of the facial expression clips relative to a 1 second baseline during the fixation screen period, was examined (de Wied et al., 2009). The key metric extracted from this task as a measure of SFM was the mean baseline-corrected ZM activity for happy faces and CS activity for angry faces during the 2-4 second epoch following stimulus onset (fig. 3.3). This epoch was selected because the dynamic facial expressions reached maximal intensity at approximately the 2000 ms mark (Sims et al., 2012).



Fig. 3.3. Schematic of trial structure in the spontaneous facial mimicry task. The key metric of SFM extracted from this task was the mean baseline corrected CS (for angry faces) and ZM (for happy faces) activity within the 2-4 second epoch post stimulus onset.

3.2.3. Data reduction and analyses

To test for egocentric bias in the DT, paired samples t-tests were used to compare mean RT and the proportion of trials in which the foil object was looked at across the experimental and control conditions. To test for the emergence of SFM, separate repeated measures ANOVAs with emotion (happy/angry) and epoch (baseline/stimulus period) as within-subjects factors were conducted for the two dependent variables ZM and CS activity. Where the assumption of sphericity was not satisfied, Greenhouse Geisser corrected values are reported.

The key metrics extracted from each task for the correlation analysis were, (1) the relative proportion of gaze time on target versus foil objects on experimental trials in the DT, (2) mean accuracy on the RMET, and (3) mean baseline-corrected congruent muscle activity during the 2-4 second period in the SFM task. While not directly related to the study hypotheses, the relationship between these task measures of empathy and the QCAE were examined (see appendix E). Normality of each variable was assessed using Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Accordingly, Spearman's rho is reported for correlations where any of the variable distributions showed significant deviation from normality. All p-values are reported as 2-tailed, with a significance threshold of p < .05. To ensure that the observed results were not unduly influenced by a small number of outlier cases, the same analyses reported in the results section were conducted following the removal of univariate and bivariate outlier cases (see appendix E).

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Director task

Overall accuracy on the DT was high (M \pm SD = 95.45% \pm 4.01%). Mean RT was significantly longer on experimental (M \pm SD = 3031.17 ms \pm 748.13 ms) relative to control trials (M \pm SD = 2948.63 ms \pm 740.11 ms), t(46) = 2.36, *p* = .02 (fig 3.4). Analysis of the eye-gaze data showed that the foil object was looked at on a significantly greater proportion of experimental trials (mean \pm SD = 87.61% \pm 14.33%) relative to control trials (mean \pm SD = 57.21% \pm 16.35%), t(38) = -14.05, *p* < .001. Taken together, these results suggest that experimental trials successfully induced an egocentric bias, with participants' gaze patterns suggesting that they considered the foil object as a potential target.



Fig. 3.4. Mean response time (ms) for experimental and control trials in the director task. Error bars depict ±1 within-subjects SEM.

DT correlations with trait emotion dysregulation

To examine the relationship between this task measure of perspectivetaking ability and trait emotion dysregulation, I focused upon the experimental condition as these were the only trials in which participants were required to suppress their egocentric bias in order to correctly identify the target object referred to by the director. A large negative correlation between the DT perspective-taking metric and DERS-Total was observed, r(37) = -.49, p = .002 (fig. 3.5).



Fig. 3.5. Scatterplot showing the relationship between the director task perspective-taking metric (gaze time target/gaze time foil) and DERS-Total.

DT perspective-taking ability correlations with regulation strategy use The DT perspective-taking metric was not significantly related to reappraisal use, rho(37) = .21, p = .21, but showed a trend-level negative relationship with suppression use, r(37) = -.31, p = .06 (fig. 3.6).



Fig. 3.6. Scatterplot showing the relationship between the director task perspective-taking metric and reappraisal/suppression use (ERQ).

3.3.2. RMET

Mean accuracy (\pm SD) on the RMET was 76.94% (\pm 9.36%). As this task is a four-alternative forced-choice paradigm, an average score of 25% would be observed if participants were simply guessing. Accuracy equal to or greater than 50% indicates this is not the case and that participants were able to complete the task as instructed. Thus, the observed results suggest that

participants were able to accurately attribute the correct descriptors to the depicted emotions at a level greater than chance.

RMET correlations with trait emotion dysregulation and strategy use Mean RMET accuracy showed no relationship with DERS-Total, r(38) = -.14, p = .40. Similarly, RMET accuracy was not significantly related to the use of reappraisal (rho(38) = .11, p = .51) or suppression (r(38) = -.16, p = .32).

3.3.3. SFM task

A repeated measures ANOVA demonstrated that for the dependent variable ZM activity, there was no main effect of emotion, F(1, 39) = .31, p = .58, partial $\eta^2 = .01$, or epoch, F(1, 39) = 1.34, p = .25, partial $\eta^2 = .03$. The expected epoch by emotion interaction was significant, F(1, 39) = 4.49, p = .04, partial $\eta^2 = .10$. Pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni correction demonstrated that ZM activity was higher in the stimulus period relative to baseline for happy (p = .04) but not for angry (p = .54) faces. For illustrative purposes the mean baseline corrected ZM activity for each one-second epoch of the stimulus presentation are presented in figure 3.7.



Fig. 3.7. Mean baseline-corrected ZM activity for happy and angry faces in each 1-second epoch during the stimulus presentation period. Error bars depict ± 1 within-subjects SEM.

For the dependent variable CS activity, there was a main effect of emotion, $F(1, 39) = 16.16, p < .001, partial \eta^2 = .29, but no main effect of epoch, F(1, 39)$ $= .71, p = .40, partial \eta^2 = .02.$ There was a significant emotion by epoch interaction, $F(1, 39) = 13.67, p = .001, partial \eta^2 = .26.$ Post-hoc pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni correction showed that CS activity was higher for angry relative to happy faces overall (p < .001). For angry faces, CS activity was significantly higher in the stimulus period relative to baseline (p = .001). For happy faces, CS activity was significantly lower in the stimulus period relative to baseline (p = .03). For illustrative purposes, the mean baseline corrected CS activity for each one-second epoch during stimulus presentation are presented in figure 3.8.


Fig. 3.8. Mean baseline-corrected corrugator activity for each 1-second epoch during stimulus presentation. Error bars depict ± 1 within-subjects SEM.

SFM task correlations with trait emotion dysregulation

Mean SFM (mean baseline corrected congruent muscle activity collapsed across happy and angry faces) showed a non-significant negative relationship with DERS-Total, rho(38) = -.26, p = .11. To better understand this unexpected result, the correlations between DERS-Total and mimicry of happy (ZM activation) and angry (CS activation) faces were examined individually. Happy face mimicry showed no relationship with DERS-Total, rho(38) = -.03, p = .84, however, mimicry of angry faces showed a large negative correlation with DERS-Total, rho(38) = -.47, p = .002. These two correlations were significantly different, Steiger's Z = 2.21, p = .03 (fig. 3.9).



Fig. 3.9. Scatterplots showing the relationship between z-transformed mimicry of angry (baseline-corrected CS activity) and happy faces (baseline-corrected ZM activity) and DERS-Total. DERS-Total was negatively correlated with angry-face mimicry (blue) but was not significantly related to happy-face mimicry (red).

SFM correlations with regulation strategy use

Mean SFM magnitude was not significantly related to the use of reappraisal (rho(38) = .29, p = .07) or suppression (rho(38) = -.13, p = .44). Given the above findings demonstrating a different relationship with emotion dysregulation for mimicry of happy and angry faces, the relationship between happy and angry mimicry with reappraisal/suppression use were examined separately.

Happy face mimicry showed no relationship with reappraisal use (rho(38) = .04, p = .83), however, angry face mimicry was positively correlated with reappraisal use (rho(38) = .39, p = .01) (fig. 3.10). The difference between

these two correlations was approaching significance (Steiger's Z = -1.78, p = .08). The use of suppression was not significantly related to mimicry of happy (rho(38) = -.07, p = .69) or angry (rho(38) = -.19, p = .24) faces. These correlations were not significantly different (Steiger's Z = -0.61, p = .55).



Fig. 3.10. Scatterplot showing the relationship between z-transformed mimicry of angry (baseline-corrected CS activity) and happy (baseline-corrected ZM activity) faces with reappraisal use (ERQ). Reappraisal use was positively correlated with angry mimicry (blue) but was not significantly related to happy mimicry (red).

3.3.4. Summary of results

Table 3.1. Co	orrelations l	between	empathy	[,] tasks a	and trait	emotion	regula	ation
			/				0	

Variable	DT	RMET	Angry SFM	Happy SFM
DERS-Total	49 (p = .002)	14 (p = .40)	47 (p = .002)	03 (p = .84)
Reappraisal (ERQ)	.21 (p = .21)	.11 (<i>p</i> = .51)	.39 (<i>p</i> = .01)	.04 (<i>p</i> = .83)
Suppression (ERQ)	31 (<i>p</i> = .06)	16 (<i>p</i> = .32)	19 (p = .24)	07 (<i>p</i> = .69)

3.4. Discussion

3.4.1. Summary of findings

This study examined the relationship between trait emotion regulation and task measures of different component processes related to empathy. Broadly speaking, the results support the hypothesis that different empathic processes share distinct relationships with emotion regulation.

Consistent with prior theoretical and empirical work suggesting that higher levels of cognitive empathy may support adaptive emotion regulation (e.g. Okun et al., 2000; Schipper and Petermann, 2013), a task measure of perspective-taking ability was negatively associated with trait emotion dysregulation as measured by the DERS (Kaufman et al., 2016). Perspectivetaking ability was not significantly related to reappraisal use, as measured by the ERQ (Gross and John, 2003), however, the predicted negative relationship with suppression use was observed. Performance on a task assessing the ability to attribute complex mental/emotional states to targets based on images of the eye region showed no relationship with any measures of trait emotion regulation.

Contrary to the hypothesis that affective empathy would be positively related to emotion dysregulation, the magnitude of fEMG-measured SFM showed a trend-level negative correlation with trait emotion dysregulation. Follow-up analyses demonstrated that while mimicry of happy faces (indexed by increased ZM activity) showed no relationship with emotion dysregulation, mimicry of angry faces (indexed by increased CS activity) was negatively correlated with trait emotion dysregulation. Additionally, increased mimicry of angry, but not happy faces was associated with an increased tendency to use reappraisal but showed no relationship with selfreported use of suppression.

3.4.2. Cognitive empathy & emotion regulation

Through the use of multiple task measures that assess separable components of cognitive empathy, this study gives greater specificity to the relationship between cognitive empathy and emotion regulation. Perspective-taking ability was negatively associated with trait emotion dysregulation, suggesting that those with a greater capacity to take another's perspective experience fewer difficulties with emotion regulation. In contrast, the ability to infer a target's mental/emotional state based on images of the eye region showed no relationship with any trait measures of emotion regulation.

The different relationships that these two cognitive empathic abilities share with trait emotion regulation could be related to differences in the underlying processes by which they are mediated. A fundamental distinction between the processes recruited by these task measures is the extent to which they are reliant upon the 'online' control of self and other representations (Santiesteban et al., 2012). To perform well on the DT, participants must be able to represent the visual perspective of the

director, and on experimental trials, quickly inhibit their own visual perspective in order to correctly identify the target object to which the director was referring. This egocentric suppression is largely mediated by inhibitory control processes, which enable the observer to switch between the co-active self and other representations (Bailey and Henry, 2008; Ruby and Decety, 2004; Santiesteban et al., 2012).

In contrast, the RMET is dependent upon one's ability to interpret subtle facial cues in order to attribute to the target a complex emotional/mental state. This ability is thought to rely upon the relatively automatic process of matching the perceived expressions to archetypes of emotional expressions and associated language stored in semantic memory, and unlike perspective-taking, does not necessitate the online switching between self and other representations (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; Vellante et al., 2013).

Therefore, while both tasks assess abilities related to the cognitive component of empathy, the underlying mechanisms by which they are mediated differ in the extent to which they place demands on cognitive control processes (Bailey and Henry, 2008; Spengler et al., 2010). Given that many forms of adaptive emotion regulation are reliant upon similar cognitive control processes to those associated with perspective-taking (Buhle et al., 2014; Carlson et al., 2004; Dennis et al., 2009; Goldin et al., 2008; Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016; Saxe et al., 2004), it could be that individuals with a greater capacity for perspective-taking are able to engage

these processes more efficiently, which facilitates the ability to regulate one's emotions. Such an interpretation could also explain why perspectivetaking ability was negatively related to the use of suppression, as the greater regulatory capacity of individuals with improved perspective-taking abilities makes them less reliant upon potentially maladaptive strategies.

As the RMET does not recruit to the same extent the cognitive control processes that support emotion regulation, a greater ability to interpret others' emotional/mental states based on facial cues may confer little benefit in terms of regulating one's own emotions. It is important to note that the RMET assesses only the first stage of inferring another's mental/emotional state, which involves attributing an appropriate state to the other (e.g. embarrassed) but does not necessarily involve the later stage of inferring the content of that state (i.e. the cause of the target's embarrassment) (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001). Therefore, based on the results of this study, one can conclude only that there is no evidence that this first stage of mental state attribution is related to one's capacity for emotion regulation, and not that these inferential processes as a whole are unrelated to emotion regulation.

3.4.3. Affective empathy & emotion regulation

In contrast to cognitive empathic processes, the capacity to share others' emotions is largely mediated by more implicit mechanisms. For example, the predisposition to spontaneously mimic others' emotional displays,

which can elicit an isomorphic affective state in the observer without the need for explicit cognitive processes (de Waal and Preston, 2017; Hatfield et al., 1993; Preston and de Waal 2002). The task measure of affective empathy used in the present study utilised fEMG to measure the extent to which participants spontaneously mimicked targets' emotional facial expressions, providing a proxy measure of their propensity to implicitly resonate with others' emotions (Dimberg et al., 2011; Hatfield et al., 1993; Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002).

Consistent with prior work, the results suggest that the perception of emotional facial expressions elicits spontaneous activation in congruent facial muscles (Bornemann et al., 2012; Dimberg, 1990; Dimberg and Thunberg, 1998; Dimberg et al., 2000). Based upon evidence demonstrating the potentially deleterious effects of emotions on the efficiency of cognitive control processes (Hare et al., 2005, 2008; Tottenham et al., 2011) coupled with evidence that higher affective empathy is associated with heightened emotional reactivity (Rueckert et al., 2011; Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002), it was predicted that SFM magnitude would be positively associated with levels of trait emotion dysregulation.

In contrast to this hypothesis, the mean magnitude of SFM (averaged across angry and happy faces) was not significantly related to trait emotion dysregulation. Furthermore, follow-up analyses revealed that a heightened propensity to mimic others' angry, but not happy, facial expressions was

associated with lower levels of trait emotion dysregulation and an increased tendency to use adaptive reappraisal strategies. While these results were in contrast to the initial hypothesis, extant work does provide some precedent for these findings.

Prior work has shown that individuals who experience more negative emotions can exhibit deficits in spontaneous mimicry (Likowski et al. 2011). While negative affect was not explicitly measured in the present study, one could reasonably assume that individuals with greater levels of emotion dysregulation may be more prone to experiencing negative emotions than those with a greater capacity for regulation. Similarly, there is evidence that increased anxiety, often related to difficulties with emotion regulation (see Cisler et al., 2010 for review), is associated with reduced spontaneous mimicry (Vrijsen et al., 2010).

A study of children with disruptive behavioural disorders (DBD), for whom impairments in emotion/self-regulation are prevalent (Schoorl et al., 2016), demonstrated that relative to typical controls, those with DBD exhibited reduced mimicry of angry, but not happy, faces (de Wied et al., 2006). Similar valence-specific differences in processing emotional stimuli have been observed in other individuals for whom difficulties with emotion/selfregulation are common. For example, boys who display antisocial behaviour and conduct disorder show atypical processing of negative, but not positive, emotional stimuli (de Wied et al., 2009). The results of the present

study are to some extent consistent with such findings and suggest that emotion dysregulation may be associated with valence-specific deficits in the propensity to mimic others' expressions of negative emotion.

When exposed to a conspecific displaying an angry facial expression with direct eye contact, one's initial response to the potential threat inherent in such stimuli (Kleinke, 1986) could be a defensive 'freezing' reaction (Ardizzi et al., 2013). Indeed, it has been proposed that fight, flight, and freeze systems are important mediators of one's reaction to potentially aversive/threatening stimuli (Gray and McNaughton, 2000). A freeze response is thought to occur upon perception of a threatening stimulus and disrupts action in service of prioritising resources in order to deal with the potential threat (Algom et al., 2004; McKenna and Sharma, 2004).

The reduced mimicry of angry facial expressions observed in individuals with higher levels of emotion dysregulation could be related to a heightened propensity to exhibit an automatic freezing response, which results in inhibited facial muscle activity for angry, but not happy faces. It is also possible that individuals with a greater capacity for emotion regulation are better able to implicitly regulate these early automatic responses and thus, exhibit greater mimicry of angry expressions than those with less well-regulated responses. Similarly, one could speculate that SFM of angry faces might include some degree of cognitive processing associated with determining whether the perceived other is a friend/foe or more/less

dominant (Wang and Hamilton, 2012). Given that such cognitive processes would be unlikely to occur in the instance of non-threatening happy facial expressions, such an interpretation could potentially explain the results observed in the present study.

It is important to consider the possibility that the observed effects were not driven solely by deficits in mimicry/embodiment processes per se but could also be a reflection of variability in the way in which individuals with higher/lower levels of emotion dysregulation attended to the stimuli. While SFM reflects a relatively automatic and implicit response, it is sensitive to modulation by attentional processes. For example, the magnitude of SFM is increased when individuals have a greater motivation to attend to the emotional features of faces, such as when explicitly instructed to infer the emotional state of depicted targets (Murata et al., 2016). Additionally, activations in brain regions associated with mimicry/embodiment are greater when participants are induced to focus upon the eye region of the face (Hadjikhani et al., 2017). In line with these findings, it is possible that individuals with higher levels of emotion dysregulation were less willing/able to maintain direct contact with the threatening angry faces, which may have reduced the extent to which they exhibited SFM for these expressions.

Finally, it was predicted that SFM magnitude would be negatively related to the use of suppression. However, this study found no evidence for a

significant relationship between any SFM metrics and the habitual use of suppression. It is possible that individuals who use suppression regularly are more likely to do so only in instances where their emotional response exceeds a certain threshold in intensity. Given that the face stimuli used in the current SFM task were unlikely to elicit emotion of a particularly high intensity, it could be that even those who frequently use suppression in their daily lives were no more likely than others to use this strategy during the task. This could explain why SFM showed no relationship with the habitual use of suppression.

3.4.4. Summary, conclusions, and limitations

The results of this study provide new evidence regarding the relationship between cognitive/affective empathy and emotion regulation. By utilising two task measures that assess different abilities relevant to the cognitive component of empathy, this study provides greater specificity regarding the relationship between this dimension of empathy and emotion regulation. Consistent with the results of the trait analysis reported in chapter 2, perspective-taking ability was positively related to adaptive emotion regulation. However, the ability to attribute complex emotional/mental states to targets based on subtle facial cues showed no relationship with measures of trait emotion regulation. Using a task measure of affective empathy (based on SFM), it was observed that mimicry of angry, but not happy, faces was associated with more adaptive emotion regulation.

While the studies reported thus far have utilised a combination of trait and task measures of empathy, emotion regulation has been assessed using only trait measures, which may not necessarily provide an accurate reflection of respondents' regulatory abilities. Subsequent chapters seek to build upon these studies by using more objective task-based measures of different emotion regulation abilities. The next chapter examines the relationship between trait empathy and behavioural tasks that assess implicit emotion regulation abilities.

Chapter 4

Trait empathy and task measures of implicit emotion regulation

4.1. Introduction

The studies reported in prior chapters broadly support the hypothesis that the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy are differentially related to emotion regulation. The trait analysis reported in chapter 2 highlights specific points of divergence between cognitive and affective empathy in terms of their relationship with subscales measuring difficulties with impulse control and maintaining focus on goal-directed behaviours in emotional situations. These abilities are largely dependent on implicit regulatory processes; consequently, the study reported in this chapter examines how these components of trait empathy are associated with performance on two behavioural tasks that assess implicit emotion regulation abilities.

4.1.1. Implicit emotion regulation

Implicit emotion regulation encompasses various regulatory processes that can occur automatically with little or no reliance upon conscious effortful control. Such processes may be enacted automatically in response to an emotional stimulus, running to completion without the need for any explicit regulation intentions or conscious monitoring (Gyurak et al., 2011; Mauss et al., 2007). Implicit emotion regulation can entail the spontaneous implementation of what are often deemed more explicit regulatory strategies, such as reappraisal, which may be enacted without conscious intent or awareness (Yuan et al., 2015). In this study, the focus is upon

implicit regulatory processes that occur at the earliest stages of exposure to an emotional stimulus.

The capacity for emotional stimuli to capture attention in an automatic fashion is well documented (Buschman and Miller, 2007; Carretié, 2014; Öhman et al., 2001). This prioritised attentional orienting is likely mediated by automatic activations in subcortical regions associated with emotional processing, such as the amygdala, which show increased activity in response to emotional stimuli (Breiter et al., 1996; Gamer and Büchel, 2009; Garavan et al., 2001; Killgore and Yurgelun-Todd, 2001; Monk et al., 2003; Whalen et al., 1998).

Prioritised processing of emotional information is in many ways adaptive, particularly in the case of negatively valenced stimuli which could represent a potential threat that should be attended (Hansen and Hansen, 1988; Öhman et al., 2001; Schimmack and Derryberry, 2005). However, there are many instances in which emotional stimuli are entirely irrelevant to one's survival or current goals and represent little more than an unhelpful distraction. Attention reflects a limited capacity system (Kahneman, 1973), and irrelevant emotional distractors may consume the cognitive resources critical for the successful enactment of goal-oriented behaviours. Indeed, prior work highlights the potentially deleterious impact emotional stimuli can have on cognitive control processes (Hare et al., 2005; Jasinska et al., 2012; Padmala et al., 2011; Reeck and Egner, 2011; Tottenham et al., 2011).

Given the fast and spontaneous onset of affective responses, coupled with the high frequency with which one may encounter emotion-inducing stimuli in daily life, the capacity to adaptively regulate the early influence of emotional stimuli/experiences on cognitive control processes is crucial for effective social/cognitive functioning (Blair et al., 2007; Campos et al., 2004; Etkin et al., 2006) and the completion of goal-oriented behaviours (Blair et al., 2007; Taylor and Fragopanagos, 2005).

Evidence suggests that deficits in implicit emotion regulation, such as reduced efficiency in disengaging attention from distracting task-irrelevant emotional stimuli, are associated with increased risk for the development and maintenance of emotion dysregulation and various disorders of affect (Olafsson et al., 2011; Olatunji et al., 2011; Rive et al., 2013). Furthermore, as many explicit regulation processes are reliant upon the efficient action of cognitive control mechanisms (Buhle et al., 2014; Goldin et al., 2008; Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016; Kalisch, 2009; McRae et al., 2012), deficits in early implicit regulatory processes could impact one's capacity to utilise adaptive regulation strategies at a later stage in the emotion generation process (Koster et al., 2011; Morillas-Romero et al., 2015). Thus, it is possible that the different relationships that cognitive and affective empathy share with emotion dysregulation and habitual strategy use are to some extent a reflection of differences in implicit emotion regulation abilities.

4.1.2. Task measures of implicit emotion regulation

A common approach for assessing implicit emotion regulation abilities involves cognitive control tasks wherein performance is compared across conditions in which distracting stimuli are either emotional or nonemotional. Such tasks provide a measure of the extent to which cognitive performance is disrupted by emotional information and are based on the assertion that individuals with greater implicit emotion regulation abilities exhibit reduced emotional interference effects (Etkin et al., 2010; Jackson et al., 2003; Koole and Rothermund, 2011; Zhang and Lu, 2012).

While the term implicit is sometimes used only in reference to paradigms where the processing of emotional information is entirely irrelevant to task performance (Zhang and Lu, 2012), in alignment with Yiend et al. (2008), here the term is used more broadly to refer to tasks in which regulatory processes may be initiated without any explicit instruction or overt intention. In the following subsections, I discuss two paradigms commonly used to assess implicit emotion regulation: The emotional go/nogo (henceforth Emo-GNG) and the emotional Stroop (henceforth Emo-Stroop).

4.1.3. Emo-GNG

The go/nogo is a psychomotor task in which participants must respond rapidly to targets (go stimuli) while withholding responses to non-targets (nogo stimuli) (Rueda et al., 2005). Stimuli are presented in quick

succession, with the task structure weighted in favour of go trials (typically ~75% of trials) in order to induce a prepotent tendency to respond, which must then be inhibited on nogo trials. The go/nogo is considered a reliable measure of response inhibition/behavioural impulsivity, which is indexed by false alarm rate (FAR; i.e. the proportion of nogo trials in which the participant failed to inhibit their response) (Rueda et al., 2005; Tottenham et al., 2011). The Emo-GNG task utilises the same structure but with the addition of emotional and neutral stimuli, which enables the assessment of the extent to which emotional information impacts inhibitory control processes (Albert et al., 2010; Blair et al., 2007; Hare et al., 2005; Tottenham et al., 2011). This task has previously been used to assess variability in implicit emotion regulation abilities in both clinical and typical populations (Hare et al., 2005, 2008; Tottenham et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2016).

Prior studies have demonstrated that emotional nogo stimuli induce a higher FAR relative to neutral nogo stimuli (e.g. Hare et al., 2005; Tottenham et al., 2011). Additionally, some studies have shown that positively valenced nogo stimuli are associated with increased FAR relative to negatively valenced nogos (Hare et al., 2005; though see Tottenham et al., 2011), which is typically attributed to the different approach/avoid tendencies that these positively/negatively valenced stimuli elicit (Chen and Bargh 1999; Marsh et al. 2005; O'Doherty et al., 2003). In addition to FAR it is important to consider participants' hit rate (HR), which reflects their accuracy in responding on go trials. D-prime provides a more holistic

measure of Emo-GNG performance as it enables the assessment of FAR accounting for HR (Tottenham et al., 2011).

4.1.4. Emo-Stroop

The standard version of the Stroop requires participants to respond to the perceptual features of a stimulus (e.g. the colour in which a word is written) while ignoring an irrelevant semantic dimension (e.g. the meaning of the word), which is either congruent or incongruent with the target dimension (Stroop, 1935). An increase in mean response times (RT) for incongruent relative to congruent trials has been consistently reported (see review by MacLeod, 1991).

Numerous emotional variants of the Stroop have been used to assess biased attentional processing and the interaction between emotion and cognition. With reference to the current study, Emo-Stroop tasks have also proven useful in assessing implicit emotion regulation (see review by Buhle et al., 2010). Some emotional variants of the Stroop involve testing performance on a standard Stroop task following exposure to emotional and neutral stimuli (e.g. Hart et al., 2010), others involve comparing speed and accuracy in responding to the colour of emotional and neutral words (Whalen et al., 1998; Richards et al., 1992; Mackay et al., 2004). Many of these Emo-Stroop variants have demonstrated the potential for emotional stimuli to disrupt cognitive control processes relative to neutral stimuli (Etkin et al., 2006; Haas et al., 2006). However, other studies have found evidence of Emo-

Stroop interference effects only in individuals with high trait anxiety (e.g. Kalanthroff et al., 2015; Richards et al., 1992; see also Buhle et al., 2010). Here I focus upon a particular version of the Emo-Stroop, commonly referred to as the word-face Stroop.

The word-face Stroop stimuli consists of an emotional facial expression overlaid with a word, which is either congruent or incongruent with the face in terms of the categorical emotion (e.g. Egner et al., 2008; Etkin et al., 2006; Strand et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2010) and/or valence (e.g. Basgoze, 2015; Haas et al., 2006; Stenberg et al., 1998; Strand et al., 2013). The wordface Stroop is a 2-AFC response task in which participants must categorise a target (e.g. as positive or negative) while ignoring an irrelevant distractor dimension. In some paradigms the target is the face (with the word as a distractor; Egner et al., 2008; Etkin et al., 2006; Hu et al., 2012; Strand et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2010), whereas in others, the word is the target (with the face as a distractor; Başgöze, 2015; Haas et al., 2006; Stenberg et al., 1998; Strand et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2010).

Using various versions of the word-face Stroop, prior studies have demonstrated increased RT on incongruent relative to congruent trials (Etkin et al., 2006; Haas et al., 2006). Given evidence of the automatic processing of both words and faces, such findings are interpreted as demonstrating that an irrelevant emotional stimulus can spontaneously activate associated semantic representations, which interferes with the

processing of incongruent targets and/or facilitates processing of congruent targets (Stenberg et al., 1998).

4.1.5. The current study

It is possible that the different relationships that cognitive and affective empathy share with trait emotion regulation reported in previous chapters are a reflection of differences in implicit emotion regulation abilities. For example, the greater use of adaptive reappraisal strategies and reduced difficulties with impulse control observed in individuals with higher trait cognitive empathy, could be a reflection of a heightened capacity for implicit regulatory processes. One prior study provides some support for this assertion, by demonstrating that performance on a cognitive empathy/ToM task was associated with increased ability to ignore irrelevant distractors in an Emo-Stroop task (Bradford 2015). However, this study did not examine the relationship that affective empathy shared with this task.

Higher affective empathy entails increased reactivity to others' emotions (Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002), which could have a deleterious effect on critical cognitive control processes (Tottenham et al., 2011). A reduced capacity to implicitly regulate such emotional interference could explain the positive relationship between affective empathy and self-reported difficulties in managing emotions and maintaining a focus on goal-oriented behaviours reported in chapter 2. Indeed, prior work has shown that affective empathy

is associated with a heightened sensitivity to emotional stimuli, such as in attentional blink tasks (Kanske et al., 2013). Conversely, in a study using an Emo-Stroop variant it was found that trait empathy, as measured by the QMEE (Mehrabian and Epstein, 1972) and the IRI (Davis, 1983), showed no relationship with the magnitude of Stroop incongruency effects (Hofelich and Preston, 2012).

However, the trait measures used in this prior study may lack sufficient precision to assess the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy without conflating them with related but dissociable constructs, such as sympathy (Reniers et al., 2011). A further limitation of many previous wordface Stroop tasks is the lack of an appropriate control condition, which makes it difficult to determine the extent to which the RT difference between congruent and incongruent conditions is driven by interference (on incongruent trials) or facilitation (on congruent trials). Accordingly, the current study includes a neutral control condition to enable the separation of emotional interference and facilitation effects.

To better understand the divergent relationships that cognitive and affective empathy share with measures of trait emotion regulation, this study examined how these dimensions of empathy are related to implicit emotion regulation abilities. To this end, an Emo-GNG and Emo-Stroop task were used to assess participants' ability to maintain effective cognitive control in the presence of salient emotional distractors. Given evidence of

their ability to evoke affective responses in an automatic fashion, human facial expressions of emotion were used as stimuli (Breiter et al., 1996; Killgore and Yurgelun-Todd, 2001; Morris et al., 1996; Whalen et al., 1998; Hare et al., 2005). As prior work has demonstrated the potential for both positively and negatively valenced stimuli to attract attention and disrupt cognitive processing (Hare et al., 2005; Pratto and John, 1991), both tasks included positive, negative, and neutral facial expressions in order to increase the generalisability of the results.

It was predicted that emotional stimuli would disrupt inhibitory control processes, as indexed by (1) lower D-prime for emotional nogo relative to neutral nogo trials in the Emo-GNG, and (2) increased RT for incongruent relative to neutral control trials in the Emo-Stroop. Critically, it was predicted that trait cognitive and affective empathy would be differentially related to the magnitude of these emotion interference effects. Greater cognitive empathy would be associated with reduced emotional interference and greater affective empathy associated with increased emotional interference. A summary of the hypotheses is presented below.

 D-prime will be lower for the emo-nogo relative to the calm-nogo condition. It is predicted that this emotional interference effect will be negatively related to cognitive empathy and positively related to affective empathy.

2) Emo-Stroop RT will be shorter for congruent trials and longer for incongruent trials, relative to a neutral control condition. It is predicted that the emotion interference effect will be negatively related to cognitive empathy and positively related to affective empathy.

4.2. Emo-GNG task

4.2.1. Participants

Based on a correlation of .29 between affective empathy and the DERS goals subscale reported in chapter 2, an a priori sample size estimation using G*Power 3.1. (Faul et al., 2007) suggested a minimum sample of 72 was required to detect small to moderate effects at an alpha level of p = .05, with power of .80. Ninety-two right handed participants (78 females) were recruited from the undergraduate psychology population at the UOR. All participants completed the Emo-GNG and Emo-Stroop tasks. Participants were recruited through the online research panel and received course credit for participation. The mean age (±SD) was 19.86 (±2.39). Following data quality checks, 13 participants were removed from the Emo-GNG task (see *data reduction and analyses* section for details), leaving a final sample of N = 79 (68 females; mean age ± SD = 19.93 ± 2.61), which was subject to analysis. The QCAE was completed by all participants (see section 2.2.1.2. for further details of this measure). Cronbach's alpha was high for both QCAE subscales ($\alpha_{Affective Empathy} = .79$; $\alpha_{Cognitive Empathy} = .88$).

4.2.2. Materials

Face stimuli were taken from the Nimstim Face Stimulus Set (Tottenham et al., 2012; www.macbrain.org) and comprised photographs of six female (identity numbers: 1, 3, 6, 8, 9, 10) and six male actors (identity numbers: 21, 22, 23, 24, 28, 34). Different male and female actors displaying facial expressions of fear were used for the practice block (identity numbers: 2, 7, 14, 16, 20, 37, 38, 42). Each image was converted to grey-scale with dimensions of 256 x 329 pixels. The facial expressions included in the task were the closed mouth versions of happy, sad, disgusted, and calm (i.e. neutral). These emotions were selected in order to include stimuli depicting expressions of positive, neutral, and negative valence, which were likely to differ in terms of the approach/avoid tendencies they elicit. The same actors were used for each facial expression, and the frequency with which each stimulus was presented was balanced across conditions.

4.2.3. Procedure

Participants completed the Emo-GNG and Emo-Stroop within the same session; the order of task completion was counterbalanced across the sample. The Emo-GNG task lasted approximately 25 minutes. This included a practice block comprising 12 trials, followed by 6 experimental blocks each comprising 48 trials. An emotional target (go) or distractor (nogo) was always paired with a calm target/distractor, such that if an emotional face was the go stimulus, a calm face was the nogo stimulus, and vice versa. To induce a prepotent tendency to respond, 73% (N = 35) of the trials in each

block were go trials, and 27% (N = 13) were nogo trials. Trial frequencies within each block are presented in table 4.1 and a schematic of the trial structure is depicted in figure 4.1. The order in which the different experimental blocks were completed was randomised.

No-Go Stimulus (trial N)		
Calm (13)		
Calm (13)		
Calm (13)		
Нарру (13)		
Sad (13)		
Disgust (13)		

Table 4.1. Block structure and number of trials in the Emo-GNG task

At the start of each block, participants were told which emotion represented the go stimulus and were instructed to respond to these targets by pressing '0' on the keypad with their right index finger. Participants were not told what the nogo expression would be but were instructed to respond only to the target expression and withhold responding for any other expression. The instructions were to respond as quickly as possible to go targets while maintaining accuracy (see appendix F for full instructions).

Stimuli were presented in the centre of the screen for 500 ms at a size of 7.2cm wide 9.2cm high. A white fixation cross positioned centrally atop a

black background was presented during each interstimulus interval (ISI), which was jittered, ranging from 2000 ms - 6000 ms (M±SD = 3708ms ± 1211ms). Following the onset of a stimulus there was a 2000 ms window in which responses were recorded (go trials in which a response was not made within this time window were classed as misses). As in previous Emo-GNG tasks (Durston et al., 2002; Hare et al., 2005), trial order was pseudorandom and parametrically balanced to control for the number of go stimuli preceding each nogo stimulus and to ensure that nogo trials occurred equally across the early, middle, and late stages of a block. Upon completion of a block a holding screen was presented until participants pressed a key to continue.



Fig. 4.1. Schematic of the Emo-GNG task events. This example shows three trials in the calm-happy block; participants must respond as quickly as possible to frequent go (neutral) faces while withholding responses to infrequent nogo (happy) faces.

4.2.4. Data reduction and analyses

Participants with a mean HR or FAR that deviated from the group mean by more than 3*SD were removed as outliers (12 participants). Visual inspection of these data confirmed that these participants had failed to properly follow task instructions in at least one block (e.g. they always/never responded on every trial and/or confused the go/nogo stimuli). Further, one participant was removed as the necessary questionnaire data was incomplete, leaving a final sample of N = 79, which was subject to analysis.

The key index of task performance on the Emo-GNG was D-prime, which was calculated by subtracting the z-transformed FAR from the ztransformed HR. As D-prime calculations cannot be performed for values of 1 (i.e. 100% HR/FAR) or 0 (i.e. 0% HR/FAR), any such values were transformed using the formula: 1/(2N) for values of 0, and 1-1/(2N) for values of 1. D-prime data were analysed using a repeated measures ANOVA with trial type (Emo-NoGo/Calm-NoGo) and emotion (happy, sad, disgust) as within-subjects factors. Greenhouse Geisser corrected values are reported where the assumption of sphericity was not satisfied.

The key metric extracted from this task for the correlation analysis was the difference in mean D-prime between the calm-nogo and emo-nogo conditions (CalmNoGo D-prime - EmoNoGo D-prime). This metric was termed the 'emotion interference effect'. As the different facial expression

pairings were balanced across these two conditions, this metric controls for variability in participants' capacity to discriminate between the calm and emotional faces, providing a measure of the extent to which performance was affected by emotional nogo stimuli.

Bivariate correlations were used to examine the relationship between trait cognitive/affective empathy and the emotion interference effect. Normality of each variable was assessed using Kolmogorov Smirnov tests. Spearman's rho is reported for correlations where any variable distribution showed significant deviation from normality. To ensure that the observed results were not unduly influenced by a small number of outlier cases, the same analyses reported in the results section were conducted following the removal of univariate and bivariate outlier cases (see appendix F). Furthermore, while not related to the primary aims of this study, the relationship between the Emo-GNG, Emo-Stroop, and ERQ were examined (see appendix F).

4.2.5. Results

A repeated measures ANOVA demonstrated a significant main effect of target, F(1, 78) = 96.60, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .55$, and emotion, F(1.83, 142.88) = 70.91, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .48$. A significant target by emotion interaction was also observed, F(2, 156) = 32.52, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .29$.

Effects of target condition

Post-hoc pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni adjustment revealed that D-prime was significantly higher for calm (M ± SD = 2.76 ± 0.51) relative to emotional (M ± SD = 2.19 ± 0.07) nogo stimuli (p < .001) (fig. 4.2, left panel). Regardless of the emotion, D-prime was always higher for blocks where the nogo stimulus was a calm face: Disgust (calm-nogo M ± SD = 3.09 ± 0.57 ; emo-nogo M ± SD = 2.72 ± 0.72 , *p* < .001), happy (calm-nogo M ± SD = $2.92 \pm$ 0.61; emo-nogo M ± SD = 1.83 ± 0.94 , *p* < .001), sad (calm-nogo M ± SD = 2.277 ± 0.72 ; emo-nogo M ± SD = 2.01 ± 0.67 *p* = .003) (fig. 4.2, right panel).



Fig. 4.2. Mean D-prime for Emo-NoGo and Calm-NoGo conditions on the left. Mean D-prime for Emo-NoGo and Calm-NoGo trials for each emotion condition on the right. Error bars depict ± 1 within-subjects SEM.

Effects of emotion and interaction with target condition

Regardless of whether the nogo stimulus was calm or emotional, D-prime

was higher for disgust (M \pm SD = 2.91 \pm 0.58) relative to happy (M \pm SD = 2.37

 \pm 0.63, *p* < .001) and sad (M \pm SD = 2.14 \pm 0.59, *p* < .001). D-prime for happy blocks was higher than for sad (*p* = .004). To better understand the target by emotion interaction and whether the specific emotion had an influence on task performance, the D-prime difference (calm-nogo minus emo-nogo conditions) was compared across emotions. This metric reflects differences in the degree of interference for emo-nogo stimuli while controlling for any variability in the discriminability between the emotional and the calm faces. Bonferroni adjusted pairwise comparisons revealed that the difference between the calm-nogo and emo-nogo conditions was greater for happy faces (M \pm SD = 1.09 \pm 0.96) relative to disgust (M \pm SD = 0.38 \pm 0.56) (*p* < .001), and sad (M \pm SD = 0.25 \pm .75) (*p* < .001). There was no difference between the disgust and sad conditions (*p* = .66).

Emo-GNG emotion interference effect correlations with trait empathy Trait affective empathy was positively correlated with the GNG emotion interference effect, r(77) = .34, p = .003. Cognitive empathy was not significantly related to the GNG emotion interference effect, rho(77) = .14, p = .22. The difference between these correlations did not reach significance, Steiger's Z = -1.58, p = .11. (fig. 4.3).



Fig. 4.3. Scatterplot showing the relationship between z-transformed cognitive/affective empathy and the GNG task emotion interference effect (calm-nogo D-prime minus emo-nogo D-prime). Affective empathy (red) showed a significant positive correlation with the emotion interference effect; cognitive empathy (blue) was not significantly related to the emotion interference effect.

Given that affective empathy has been found to be associated with improved emotion discrimination under conditions of brief stimulus exposure (Kang et al., 2017), it is possible that the correlation between affective empathy and the emotion interference effect could have been driven by a higher D-prime in the calm-nogo condition (i.e. improved HR when responding to emotional go targets). To test whether the observed correlation between affective empathy and the emotion interference effect may have been driven by an increased performance in the calm-nogo (emo-go) condition, rather than increased interference in the emo-nogo condition, the relationship between affective/cognitive empathy and D-prime in the calm-nogo and emo-nogo conditions were examined individually.

A negative correlation between affective empathy and D-prime in the emonogo condition was on the threshold of significance, r(77) = -.22, p = .05. Affective empathy showed no relationship with D-prime in the calm-nogo condition, r(77) = .08, p = .50. These results suggest that the correlation between affective empathy and the emotion interference effect was driven by increased emotional interference in the emo-nogo condition, rather than improved performance in the calm-nogo condition. Cognitive empathy was not significantly related to D-prime in either the emo-nogo, rho(77) =-.13, p = .26, or calm-nogo condition, rho(77) = -.02, p = .90.

4.3. Emo-Stroop task

4.3.1. Participants

The same 92 participants who completed the Emo-GNG task also completed the Emo-Stroop. Nine participants were removed following data quality checks (see *data reduction and analyses* section for details), leaving a final sample of N = 83 (69 female; mean age \pm SD = 19.93 \pm 2.50), which was subject to analysis. Cronbach's alpha for both dimensions of the QCAE were high within this sample ($\alpha_{Affective Empathy} = .83$; $\alpha_{Cognitive Empathy} = .90$).

4.3.2. Materials

Face stimuli were taken from the Nimstim Face Stimulus Set (Tottenham et al., 2012; www.macbrain.org) and comprised the same male and female actors used in the Emo-GNG (see section 4.2.2. for details). The facial expressions used in the Emo-Stroop were angry, happy, and calm (i.e. neutral). Each image was converted to grey-scale, with dimensions of 256 x 329 pixels. Different actors (identities: 7, 14, 20, 38) and emotional facial expressions (fearful) were used for the practice trials. For each face the word 'angry' or 'happy' was superimposed over the bridge of the nose so as not to obscure any features, in capitalized arial font at a size of 30 with 10% transparency. The stimuli were presented centrally on the monitor at a size of 13 cm high by 10 cm wide.
4.3.3. Procedure

The Emo-Stroop task took approximately 15 minutes to complete. This comprised 16 practice trials, followed by three experimental blocks each comprising 48 trials. The blocks were emotion specific (i.e. angry face, happy face, calm face), and contained an equal number of trials in which the word was 'happy' or 'angry'. Trial and block orders were randomized. The task was 2-AFC with participants instructed to respond by pressing the 1 or 2 keys on the keyboard with the index and middle finger of their right hand depending upon whether the word was positive (i.e. 'happy') or negative (i.e. 'angry') (button mappings were counterbalanced across the sample) (see appendix F for full instructions).

Each stimulus was presented for 500 ms, followed by a fixation screen comprising a white cross presented centrally atop a black background. The duration of the fixation screen was jittered, ranging from 4500 ms - 6000 ms ($M \pm SD = 5250 \text{ ms} \pm 565 \text{ ms}$). Responses were recorded within a 2500 ms window, which incorporated the 500 ms stimulus presentation and 2000 ms of the post-stimulus fixation screen. Any trials in which the participant failed to respond within this time window were classed as incorrect. Details of each condition are presented in table 4.2 and a schematic of the Emo-Stroop trial structure is depicted in figure 4.4.

Table 4.2.

Face (trial N)	Word (trial N)	Trial type
Нарру (48)	Нарру (24)	Congruent
	Angry (24)	Incongruent
Angry (48)	Нарру (24)	Incongruent
	Angry (24)	Congruent
Calm (48)	Нарру (24)	Control
	Angry (24)	Control

Block structure and trial numbers for the Emo-Stroop conditions





Fig. 4.4. Schematic of trial events in the Emo-Stroop. This figure depicts examples of a congruent and an incongruent trial in the angry face block.

4.3.4. Data reduction and analyses

An unexpected error in the task programme resulted in data for a significant number of trials being lost for two participants; these cases were removed prior to analysis. Two participants who failed to complete the necessary questionnaire data were removed. To ensure data quality, overall mean accuracy was assessed in order to identify any participants who had failed to correctly follow the task instructions. Participants with an overall mean accuracy more than 3*SD below the group mean (< 55.35% accuracy) were removed (5 cases), leaving a final sample of N = 83, which was subject to analysis. Incorrect trials (mean number of trials removed per participant = 12.28, SD = 8.07) or trials in which the RT deviated from the group mean by more than 3*SD were removed (mean number of trials removed per participant = 8.08, SD = 10.65). The mean number of trials per block following all removals was 41.21 (SD = 4.76).

The dependent variable in the Emo-Stroop was RT for correct trials. These data were analysed using a repeated measures ANOVA, with face (angry/happy/calm) and word (angry/happy) as within-subjects factors. Greenhouse Geisser corrected values are reported where the assumption of sphericity was not satisfied. Given the inclusion of a neutral (calm face) control condition, this paradigm enabled the separate assessment of interference (resulting from incongruent task-irrelevant emotional faces) and facilitation (resulting from congruent task-irrelevant emotional faces) effects. These metrics were calculated by subtracting the mean RT for the

neutral control condition from the mean RT for the incongruent condition (emotion interference effect) and subtracting the mean congruent RT from the mean neutral control RT (emotion facilitation effect).

Bivariate correlations were used to examine the relationship between trait empathy and the Emo-Stroop task metrics. Normality of each variable was assessed using Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Spearman's rho was used in instances where any of the variable distributions deviated significantly from normality. All tests were two-tailed, with a significance threshold of p < .05. To ensure that the observed results were not unduly influenced by a small number of outlier cases, the same analyses reported in the results section were conducted following the removal of univariate and bivariate outlier cases (see appendix F).

4.3.5. Results

Mean accuracy was 91.47% (SD = 5.6), which confirms that participants were able to complete the task as instructed. A repeated measures ANOVA examining the effect of face (angry/happy/calm) and word (angry/happy) on the dependent variable RT, demonstrated a significant main effect of word, F(1, 82) = 19.05, p < .001, partial η^2 = .19, but no main effect of face, F(2, 164) = .13, p = .88, partial η^2 = .002. The expected face by word interaction was at trend-level, F(2, 164) = 2.31, p = .10, partial η^2 = .03. Post-hoc analyses

Post-hoc pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni adjustment revealed that RT was significantly lower for the word happy ($M \pm SD = 590.66 \text{ ms} \pm 94.98 \text{ ms}$) compared with the word angry ($M \pm SD = 604.16 \text{ ms} \pm 94.38 \text{ ms}$) (p < .001). While the word by face interaction did not reach significance, the data were suggestive of some differences in the magnitude of the happy word RT advantage across the different face conditions. This was explored further using post-hoc pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni adjustment.

In the calm face condition, RT for the word happy ($M \pm SD = 593.44 \text{ ms} \pm 101.22 \text{ ms}$) was significantly shorter than for the word angry ($M \pm SD = 603.64 \text{ ms} \pm 100.28 \text{ ms}$) (p = .04). Similarly, in the happy face condition, RT for the word happy ($M \pm SD = 586.80 \text{ ms} \pm 102.06 \text{ ms}$) was significantly shorter than for the word angry ($M \pm SD = 608.65 \pm 101.07 \text{ ms}$) (p < .001). However, in the angry face condition, the difference between RT for the word happy ($M \pm SD = 591.75 \text{ ms} \pm 98.13 \text{ ms}$) and the word angry ($M \pm SD = 600.19 \text{ ms} \pm 98.64 \text{ ms}$) did not reach significance (p = .11) (fig. 4.5, left panel).

In sum, while the predicted face by word interaction did not reach significance, there was some evidence of emotional interference effects, which reduced the positive word RT advantage in the angry face condition. To test more directly for interference and facilitation effects, paired samples t-tests were used to compare RT across the congruent, incongruent, and control conditions. No significant differences were

observed between the control condition and the congruent (t(82) = 1.15, p = .26) or incongruent (t(82) = .34, p = .73) conditions. The difference between the congruent and incongruent conditions was approaching significance, t(82) = 1.816, p = .07 (fig. 4.5, right panel).



Fig. 4.5. Mean RT across each condition in the Emo-Stroop task (left panel). Mean RT for the incongruent, congruent, and control conditions (right panel). Error bars depict ± 1 within-subjects SEM.

Emo-Stroop task correlations with trait empathy

Trait cognitive empathy was negatively correlated with the Emo-Stroop emotion interference effect, rho(81) = -.24, p = .03. In contrast, affective empathy showed no relationship with the emotion interference effect, rho(81) = .003, p = .98. These correlations were significantly different, Steiger's Z = -2.15, p = .03 (fig. 4.6).



EmoStroop_Emotion_Interference_Effect

Fig. 4.6. Scatterplot showing the relationship between z-transformed cognitive/affective empathy and the Emo-Stroop emotion interference effect (incongruent RT minus control RT). The emotion interference effect showed a significant negative relationship with cognitive empathy (blue) but was not significantly related to affective empathy (red).

To test whether the reduced emotional interference associated with higher cognitive empathy was driven by a 'gross-level' ignorance of the taskirrelevant emotional faces, which would also reduce the potential for any facilitation effects on congruent trials, the relationship between trait empathy and the emotion facilitation effect was examined. Cognitive empathy showed a trend-level positive relationship with the emotion facilitation effect, rho(81) = .17, p = .13. Affective empathy showed no relationship with the emotion facilitation effect, r(81) = -.03, p = .80. These correlations were not significantly different, Steiger's Z = 1.55, p = .12.

4.4. Discussion

4.4.1. Summary of findings

This study examined the relationship between trait empathy and implicit emotion regulation abilities, as indexed by the magnitude of emotional interference in an Emo-GNG and Emo-Stroop task. The results of both tasks provide some support for the hypothesis that the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy are differentially related to implicit regulation abilities. Affective empathy was associated with increased emotional interference in the Emo-GNG; however, no relationship was observed for cognitive empathy. In the Emo-Stroop task, cognitive empathy was associated with reduced emotional interference, but no relationship was observed for affective empathy. Taken together, these results provide some support for the hypothesis that cognitive empathy is positively associated with implicit emotion regulation abilities, whereas affective empathy is negatively associated with implicit emotion regulation abilities.

4.4.2. Emo-GNG task

The results of the Emo-GNG task are consistent with prior studies that have reported decreased performance for emotional relative to neutral nogo stimuli (Hare et al., 2005, 2008; Tottenham et al., 2011). Using a measure of D-prime, it was found that participants made significantly more errors (i.e. increased FAR and/or decreased HR) on trials where the nogo stimuli were emotional faces, relative to trials in which the nogo stimuli were calm (i.e. neutral) faces. Furthermore, a significant difference in the magnitude of this emotion interference effect was observed for happy facial expressions relative to expressions of disgust and sadness.

While some prior studies found that differently valenced nogo stimuli disrupt task performance to a similar extent (Tottenham et al., 2011), the findings of the present study are aligned with those reported by Hare et al. (2005), who found evidence of increased emotional interference for positive compared to negative emotional facial expressions in an Emo-GNG task. Consistent with the assertion that positive stimuli are associated with an approach tendency and negative stimuli with an avoid tendency (Hare et al., 2005), the present findings suggest that withholding impulsive responses to happy faces is more difficult than withholding responses to disgusted and sad faces. In sum, the results suggest that the Emo-GNG provides a useful measure of implicit emotion regulation ability, capturing processes associated with the capacity to maintain inhibitory control in the presence

of salient emotional distractors, and overcoming the implicit action tendencies evoked by positive and negative emotional stimuli.

Critical to the hypotheses of the study, the magnitude of the Emo-GNG emotion interference effect was positively related to trait affective empathy. This is possibly a reflection of increased spontaneous facial mimicry (SFM) and arousal in response to emotional facial expressions experienced by individuals with higher affective empathy (Rueckert et al., 2011; Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002), which results in greater difficulty regulating impulsive behaviours in the presence of emotional distractors.

Given evidence for a relationship between cognitive empathy and inhibitory control processes (Carlson et al., 2004; Dennis et al., 2009; Frith and Frith, 2003; Goel et al., 1995; Saxe et al., 2004), it was predicted that higher cognitive empathy would be associated with reduced emotional interference in this task. However, the observed results did not support this hypothesis, as no relationship between trait cognitive empathy and the Emo-GNG emotion interference effect was observed. One possible explanation for the failure to support this hypothesis is that trait measures may assess this dimension of empathy quite broadly, measuring not just perspective-taking, but also other abilities, such as emotion recognition, which may not be so reliant upon cognitive control processes.

4.4.3. Emo-Stroop task

Consistent with previous studies that utilised face-word Emo-Stroop tasks, the present study found evidence for an effect of word valence on response times, with significantly longer RTs observed for the word "angry" relative to the word "happy" (e.g. Stenberg et al., 1998). While significant interference or facilitation effects were not observed in the present study, there was some trend-level evidence of these effects, with a slight RT increase for incongruent trials and a slight RT decrease for congruent trials relative to a neutral control condition.

The failure of these effects to reach significance could be due to the relatively automatic level at which words are processed, which may have attenuated the magnitude of any potential interference/facilitation effects induced by the task-irrelevant faces (Lei et al., 2017). While some prior studies have found evidence to suggest that task-irrelevant faces can influence the processing of the target words (Sternberg et al., 1998), other studies suggest that words are subject to prioritised processing over faces (Ovaysikia et al., 2011), which could explain why the emotional faces did not have a significant impact on RT for classifying the target words.

In relation to the main hypotheses of the study, the results of the Emo-Stroop provide further support for the hypothesis that cognitive and affective empathy share different relationships with implicit emotion regulation. Trait cognitive empathy was negatively correlated with the Emo-Stroop emotion interference effect, which suggests that individuals with higher levels of cognitive empathy were more efficient in regulating the potential interference caused by the task-irrelevant emotional faces. Furthermore, trait cognitive empathy showed a small positive trend-level relationship with the emotion facilitation effect. This suggests that the observed reduction in emotional interference was not achieved by a more "gross-level" ignorance toward the task-irrelevant faces, which would also have inhibited their potential to facilitate target word processing on congruent trials. The negative relationship between cognitive empathy and emotional interference in the Emo-Stroop is in contrast to the findings of the Emo-GNG, where no relationship with cognitive empathy was observed.

Contrary to expectation, affective empathy showed no relationship with the emotion interference effect in the Emo-Stroop task. It was expected that the heightened reactivity to others' emotions in individuals with greater affective empathy (Rueckert et al., 2011; Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002) would have resulted in increased interference (on incongruent trials) and facilitation (on congruent trials) effects. However, neither of these relationships were observed in the present study. This is in contrast to the results of the Emo-GNG task, where a positive correlation between affective empathy and the emotion interference effect was observed.

The divergent relationships that cognitive and affective empathy show with the Emo-GNG and Emo-Stroop could suggest that these tasks are assessing slightly different processes related to implicit emotion regulation. Indeed, it has been asserted that GNG tasks assess response inhibition whereas the Stroop assesses conflict resolution, which reflect closely related but dissociable aspects of cognitive control (Nee et al., 2007; Swick et al., 2011). In the present study, the metrics of emotional interference from each of these tasks were not significantly related to one another (see appendix F), which is in alignment with prior work demonstrating low convergence and different developmental trajectories for Stroop and GNG/stop-signal tasks (Huizinga et al., 2006; Morooka et al., 2012).

Additionally, a speculative explanation for the divergent findings observed in the present study relates to differences in the task-relevance of the emotional face stimuli in these tasks. Given that the faces in the Emo-Stroop were always task-irrelevant, it could be that participants were able to focus their attention more fixedly on the target words. Such an approach would likely have attenuated the potential influence of the emotional faces, which could explain why participants' levels of trait affective empathy did not modulate these task effects. As participants were required to actively attend to the faces in order to perform successfully on the Emo-GNG task, such an approach would not have been possible. This could explain why higher affective empathy was associated with increased emotional interference in this task but not in the Emo-Stroop.

4.4.4. Summary, conclusions, and limitations

This study builds upon the findings of previous chapters by examining the relationship between cognitive/affective empathy and tasks that provide objective performance-based measures of implicit emotion regulation abilities. While some contrasting results were observed across the two tasks, taken together they provide evidence to suggest that higher trait cognitive empathy is associated with improved implicit emotion regulation, whereas higher affective empathy is associated with a diminished ability to regulate early emotional influences on cognitive control processes.

It is important to highlight some potential limitations of the present study. Firstly, some of the components assessed by these task measures are arguably associated more with emotional reactivity rather than emotion regulation per se. Thus, one limitation of these tasks is that it is difficult to determine the extent to which differences in the magnitude of emotional interference were driven by variability in reactivity or regulation, which is a pervasive issue in the field of emotion regulation. Given that regulatory processes can act implicitly and exert an influence at the earliest stages of an affective response (Gross, 2015; Gyurak et al., 2011), it is often difficult to highlight the precise point at which reactivity ends and regulation begins (see Gross and Feldman-Barret, 2011 for review).

In acknowledgment of the limitations of the current study, the following two chapters utilise task measures of emotion regulation that enable greater clarity regarding the delineation between emotional reactivity and emotion regulation. Building upon the findings of chapters 2 and 3, which found some evidence of a relationship between cognitive empathy and reappraisal use, the next chapter tests the relationship between trait empathy and two tasks that assess the ability to downregulate negative emotions using reappraisal.

Chapter 5

Trait empathy and task measures of reappraisal

5.1. Introduction

In chapter 2 it was observed that the cognitive and affective dimensions of trait empathy share different relationships with the habitual use of reappraisal. Reappraisal use was positively associated with cognitive empathy but showed no relationship with affective empathy. The trait measure used in that study assessed only respondents' propensity to use reappraisal, meaning it is not possible on the basis of those results to determine whether higher cognitive empathy is associated with improved reappraisal ability per se. To my knowledge, no studies to date have examined the relationship between empathy and task measures of reappraisal. Across two studies this chapter examines the relationship between trait empathy and tasks that assess participants' ability to downregulate negative emotions based on implicit (study 1) and explicit (study 2) reappraisal.

5.1.1. Task measures of reappraisal

Reappraisal refers to a change in the meaning adhered to an emotioneliciting stimulus or event in order to lessen (or increase) its emotional impact (Gross, 1998, 2002, 2015). The majority of task-based measures of reappraisal assess what is often referred to as explicit (or instructed) reappraisal. In such tasks, participants are specifically instructed to use reappraisal to modify their emotional experience (e.g. Ochsner et al., 2004a). This approach and its variants have demonstrated a reliable influence of reappraisal on self-reported emotional experience, psychophysiological responses, and neural activation in regions associated with emotional processing and self-regulation (Jackson et al., 2000; Kalisch, 2009; Ochsner and Gross, 2008; Ray et al., 2010).

While such tasks may capture abilities relevant to real-world situations in which the individual exerts a conscious effort to implement reappraisal, day-to-day emotion regulation also involves more implicit and unintentional processes (Gyurak et al., 2011; Mauss et al., 2007). For example, extrinsic contextual information can influence one's appraisals and emotional responses to a stimulus in a relatively implicit manner, without any conscious goal or intention to engage in reappraisal (Berkman and Lieberman, 2009; Mocaiber et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2017).

Some studies have adopted paradigms that assess these more implicitly evoked forms of reappraisal. Such tasks typically involve pairing emotional stimuli with brief descriptions (or frames) that provide a context for interpreting what is happening (e.g. Foti and Hajcak, 2008; Wang et al., 2017). In a seminal early study examining the effects of contextual framing on emotional responses, Lazarus and Alfert (1964) demonstrated how selfreport and physiological indices of stress can be modulated by concurrent auditory descriptions that influence the observer's interpretation of stressinducing videos. More recent studies provide further evidence of the modulatory effect of contextual framing on emotional responding (Dennis

and Hajcak, 2009; Foti and Hajcak, 2008; Kim et al., 2004; MacNamara et al., 2009; Mocaiber et al., 2010, 2011; Wang et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2012). In contrast to explicit reappraisal paradigms, participants are not given any overt instruction to regulate their emotions in framing tasks and are required to simply attend to the stimuli in each condition. Thus, framing tasks are distinct from explicit reappraisal tasks in that their influence on emotional experience is driven largely by extrinsic (i.e. arising outside the individual) rather than intrinsic (i.e. arising from within the individual) factors, and they are thought to capture reappraisal of a more implicit and unintentional nature (Foti and Hajcak, 2008; Mocaiber et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2017).

5.1.2. The current studies

In this chapter, I report two studies that examined the relationship between trait empathy and the magnitude of negative emotion downregulation in an implicit (study 1) and explicit (study 2) reappraisal task. I use the term "explicit" to refer to instances in which reappraisal was driven by a deliberate attempt to alter one's emotional experience. I use the term "implicit" to refer to less deliberate forms of reappraisal, where one's emotional response was influenced by extrinsic factors without the necessity for any conscious intent to engage in reappraisal (Berkman and Lieberman, 2009).

Based on the results of previous chapters and the extant theoretical and empirical work discussed in the introductory chapter, it was predicted that cognitive, but not affective, empathy would be positively related to the magnitude of emotion downregulation in an implicit and explicit reappraisal task. A summary of the study hypotheses is presented below.

- Cognitive empathy will show a positive relationship with metrics of regulation magnitude in an implicit and explicit reappraisal task.
- Affective empathy will show no relationship with metrics of regulation magnitude in an implicit and explicit reappraisal task.

5.2. Study 1: Trait empathy and implicit reappraisal

This first study examines how variability in trait empathy relates to the implicit reappraisal of negative images driven by preceding sentence frames that provide a context for interpreting what is happening in the depicted situation. Implicit reappraisal was operationalised as the difference in ratings of self-reported emotional experience (valence) between negative images paired with descriptive framing sentences (which simply described the image content, thereby providing a baseline measure of participants' emotional response) and negative images paired with neutralising framing sentences (which aimed to reduce the unpleasantness of participants'

appraisals of the images). It was predicted that the implicit reappraisal task metric would be positively related to trait cognitive empathy but show no relationship with affective empathy.

5.2.1. Participants

Given that implicit reappraisal is less reliant than explicit reappraisal upon cognitive control processes also associated with cognitive empathy, it was expected that the relationship between trait empathy and reappraisal ability would be of a similar magnitude to the effects reported for trait reappraisal use in chapter 2. An a priori sample size estimation using G*Power 3.1. (Faul et al., 2007) suggested that a minimum sample of 82 was required to detect effects of a small to moderate magnitude with power of .80, at an alpha level of p = .05. Ninety-two participants (73 females) were recruited from the undergraduate population at the UOR to take part in a one-hour study on "mood and cognitive performance". All participants had normal or corrected to normal vision, and the mean age was 20.24 years (SD = 2.21; range = 18-35). Participants were recruited via the university online participant pool and were awarded course credit for participation.

5.2.2. Materials

Empathy. Trait empathy was measured using the QCAE (Reniers et al., 2011). Within this sample, both sub-scales of the QCAE demonstrated high internal consistency ($\alpha_{\text{Cognitive Empathy}} = .87$; $\alpha_{\text{Affective Empathy}} = .84$).

Affective images. Forty images (20 negative. 20 neutral) were selected from the International Affective Picture System (IAPS) database (Lang et al., 2005). All images were of a social nature, which was defined broadly as including a sentient target (or targets), for which one could infer an emotional/cognitive state and/or experience an emotional reaction in response to observing the target's situation. A range of IAPS image types were used, including: Mutilation/injury, assault/attack, soldier, firefighter, car accident, scared/sick child, drugs, burn victim (negative); neuman/woman/child, office, bakers, factory worker, harvest (neutral).

Based on the normative ratings provided in the IAPS manual (Lang et al., 2005), independent samples t-tests demonstrated that the negative images had a significantly lower mean valence ($M_{valence} = 2.35$, SD = 0.41) and significantly higher mean arousal ($M_{arousal} = 5.67$, SD = 0.91), compared to the neutral images ($M_{valence} = 5.25$, SD_{valence} = 0.56; $M_{arousal} = 3.56$, SD_{arousal} = 0.49), (valence, t(38) = 18.58, p < .001; arousal, t(38) = 9.14, p < .001).

Reappraisal framing sentences. Forty framing sentences were used (20 neutralising, 20 descriptive), which were taken from prior studies on reappraisal framing where possible. Seven sentences were taken from Foti and Hajcak (2008), two of which were edited slightly to make the context less ambiguous. Thirty-two sentences were taken from an unpublished study conducted by collaborators and one new sentence was created to fit

the current image set (see appendix G for all negative and neutral IAPS image numbers with accompanying framing sentences). An independent samples t-test confirmed that the different sentence types did not differ in terms of word count ($M_{descriptive} = 8.6$, $SD_{descriptive} = 1.79$; $M_{neutralising} = 8.7$, $SD_{neutralising} = 1.84$), t(38) = .26, p = .80.

All participants saw the same 40 images in block 1 (freeview condition). Half of the neutral images from block 1 were shown again in block 2 with an accompanying descriptive framing sentence. The ten neutral images presented in block 2 were counterbalanced across the sample. Based on the normative IAPS ratings (Lang et al., 2005), an independent samples t-test demonstrated that the different neutral image sets shown in block 2 did not differ significantly in valence, t(18) = .94, p = .36, or arousal, t(18) = .67, p = .60, .51. For block 2, two sets of 10 images were created from the 20 negative images shown in block 1. These negative image sets were matched based on the image category (e.g. injury, drugs etc.), complexity, and the age, race, and number of depicted individuals. Based on the normative ratings (Lang et al., 2005), independent samples t-tests showed that these two negative image sets did not differ significantly in terms of valence ($M_{set1} = 2.33$, SD_{set1} = 0.45; M_{set2} = 2.37, SD_{set2} = 0.39) or arousal (M_{set1} = 5.65, SD_{set1} = 0.62; M_{set2} = 5.70, $SD_{set2} = 1.16$; valence, t(18) = .20, p = .85; arousal, t(18) = .12, p = .91. In block 2, half of the negative images were paired with descriptive sentences and half with neutralising sentences; image-sentence pairings were counterbalanced across the sample.

5.2.3. Procedure

Participants read the information sheet and provided written consent to participate. All testing was completed in isolation, in a distraction-free environment. Participants were sat at an approximate viewing distance of 60cm from the monitor, which had a refresh rate of 60Hz and ran the task at a resolution of 600 x 800. The implicit reappraisal framing task was completed as part of a larger battery, which took approximately one hour in total. The task consisted of two blocks comprising 70 trials in total (Block 1: 20 negative, 20 neutral images; Block 2: 20 negative, 10 neutral images), and lasted on average approximately 20 minutes. While of primary interest were the negative image ratings across the different framing conditions, neutral images were included as a manipulation check and as a means of slowing habituation to negative images.

Participants were informed that they would view a series of images and were asked to report after each "how unpleasant/pleasant they felt in response to the image" (see appendix G for full instructions). Ratings were made using the keyboard and a 1-9 bipolar scale was used, where: 1 = extremely unpleasant, 5 = neutral, 9 = extremely pleasant. While no positive images were used in the task, a bipolar valence scale covering the range from unpleasant to pleasant was used to maintain consistency with ratings scales used in previous studies (Foti and Hajcak, 2008; MacNamara et al., 2009) and to account for the possibility that the neutralising reappraisal frames could result in the images being appraised as more

positive/pleasant than neutral. Participants were asked to provide honest ratings based on their "initial reaction" upon viewing each image. The images in each block were presented in a randomised order. Block 1 trials followed the same sequence as those in block 2 (depicted in fig. 5.1), except there was no framing sentence event between the initial fixation and image presentation.

Prior to commencement of block 2, participants were allowed to take a short break. They were then presented with an instruction screen informing them that in the next block each image would be preceded by a "sentence that provides some context for what is happening in the image". At no point prior to or during the testing session was there any reference to emotion regulation. Block 2 consisted of the same 20 negative images from block 1, with half preceded by a descriptive framing sentence and the other half preceded by a neutralising framing sentence. The 10 neutral images presented in block 2 were all preceded by a descriptive framing sentence. The term reappraisal implies a process of altering one's interpretation of a situation after an initial appraisal has been formed. While the framing sentences preceded the images in block 2, participants had already viewed and formed an appraisal of the images during the freeview condition (block 1). As any change in the intensity of negative experience elicited by the images would rely upon participants altering their original appraisals, this task is best defined as a measure of implicit reappraisal, rather than what is sometimes referred to as 'pre-appraisal' (Matarazzo et al., 2014).



Fig. 5.1. Schematic of trial events during block 2 of the implicit reappraisal task. Each trial consisted of the following events: 1) white screen with black central fixation cross; 2) neutralising or descriptive framing sentence; 3) IAPS image (neg or neu); 4) white screen with centrally presented rating scale (1-9); 5) white screen with black central fixation cross (1000ms). The image shown above was selected from the OASIS images set (Kurdi et al., 2017) as a representative example and was not one of those used in the task.

5.2.4. Data reduction & analyses

Two participants were removed prior to analysis for failing to correctly follow task instructions, leaving a final sample of N = 90. The key metric of implicit reappraisal was the extent to which participants reported a decreased negative emotional response to negative images paired with neutralising framing sentences (NegNEU condition) relative to negative images paired with descriptive framing sentences (NegDES condition). This metric was termed 'implicit reappraisal' and was calculated by subtracting the mean NegDES rating from the mean NegNEU rating. As such, higher implicit reappraisal scores reflect a greater reduction in unpleasant experience as a result of the neutralising framing sentences. This metric provides a measure of the extent to which the extrinsic framing sentence type influenced participants' emotional reaction to the negative images, while controlling for the intrinsic valence of the stimulus.

Separate paired samples t-tests were used to examine the effects of image (negative, neutral) and sentence frame (neutralising, descriptive) on self-reported valence ratings. Individual differences were examined using bivariate correlations testing the relationship between the implicit reappraisal metric and trait cognitive/affective empathy. Normality of each variable was assessed using Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Spearman's Rho is reported for correlations where any of the variable distributions deviated significantly from normality. All correlations are reported as two-tailed with a significance threshold of p < .05. To ensure that the observed results were not unduly influenced by a small number of outlier cases, the same analyses reported in the results section were conducted following the removal of univariate and bivariate outlier cases (see appendix G).

5.2.5. Results

5.2.5.1. Implicit reappraisal task

Block 1 valence ratings for negative images (M = 2.49, SD = .77) were significantly lower (i.e. more negative) than for neutral images (M = 5.58, SD = .60), t(89) = -27.94, p < .001. Valence ratings in the NegNEU condition (M = 4.38, SD = .97) were significantly less negative than in the control NegDES condition (M = 2.92, SD = .77), t(89) = 15.17, p < .001 (fig. 5.2), which suggests that the context-framing had the expected effect on self-reported emotional experience.



Fig. 5.2. Mean valence ratings for each condition in the implicit reappraisal task (1 = extremely unpleasant, 5 = neutral, 9 = extremely pleasant). In block 1, negative images (Neg) were associated with more negative emotional experience relative to neutral images (Neu). In block 2, negative images paired with a neutralising framing sentence (NegNEU) showed reduced negative (more neutral) experience relative to the baseline condition in which negative images were paired with descriptive framing sentences (NegDes). Error bars depict ±1 within-subjects SEM.

Relationship between trait empathy and implicit reappraisal

Trait cognitive empathy showed no relationship with the implicit reappraisal metric, r(88) = -.06, p = .60. However, a significant positive correlation was observed between affective empathy and the implicit reappraisal metric, rho(88) = .33, p = .002. This suggests that higher affective empathy was associated with reduced negative/more neutral ratings of negative images after providing a neutralising framing context. These two correlations were significantly different, Steiger's Z = -3.22, p = .001 (fig. 5.3).



Fig. 5.3. Scatterplot showing the relationship between the implicit reappraisal task metric (NegDES - NegNEU condition valence ratings) and Z-transformed trait cognitive/affective empathy (QCAE). Affective empathy (red) was positively correlated with implicit reappraisal (i.e. enhanced reduction in self-reported negative experience for negative images paired with a neutralising framing sentence, relative to negative images paired with a descriptive framing sentence). Trait cognitive empathy (blue) showed no relationship with implicit reappraisal.

5.2.6. Study 1 discussion

The finding of a significant reduction in self-reported unpleasant experience for negative stimuli paired with neutralising framing sentences is consistent with prior work demonstrating an influence of context framing on emotional experience (Dennis and Hajcak, 2009; Foti and Hajcak, 2008; Kim et al., 2004; MacNamara et al., 2009; Mocaiber et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2012). Contrary to the study hypotheses, it was observed that affective, but not cognitive, empathy was positively related to implicit reappraisal (defined as the extent to which participants experienced a reduction in negative emotional experience for negative images preceded by neutralising frames, relative to descriptive frames).

The framing task used in this study provides a measure of more implicit reappraisal; specifically, the downregulation of negative affect resulting from extrinsic contextual information, in the absence of a specific instruction or conscious intention to alter one's emotional state. Such implicit reappraisal processes are likely to be less cognitively demanding than reappraisal use in many real-life situations as there is no need for explicit goal switching and/or self-generation of reappraisal narratives (Wang et al., 2017). Thus, it might be that high cognitive empathy supports only the more cognitively demanding forms of reappraisal and confers little advantage in terms of more implicit reappraisal processes.

The positive relationship between affective empathy and the implicit reappraisal task metric could be a reflection of the heightened emotional awareness associated with greater affective empathy (see chapter 2), which may support the updating of emotion-relevant appraisals (Gross, 2015). These results are discussed in further detail in the general discussion section of this chapter.

5.3. Study 2: Trait empathy and explicit reappraisal

Contrary to expectations, the results of study 1 demonstrated that affective, but not cognitive, empathy was positively associated with the magnitude of implicit reappraisal in a framing task. One potential reason for the failure to find a significant relationship between cognitive empathy and the framing task metric is that this paradigm assesses reappraisal of a more implicit nature (Foti and Hajcak, 2008). The use of reappraisal in daily life may often place greater reliance on cognitive control processes, which mediate more demanding processes such as the generation of potential reappraisals that may serve to alter one's emotional response to a given situation/stimulus (Etkin et al., 2015; McCrae et al., 2010; Urry et al., 2009). Therefore, it could be that greater cognitive empathy supports only these more demanding forms of reappraisal and provides little advantage with regard to more implicit reappraisal processes.

Building upon the findings of study 1, this next study examined the relationship between trait cognitive/affective empathy and a task-based

measure of explicit reappraisal ability. In order to provide a more objective and holistic measure of emotional experience, this study combined selfreport measures of valence and arousal with a novel methodology that utilises video-based automated facial coding of affective states. It was predicted that cognitive but not affective empathy would be positively associated with the magnitude of negative emotion downregulation in an explicit (i.e. instructed) reappraisal task.

5.3.1. Automated facial coding

It has long been suggested that facial expressions of emotion are "hardwired" and play an important role in human social communication (Darwin, 1872). In alignment with Cacioppo et al.'s (1986) assertion that facial expressions of emotion are typically associated with congruent emotional experiences, there is theoretical and empirical work suggestive of a close relationship between facial expressions and the valence of an individual's emotional state (Buck, 1994; Mauss et al., 2005; Russell, 1994). Consequently, comparing facial expressions indicative of the valence/intensity of affective states across regulation conditions can provide a more objective and implicit measure of participants' reappraisal ability.

While manual coding of facial expressions has for many years been the predominant method of classifying affective facial expressions (see Cohn et al., 2007; Ekman and Friesen, 1978, for reviews), such procedures are often laborious and require extensive training (Ekman and Friesen, 1978; Ekman et

al., 2002). Recent advances have enabled the development of software that can reliably categorise emotion states based on images or videos of the face (Valstar et al., 2012). One such piece of software, Facereader (Noldus), has been available for research use since 2005 (den Uyl and van Kuilenberg, 2005; van Kuilenberg et al., 2005) and has proven useful in a range of contexts, from social/affective psychology (Chentsova-Dutton and Tsai, 2010) to consumer science (Chan et al., 2014). Facereader was trained to classify the basic universal emotions described by Ekman (1992) using validated image sets of facial expressions (Olszanowski et al., 2015; van der Schalk et al., 2011). In addition to achieving an average recognition score approaching 90% across the six basic emotions, Facereader has been found to correctly classify neutral facial expressions with an accuracy of 94% (den Uyl and van Kuilenberg, 2005; Lewinski et al., 2014; Lewinski, 2015).

This study utilised self-report and automated facial coding (AFC) measures of emotional experience to examine the relationship between trait cognitive/affective empathy and the ability to downregulate negative emotions using reappraisal. AFC metrics of emotional expression were used to assess emotion regulation by examining differences in facial expressions indicative of the intensity of emotional experience across conditions in which participants were instructed to respond naturally or use reappraisal to downregulate any negative experience evoked by the affective stimuli. It was predicted that the explicit reappraisal task metric would be positively

associated with cognitive empathy but show a negative relationship with affective empathy.

5.3.2. Participants

As this task assesses reappraisal ability under more demanding conditions (i.e. where participants must self-generate reappraisal narratives), it was expected that this metric would be more strongly associated with cognitive empathy than the implicit task, as it is more heavily reliant upon cognitive control processes also associated with cognitive empathy. An a priori sample size estimation using G*Power 3.1 (Faul et al., 2007) suggested that to detect correlations of a moderate to large effect size at an alpha level of p = .05 and power of .80, a sample of 44 participants was required.

Forty-four participants (35 female) were recruited from the UOR student population via the online participant pool. The mean age (\pm SD) of the sample was 19.64 (\pm 1.56). Two participants, for whom the necessary questionnaire data was incomplete were removed prior to analysis. A further three participants were removed following data quality checks (see *data reduction & analyses* section for details), leaving a final sample of N = 39, which was subject to analysis.

5.3.3. Materials

Empathy. Trait empathy was assessed using the QCAE. Cronbach's alpha was high for the cognitive empathy subscale, $\alpha_{\text{Cognitive}} = .89$, but somewhat lower for the affective empathy subscale ($\alpha_{\text{Affective}} = .67$). While the typical threshold for acceptability is Cronbach's alpha >= .70, it has been asserted that for scales with fewer than 20 items, a Cronbach's alpha greater than .50 should be considered satisfactory (Dall'Oglio et al., 2010).

Affective images. Thirty-six images (24 negative, 12 neutral) were selected from the IAPS database (Lang et al., 2005) (see appendix G for IAPS image numbers). As in study 1, all images were of a social nature and included a range of IAPS image types. Two sets of negative images were created, one of which was used for the "rethink" (i.e. reappraisal) condition and the other for the "watch" (i.e. control) condition; these image set-condition pairings were counterbalanced across the sample.

Based on the normative IAPS ratings (Lang et al., 2005), independent samples t-test demonstrated that the two negative image sets did not differ in terms of valence ($M_{set1} = 2.24$, $SD_{set1} = 0.31$; $M_{set2} = 2.31$, $SD_{set2} = 0.44$; t(22) =.42, p = .68) or arousal ($M_{set1} = 5.62$, $SD_{set1} = 0.82$; $M_{set2} = 5.74$, $SD_{set2} = 0.56$; t(22) = .40, p = .70). Normative valence ratings for negative images (M = 2.27, SD = 0.38) were significantly lower than for neutral images (M = 5.36, SD =0.57), t(34) = 19.46, p < .001, and normative arousal ratings were significantly
higher for negative (M = 5.69, SD = 0.69) compared with neutral images (M = 3.63, SD = 0.46), t(34) = 9.31, *p* < .001.

Video recording. Videos of participants' faces were recorded throughout the task using a Microsoft Lifecam positioned in front of participants below the monitor on which the task was completed. Videos were recorded at a frame rate of 30 fps and a resolution of 640 x 480. A professional photography spotlight positioned above the monitor was used to reduce any shadows on participants' faces and improve the quality of the video recordings for the Facereader analysis. For ethical reasons participants had to be informed about the video recording prior to the experiment; to reduce the potential that participants were overly conscious of their facial expressions during the task, they were informed that the webcam was being used to track their eye-gaze patterns.

5.3.4. Procedure

Participants provided written informed consent to participate. Questionnaires were completed online and the explicit reappraisal task as part of a lab-based session. The task lasted approximately 20 minutes on average, and all testing was completed in isolation in a distraction-free environment. Participants were sat at an approximate viewing distance of 60 cm from the monitor, which displayed the task at a resolution of 600 x 800, with a refresh rate of 60 Hz. Prior to commencement of the task, participants read the instructions and were given the chance to ask any questions to ensure they understood what the task entailed. They were instructed that they would be shown various images and would then be asked to rate how each image made them feel. They were informed that prior to each image an instruction word would be presented, which would either be "WATCH" or "RETHINK". Participants were instructed that in the watch condition, they should let any thoughts/feelings evoked by the image unfold naturally. For rethink trials, participants were instructed to try to think about what is happening in the image in a way that reduces any negative experience. They were advised that they should attend to all images and not try to regulate their emotions by simply thinking about something else. They were also informed that the images depicted real situations and that they should not simply try to tell themselves that the images are merely staged. This was done in order to increase the ecological validity of the task, as the use of such reappraisals would be unlikely in real life situations (see appendix G for full instructions).

Participants then completed a training block comprising two watch trials and two rethink trials. To ensure participants understood the task instructions and were able to successfully self-generate potential reappraisals, following each practice rethink trial the experimenter asked participants if they managed to think about the image in a way that made them feel less negative, and what this reappraisal entailed. All participants

were able to demonstrate that they understood the task and could come up with appropriate reappraisals.

The main task included 36 trials; twenty-four negative image trials (12 watch, 12 rethink), and twelve neutral image trials (6 watch, 6 rethink), which were presented in a randomised order. Trials comprised the following sequence of events: 1) ITI Fixation (5000ms); 2) Instruction (4000ms) stating whether the trial is "WATCH" or "RETHINK"; 3) Prestimulus fixation (2000ms), during which the baseline measure of AFC valence was taken; 4) stimulus (8000ms), either a negative or neutral IAPS image; 5) valence rating screen (1-9; until response); 6) arousal rating screen (1-9; until response). A schematic of trial events is shown in figure 5.4.

Participants responded to each image by rating how unpleasant/pleasant it made them feel (valence rating), and how arousing they found the image. Both ratings were provided using a 9-point scale, where in the case of valence: 1 = extremely unpleasant, 5 = neither pleasant nor unpleasant, 9 = extremely pleasant, and in the case of arousal: 1 = extremely relaxing, 5 = neither relaxing nor arousing, 9 = extremely arousing. While arousal is typically rated on a unipolar scale ranging from low to high, a bipolar arousal scale was used in this instance to minimise the potential for mistakes in responding due to confusion caused by rating two 1-9 scales in quick succession, one of which is bipolar and the other unipolar.

While the main task analysis focused upon negative images only, as in study 1, neutral images were included as a manipulation check, and to slow the rate of habituation to negative images.



Fig. 5.4. Schematic of trial events in the explicit reappraisal task. Each trial consisted of the following events: 1) white screen with black central fixation cross (5000ms); 2) instruction: either "watch" or "rethink" (4000ms); 3) Pre image fixation baseline (2000ms); 4) negative or neutral IAPS image (8000ms); 5) valence rating prompt (until response); 6) arousal rating prompt (until response). The image shown above was selected from the OASIS images set (Kurdi, Lozano, and Banji, 2017) as a representative example and was not one of those used in the task.

Facereader AFC data processing

The video clips of participants' faces were analysed offline using Facereader 8.0 (Noldus, 2014). These data were used to provide a metric of reappraisal ability by comparing facial expressions indicative of negative affect across the watch and rethink conditions. FaceReader works in three steps. First,

the program detects the presence of a face using the Viola-Jones algorithm. Next, Active Appearance Modelling (AAM; Cootes et al., 2001) is used to create a realistic face model that closely resembles the original image and provides good generalisation across various lighting conditions and poses. From this model, 500+ landmarks of different regions of the face are created and superimposed on the image as a virtual mesh. In the final stage, Facereader computes a probability/intensity score for each emotion on a scale of 0 to 1, representing the likelihood that the emotion (or neutral) expression is present. The key Facereader analysis steps are depicted in figure 5.5. The algorithm was trained using a three-layer artificial neural network with more than 10,000 instances of validated facial expression stimuli that were manually annotated by experts. For a detailed description of Facreader algorithms, see van Kuilenburg et al. (2005).

In addition to coding the probabilities/intensities of the six basic emotions, Facereader also provides a measure of valence, which is calculated as the intensity of happy expression minus the intensity of the negative expression with the greatest intensity score. Given that a range of IAPS images were used in the explicit reappraisal task, which could be expected to evoke a range of emotional responses from disgust and anger to sadness and fear, the key metric extracted from Facereader was valence. This valence metric provides a bipolar rating of the extent to which participants faces expressed positive (> 0), neutral (0), or negative (< 0) affect.



Fig. 5.5. Depiction of Facereader analysis steps. A face is detected using the Viola-Jones algorithm (top-left image); Active Appearance Modelling (AAM) is then used to create a realistic face model (top-middle image); 500+ landmarks are then identified using the AAM (top-right image). The bottom chart depicts mean valence of the face over time.

The "general" Facereader model was used, which the programme documentation states should work well under most conditions for most people. To account for biases in neutral expression, each participant was calibrated to their individual neutral baseline recorded prior to task onset. Any cells in which Facereader failed to find the face or fit the AAM were removed; any trials in which more than 50% of data points were lost were removed. To reduce the impact of any extreme data points, the raw valence values were log-transformed and any trials in which the magnitude of the valence score deviated from the mean by more than 3*SD were removed as outliers. Following these exclusions, three participants for whom a significant number of trials were lost were removed.

5.3.5. Data reduction & analyses

Following exclusion based on missing data (see section 5.3.3), a final sample of N=39 was retained for analysis. Self-report data were analysed using separate repeated measures ANOVAs with image (negative/neutral) and instruction (watch/rethink) as within-subjects factors for the dependent variables valence and arousal ratings. The AFC valence data were baseline corrected to the one second epoch preceding stimulus presentation. Given that IAPS images can take some time to decode (van Reekum et al., 2011) and the implementation of reappraisal may also take time, the mean baseline corrected AFC valence data were examined in two key epochs: An "early epoch" covering the 0-4s period following stimulus onset and the "late epoch" covering the 4-8s period post stimulus onset. These data were analysed using a repeated measures ANOVA with instruction (rethink/watch) and epoch (early/late) as within-subjects factors.

For the correlation analysis, the following metrics were extracted from the explicit reappraisal task as measures of reappraisal ability (i.e. the extent to which participants experienced a reduction in negative emotion in the rethink compared to the baseline watch condition). For self-reported valence, the key metric was the difference between the watch and rethink conditions, which was calculated by subtracting the mean valence rating in the watch condition. For arousal ratings, this metric was calculated by the inverse subtraction

(i.e. mean arousal watch - mean arousal rethink), as higher arousal scores would be expected in the watch relative to the rethink condition. For the AFC data, the mean baseline corrected valence score in the early and late epochs for the watch condition were subtracted from the mean baseline corrected valence score in the corresponding epochs of the rethink condition. For all of these metrics a larger value reflects a greater magnitude of reduction in negative emotion following reappraisal.

Normality of each variable was assessed using Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Spearman's rho is reported for any correlations where at least one variable distribution showed significant deviation from normality. All tests were 2-tailed with a significance threshold of p < .05. To ensure that the observed results were not unduly influenced by a small number of outlier cases, the same analyses reported in the results section were conducted following the removal of univariate and bivariate outlier cases (see appendix G). While not related to the main hypothesis of this study, the correlations between ERQ reappraisal use and the implicit and explicit reappraisal task metrics are reported in appendix G.

5.3.6. Results

Self-report ratings

Valence ratings

A repeated measures ANOVA with emotion (neg/neu) and instruction (rethink/watch) demonstrated a significant main effect of emotion, *F*(1, 38) = 274.80, p < .001, partial η^2 = .88, and a significant main effect of instruction, F(1, 38) = 15.75, p < .001, partial η^2 = .29. A significant emotion by instruction interaction was also observed, F(1, 38) = 13.37, p = .001, partial η^2 = .26.

Post-hoc comparisons with Bonferroni adjustment demonstrated that mean valence ratings were lower (i.e. more negative) for negative relative to neutral images (p < .001), and for the watch relative to rethink condition (p < .001). For negative images, mean valence ratings were lower in the watch relative to the rethink condition (p < .001). There was no difference in valence ratings in the rethink compared to the watch condition for neutral images (p = .50) (fig. 5.6, left panel).

Arousal ratings

A repeated measures ANOVA with emotion (neg/neu) and instruction (rethink/watch) demonstrated a main effect of emotion, F(1, 38) = 201.14, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .84$. The main effect of instruction was not significant, F(1, 38) = .02, p = .88, partial $\eta^2 = .001$, however, there was a significant emotion by instruction interaction, F(1, 38) = 19.58, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .34$.

Post-hoc comparisons with Bonferroni adjustment demonstrated that arousal ratings were higher for negative relative to neutral images (p < .001). For negative images, arousal ratings were lower in the rethink relative to the watch condition (p < .001), however, arousal ratings were higher in the rethink compared to watch condition for neutral images (p = .01) (see fig. 5.6, right panel).



Fig. 5.6. Mean valence (left panel) and arousal (right panel) ratings for negative and neutral images across each condition in the explicit reappraisal task. Error bars depict ± 1 within-subjects SEM.

Analysis of Facereader AFC valence data

A paired samples t-test demonstrated that the mean baseline corrected valence of facial expressions was lower (i.e. more negative) for negative relative to neutral images, t(38) = 2.43, p = .02 (fig. 5.7). This provides support for the assertion that the Facereader valence metric is capturing facial states relevant to negative affect induced by the IAPS images.



Fig. 5.7. Mean baseline corrected AFC valence scores for negative and neutral images. Error bars depict ± 1 within-subjects SEM.

A repeated measures ANOVA with instruction (rethink/watch) and epoch (early/late) found that the main effect of instruction failed to reach significance, F(1, 38) = 1.85, p = .18, partial $\eta^2 = .05$. While the main effect of epoch was approaching significance, F(1, 38) = 3.62, p = .07, partial $\eta^2 = .09$, the instruction by epoch interaction was not significant F(1, 38) = 1.74, p =.20, partial $\eta^2 = .04$.

While the instruction by epoch interaction was not significant, the data showed patterns in the expected direction, which were further explored using post-hoc pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni correction. While there was no difference between the watch and rethink conditions in the early epoch (p = .52), there was a trend-level difference between these conditions in the late epoch (p = .11). Further, while there was no difference

between the early and late epochs in the rethink condition (p = .21), valence was lower at trend-level in the late compared to early epoch for the watch condition (p = .06) (fig. 5.8). For illustrative purposes the mean baseline corrected AFC valence for each one second epoch of the image presentation period are shown in figure 5.9.



Fig. 5.8. Mean baseline corrected AFC valence scores in the early (0-4s) and late (4-8s) epochs of the image presentation period for the watch (red) and rethink (blue) conditions. Error bars depict ± 1 within-subjects SEM.



Fig. 5.9. Mean baseline corrected AFC valence scores in each 1 second epoch of the image presentation period for the watch (red) and rethink (blue) conditions. Error bars depict ± 1 within-subjects SEM.

Relationship between trait empathy and explicit reappraisal metrics

Self-report metrics

The valence rating reappraisal metric was not significantly related to trait cognitive (rho(37) = -.15, p = .35) or affective (rho(37) = .15, p = .36) empathy. These two correlations were not significantly different (Steiger's Z = -.15, p = .14). The arousal rating reappraisal metric showed a trend-level negative relationship with trait cognitive empathy, rho(37) = -.29, p = .07. This arousal metric showed no relationship with trait affective empathy, rho(37) = .10, p = .57. The difference between these correlations was on the threshold of significance, Z = -1.94, p = .05 (fig. 5.10).



Fig. 5.10. Scatterplot showing the relationship between explicit reappraisal task arousal rating difference (watch - rethink) and z-transformed cognitive and affective empathy. Affective empathy (red) was not significantly related to the arousal difference metric; cognitive empathy (blue) showed a negative correlation with the arousal difference metric that was approaching significance.

Facereader AFC valence metrics

Trait cognitive empathy showed a negative correlation with the AFC valence reappraisal metric in the early epoch, rho(37) = -.32, p = .047. Trait affective empathy was not significantly related to the AFC valence reappraisal metric in the early epoch (rho(37) = .17, p = .30). These correlations were significantly different, Z = -2.44, p = .01 (fig. 5.11). Both cognitive and affective empathy showed no significant relationship with this metric in the late epoch, rho(37) = -.01, p = .96. or late (rho(37) = .21, p =

.21). A Steiger's test confirmed that these two correlations were not significantly different, Z = -1.08, p = .28).



Fig. 5.11. Scatterplot showing the relationship between the explicit reappraisal task AFC valence score difference in the early epoch (baseline corrected rethink – watch condition) and z-transformed cognitive/affective empathy. The AFC valence metric was negatively correlated with cognitive empathy (blue) but was not significantly related to affective empathy (red).

5.4. General discussion

5.4.1. Summary of findings

Across two studies it was observed that the cognitive and affective dimensions of trait empathy share different relationships with metrics assessing the magnitude of negative emotion downregulation in an implicit (study 1) and explicit (study 2) reappraisal task. Contrary to the study hypotheses, trait cognitive empathy was not related to improved reappraisal ability in either study. Cognitive empathy showed no relationship with an implicit reappraisal task metric, a trend-level negative relationship with self-reported arousal change, and a negative relationship with an AFC metric of regulation magnitude in an explicit reappraisal task. While no relationship was observed between trait affective empathy and the explicit reappraisal task metrics, higher affective empathy was associated with a greater magnitude of emotion downregulation in the implicit reappraisal task. I now discuss some potential interpretations of these results in relation to prior theoretical and empirical work.

5.4.2. Cognitive empathy & reappraisal

The prediction of a positive relationship between cognitive empathy and reappraisal ability was based on evidence that processes associated with the cognitive component of empathy show overlap with those recruited during reappraisal (Buhle et al., 2014; Carlson et al., 2004; Dennis et al., 2009; Goldin et al., 2008; Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016; Messina et al., 2015; Saxe et al., 2004; Webb et al., 2012a). Given this overlap, one might

infer that a greater capacity for one ability is similarly associated with a greater capacity for the other. Furthermore, component processes associated with cognitive empathy, such as perspective-taking/self-other control, may support reappraisal in more specific ways. Aside from the dominant usage of the term reappraisal as referring to a change in meaning attributed to an emotional stimulus, reappraisal can also entail cognitive change via self-distancing (or reappraisal via perspective-taking) (Kross and Ayduk, 2008; Messina et al., 2015; Webb et al., 2012a).

Self-distancing (henceforth, distancing) involves taking a detached perspective from one's immediate egocentric experience (Cocking and Renninger, 1993; Ochsner et al. 2004; Trope and Liberman, 2010), and has been shown to be effective in modulating emotion based on self-report and physiological/neural metrics (Ayduk and Kross, 2010; Davis et al., 2011; Kross et al., 2005, 2012; Ochsner et al., 2012). While a distinct form of reappraisal in its own right, distancing could also support semantic reappraisal, as the ability to distance oneself from the more concrete aspects of one's current experience may be conducive to self-reflection (Davis et al., 2011; Gruber et al., 2009; Katzir and Eyal, 2013; Kross and Ayduk, 2011; Ochsner and Gross, 2008; Wisco and Nolen-Hoeksema, 2011), thereby facilitating the generation of reappraisals in the service of emotion regulation (Wallace-Hadrill and Kamboj, 2016). Indeed, there is evidence to suggest that distancing can facilitate the positive reconstrual of life stressors (Kross and Ayduk, 2008; Kross et al., 2012).

The concept of distancing is conceptually similar to perspective-taking in that both involve a shift in one's perspective. Consequently, one could argue that the ability to shift between self and other perspectives (a component process of cognitive empathy) might facilitate the process of distancing oneself from the ongoing emotional experience in order to modulate one's response using semantic reappraisal. Furthermore, as the emotional stimuli used in these studies were all of a social nature, distancing oneself from the emotional experience in order to generate new and/or subdominant meanings may necessitate being able to efficiently detach oneself from the perceived other's perspective.

With the above interpretation in mind, the unexpected finding that cognitive empathy was negatively related to metrics of reappraisal ability in the explicit task could be due to the way in which the empathy measure used in this study relates to this particular task. In the current studies, cognitive empathy was assessed only by trait measures, which capture an individual's perceived abilities and motivation/propensity to engage empathic processes (Gehlbach, 2004; Keysers and Gazzola, 2014). It is possible that a greater motivation or disposition to take others' perspectives may impede the processes necessary to regulate one's emotions via reappraisal in the case of social stimuli. Consequently, the finding that higher trait cognitive empathy was negatively associated with reappraisal ability in this task could suggest that it takes longer for individuals with a heightened propensity to engage cognitive empathic

processes to detach from the other's perspective in order to reappraise the stimulus in a manner that elicits a reduced emotional response. This speculative interpretation highlights an important question as to whether one's ability and propensity for empathy may be differentially related to their emotion regulation abilities.

Additionally, there is evidence to suggest that individuals with high trait empathy show an increased preference for social vs. non-social stimuli (Hedger et al., 2018), and pay more attention to social stimuli such as faces (Choi and Watanuki, 2014). Thus, it is possible that the negative relationship between cognitive empathy and metrics of regulation magnitude in the explicit reappraisal task were driven by a heightened tendency to attend to the affective stimuli, which could have reduced the availability of cognitive resources necessary to effectively implement reappraisal.

5.4.3. Affective empathy & reappraisal

Individuals with higher trait affective empathy showed an increased magnitude of emotion downregulation in an implicit reappraisal task, which suggests that affective empathy may support the ability to implicitly update one's emotional appraisals based on extrinsic contextual information. Reappraisal frames are thought to exert their influence over emotional responses in a relatively implicit manner (Foti and Hajcak, 2008; Wang et al., 2017). Similarly, affective empathy is thought to involve largely implicit processing of emotional information (Chartrand and van Baaren, 2009;

Niedenthal, 2007; Preston and de Waal, 2002). Hence, the association between implicit reappraisal and affective empathy is not entirely surprising given that both abilities relate to implicit emotional processes. The results of study 2 found no evidence for any relationship between trait affective empathy and regulation magnitude in an explicit reappraisal task.

Taken together these findings suggest that affective empathy may support the ability to implicitly update one's initial appraisals of a stimulus based on extrinsic contextual information; however, it does not facilitate the regulation of emotion via reappraisal in instances where one must selfgenerate potential reappraisal narratives. While there is overlap in the brain regions associated with explicit and implicit reappraisal, explicit reappraisal represents a more cognitively demanding task (due in part to the recruitment of cognitive control and semantic processes required to construct potential reappraisal narratives) (Messina et al., 2012; Ochsner and Gross, 2005; Wang et al., 2017; Webb et al., 2012a). Thus, even though higher levels of affective empathy may support the implicit process of updating one's initial emotional appraisals, it may not confer any advantage in instances where reappraisal is dependent upon more demanding cognitive control processes.

Furthermore, it is possible that the heightened arousal that individuals with greater trait affective empathy experience in response to others' emotions (Rueckert et al., 2011; Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002) results in increased

emotional interference on cognitive control abilities (Hare et al., 2005; Tottenham et al., 2011), which may reduce the ability to effectively engage more demanding reappraisal processes. Consequently, any advantage that affective empathy may confer in terms of updating one's emotional appraisals on an implicit level might be negated in more demanding situations by the deleterious effects of increased emotional reactivity on vital cognitive control processes.

5.4.4. Summary, conclusions, and limitations

The two studies reported in this chapter found some evidence to support the hypothesis that the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy share different relationships with reappraisal ability. However, the relationships that cognitive and affective empathy shared with reappraisal ability were contrary to the study hypotheses. There was no evidence to suggest that cognitive empathy was associated with improved reappraisal ability in either study. Furthermore, while affective empathy was unrelated to task metrics of explicit reappraisal, it showed a positive relationship with a task metric of implicit reappraisal.

It is important to highlight certain limitations of the current studies, and how these will be addressed in the final empirical chapter. A caveat of study 1, which is shared with many studies on emotion regulation, is that the metric of implicit reappraisal was based on self-report data. While it is possible that socially desirable responding and/or demand characteristics

could have played some role in the observed effects, a number of steps were taken to reduce the potential for such confounds. Firstly, participants were recruited for a study on "mood and cognitive performance" and there was no mention of emotion regulation during the lab testing session. Additionally, the experimenter was not present in the room during task completion and participants were explicitly informed that their data would be analysed anonymously and were instructed to respond accurately and honestly. As such, there is no reason to infer that such confounds were likely to have influenced the observed results in any demonstrable way.

Study 2 supplemented self-report metrics with a more objective measure of emotional experience based on Facereader AFC ratings of facial expression valence. The approach showed some promise as a tool for assessing emotional reactivity/regulation, demonstrating sufficient sensitivity to detect differences in facial expression valence between negative and neutral images. However, while the observed effects of regulation instructions showed a pattern in the expected direction, these were small in magnitude and failed to reach significance.

Visual inspection of the video data revealed that to the human eye, participants for the most part showed relatively stable neutral expressions throughout the task. Thus, while Facereader was able to detect some differences between the regulation conditions it may lack the sensitivity required to detect such subtle differences in facial states. To maximise the

utility of AFC analyses in this context it may be useful to use more intense/graphic stimuli than those used in the current study. In the study reported in the next chapter, facial EMG measures of corrugator activity were used to enable greater sensitivity to detect subtle changes in muscle activity associated with emotional expression/experience.

Both studies in this chapter used only trait measures of cognitive and affective empathy. Given prior work highlighting the importance of distinguishing between one's ability and propensity to engage empathic processes (Cameron et al., 2019; Gehlbach, 2004; Keysers and Gazzola, 2014; Zaki, 2014), coupled with evidence of inconsistent patterns of convergence between trait and task measures of empathy (Melchers et al., 2015; Murphy and Lilienfeld, 2019), it would be worthwhile to examine these relationships using a range of empathy measures. In the next chapter, I examine the relationship between a task measure of emotion regulation and a combination of trait and task empathy measures. This approach should enable greater clarity regarding the relationship between emotion regulation ability and one's propensity and ability for engaging different component processes of empathy.

Finally, while reappraisal is typically considered an adaptive regulation strategy, its efficacy in modulating emotion may be dependent upon various contextual factors (Aldao, 2013; Aldao and Nolen-Hoeksema 2012; Suri et al., 2018). For example, regulating emotions via semantic reappraisal may be

easier and more effective in the context of the death of an elderly relative following a protracted illness compared to the tragic death of a young relative. Adaptive emotion regulation is dependent not only upon an individual's ability to implement a given strategy, but also their ability to select a suitable strategy for a given context (Aldao, 2013, Bonanno and Burton, 2013; Gross, 2015; Sheppes and Levin, 2013; Urry and Gross, 2010). This selection component of emotion regulation (Gross, 2015) is not captured by paradigms such as those used in study 2, where participants are instructed to use only one particular strategy throughout. To provide greater consideration of strategy selection, the task reported in the next chapter used an instructed regulation paradigm in which participants were free to select any strategy of their own choosing across regulation trials.

Chapter 6

Trait/task measures of empathy and their relationship with spontaneous and instructed emotion regulation

6.1. Introduction

In acknowledgement of the limitations of instructed emotion regulation tasks discussed in the previous chapter discussion, this chapter reports a study that used a more ecologically valid regulation paradigm that assessed the ability to select and implement an appropriate regulatory strategy (Gross, 2015). To enable greater clarity regarding the relationship between emotion regulation and one's motivation and ability to engage different cognitive and affective empathic processes, empathy was assessed using a combination of trait and task measures. Furthermore, in addition to assessing instructed emotion regulation magnitude using self-report and facial electromyography (EMG), this task used corrugator EMG measures to assess participants' spontaneous emotional recovery following exposure to negative stimuli.

6.1.1. Regulation strategy selection

The vast majority of instructed emotion regulation paradigms specify the particular strategy (or strategies) to be used across all regulation trials (e.g. Ochsner et al., 2004a). While useful for characterising the affective consequences and neutral substrates of different strategies, such paradigms may not provide a wholly accurate reflection of participants' true regulatory abilities. For example, instructing the use of a given strategy, such as reappraisal, may artificially improve the regulatory performance of individuals, who left to their own devices might have selected a less

adaptive strategy such as suppression. Conversely, such paradigms could also artificially decrease the regulatory performance of strong regulators, who may otherwise have used a different strategy that might have been more effective than reappraisal in a particular context. Furthermore, such tasks do not allow participants to utilise multiple strategies simultaneously, or switch to a different strategy following initial failures to achieve the desired emotion state, which may be common occurrences in day-to-day regulation (Aldao and Nolen-Hoeksema, 2012; Gross, 2015).

In sum, by instructing and training participants to use a particular strategy, many regulation paradigms enable the assessment of only the implementation stage of the regulation process and do not capture other processes critical for adaptive regulation. One such process is the capacity to select an appropriate strategy suitable for a given context and/or emotional experience. While some prior studies have used tasks in which participants are able to choose how they regulate their emotional response, such studies typically restricted participants to choosing between a limited set of strategies, such as reappraisal and distraction (Scheibe et al., 2015; Sheppes et al., 2011).

To obtain a more accurate and holistic measure of an individual's true regulatory abilities, research should utilise tasks in which participants are not given any detailed training in the use of a particular regulation strategy and where they are free to choose the means by which they regulate their

emotions in response to different stimuli (Baur et al., 2015). Given that the effectiveness of real-world emotion regulation is dependent upon the ability to flexibly adapt one's regulatory actions to meet situational demands (Bonanno et al., 2004; Gross, 2015), a free choice regulation task may provide a more ecologically valid assessment of emotion regulation abilities (Baur et al., 2015; Optiz et al., 2015).

6.1.2. Instructed versus spontaneous emotion regulation

A further limitation of instructed regulation tasks is that they assess only the more explicit and intentional forms of emotion regulation. While conscious and intentional processes may be common in real-world emotion regulation (Ochsner and Gross, 2005, 2008; Tice and Bratslavsky, 2000), more spontaneous and effortless regulatory processes are also likely to play an important role in managing emotions day-to-day (Gyurak et al., 2011; Mauss et al., 2007; Williams et al., 2007).

Implicit or spontaneous emotion regulation (SER) is typically defined as the modulation of any aspect of emotion, such as subjective experience, emotional expression and/or physiology, in the absence of any conscious awareness or explicit intention to alter one's emotional state (Mauss et al., 2007; Mocaiber et al., 2011; Morillas-Romero et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2007). There is evidence to suggest that difficulties in spontaneously downregulating negative emotions are associated with increased trait negative affect and anxiety (Egloff et al., 2006), diminished emotional

wellbeing (Hopp et al., 2011), and increased vulnerability for developing depression (Ehring et al., 2010).

The importance of examining SER in addition to more explicit forms of regulation is further highlighted by studies which have found a lack of convergence between instructed regulation tasks and typical day-to-day experiences with emotion regulation. For example, one study found that while individuals with bipolar disorder experience significant difficulties with emotion regulation in daily life (Gruber et al., 2013), such difficulties are not always evident in instructed regulation tasks (Gruber et al., 2009). However, when assessing more spontaneous forms of emotion regulation in the laboratory environment the expected deficits may be observable (Depue et al., 1985).

SER has been assessed by prior work in various ways, commonly by comparing self-report ratings and/or physiological metrics of affect before and after emotional induction (Aldao et al., 2013; Egloff et al., 2006; Ehring et al., 2010; Volokhov and Demaree, 2010), and/or examining how these metrics are modulated by individual differences in self-reported habitual strategy use. One issue with such approaches is that it may be difficult to determine the extent to which such changes reflect variability in SER versus emotional reactivity. In this study, fEMG measured corrugator activity is used to assess the efficiency of spontaneous emotional recovery (independent of emotional reactivity) following exposure to negative

emotional stimuli, as done in previous studies (Lapate et al., 2014; van Reekum et al., 2011).

6.1.3. The current study

While the hypothesised relationship between cognitive empathy and reappraisal ability was not observed in the previous chapter, this could in part be due to the aforementioned limitations of instructed regulation paradigms. While it could simply be that cognitive empathy is positively associated with the propensity but not the ability to use reappraisal, it is possible that cognitive empathy could support emotion regulation through the ability to select and monitor the influence of regulatory processes, rather than the ability to implement them per se. To examine this possibility the current study utilised an instructed regulation paradigm in which participants were free to regulate their emotions using any strategy of their choosing. Furthermore, this task also enabled the examination of the relationship between empathy and spontaneous emotional recovery, an aspect of emotion regulation that has been largely overlooked by prior work in favour of more explicit forms of regulation.

Regulation magnitude was assessed using a combination of self-report ratings and fEMG-measured corrugator activity, which has been shown to provide a reliable indication of emotional reactivity/regulation (Jackson et al., 2000; Lapate et al., 2014; van Reekum et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2012). Given evidence of a link between day-to-day regulation habits (e.g. habitual

strategy use) and task-based metrics of SER (Drabant et al., 2009), it was predicted that cognitive empathy (which was found in chapters 2 and 3 to be associated with increased reappraisal use) would be associated with more efficient spontaneous emotional recovery following the offset of negative affective stimuli. It was also predicted that cognitive empathy would be positively related to metrics of instructed regulation magnitude. In the previous chapter, affective empathy was positively correlated with the magnitude of downregulation in an implicit, but not an explicit, reappraisal task. Consequently, it was predicted that affective empathy would be positively associated with spontaneous emotional recovery but show no relationship with metrics of instructed regulation.

To enable greater clarity regarding the relationship between emotion regulation abilities and one's motivation and ability to engage different empathic processes, empathy was assessed using a combination of trait and task measures. As in prior chapters, trait empathy was assessed using the QCAE, with more objective measures of these abilities assessed using the director task and spontaneous facial mimicry task reported in chapter 3.

6.2. Methods

6.2.1. Participants

The same N = 48 participants who completed the empathy tasks reported in chapter 3, also completed the spontaneous and instructed regulation task (see section 3.2.1 for sample demographics). Data for two participants were

removed from the regulation task (see data reduction and analysis section for details), leaving a final sample of N = 46 on which all analyses were performed.

6.2.2. Materials

Trait empathy. Trait empathy was assessed using the QCAE (Reniers et al., 2011).

Task measures of empathy. Two task measures of empathy were used in the current study. A component process of cognitive empathy was assessed using the director task, with an eye-tracking metric reflecting the relative gaze time on the target vs. foil object used as a measure of perspectivetaking ability. A component of affective empathy was assessed EMGmeasured spontaneous facial mimicry (SFM), which provides a proxy measure of participants' capacity to resonate others' emotional states (see section 3.2.2 for further details of these tasks/metrics).

Affective images. Sixty social images (45 negative, 15 neutral) were selected from the IAPS database (Lang et al., 2005) (see appendix H for IAPS image numbers). As in prior chapters, while the main analysis focused upon the negative images, neutral images were included in the first block as a manipulation check and as a means of slowing habituation to negative images. An independent samples t-test confirmed that the mean normative valence ratings for negative images (M = 2.36, SD = 0.57) were significantly

lower than for neutral images (M = 5.20, SD = 0.62), t(58) = 16.42, p < .001. Negative images also had a significantly higher mean normative arousal rating (M = 5.69, SD = 0.80) compared to the neutral images (M = 3.59, SD = 0.49), t(58) = 9.53, p < .001.

Three sets of 15 negative images were created for counterbalancing purposes. Block 1 comprised one set of negative images alongside 15 neutral images; block 2 comprised the other two sets of negative images, each of which was paired with a different regulation instruction ("attend" or "regulate"). The condition in which each negative image set was used was counterbalanced across the sample. Image sets were matched based on mean normative valence and arousal ratings (Lang et al., 2005), image category, complexity, and social content. Independent samples t-tests demonstrated that there were no significant differences in mean normative valence/arousal ratings across each negative image set (all $p \ge .85$).

6.2.3. Procedure

Questionnaires were completed online and the regulation task as part of a lab session, which also included the empathy tasks reported in chapter 3 (order of task completion was counterbalanced across the sample). The regulation task lasted approximately 20 minutes and comprised two blocks: (1) a spontaneous reactivity/recovery block, and (2) an instructed regulation block. The spontaneous block was always completed first. Participants were told that they would be shown a series of images and would subsequently

be asked questions regarding how each image made them feel (see appendix H for full instructions). Block one comprised 30 trials (15 negative images, 15 neutral images). Participants responded to each image by rating how unpleasant/pleasant it made them feel (i.e. valence), and how arousing they found the image. Both ratings were provided using a 9-point scale, where in the case of valence: 1 = extremely unpleasant, 5 = neither pleasant nor unpleasant, 9 = extremely pleasant, and in the case of arousal: 1 = not at all arousing, 9 = extremely arousing. The rating scales were the same for block 1 and block 2, and on each trial the question and accompanying rating scale remained on screen until participants made their response using the 1-9 keys on the keyboard.

Participants were instructed that they should attend to the images for the entire time they are presented. As in chapter 5, participants were informed that all of the images depicted real people in real situations. Following completion of the first block, participants were able to take a short break if they wished and were then given instructions for the second task block. Participants were informed that prior to seeing each image, one of two possible instruction words would be presented on screen. Half of the images were preceded by the word "attend", and the other half by the word "regulate". Participants were instructed that when the word is "attend" they should let any thoughts/feelings unfold as they naturally would. For regulate trials, participants were instructed that they should try to downregulate any negative emotion the image evokes.

In contrast to prior studies where participants are typically instructed to use a particular strategy, in this task participants were free to regulate their emotions using any strategy of their choosing on each trial. The only restriction was that they should not close their eyes or look away from the image. Prior to commencement of the second block, participants completed three practice trials for the regulate condition. Following each practice trial, the experimenter checked that they were able to utilise a feasible regulation strategy. A schematic of trials events in the instructed block is depicted in figure 6.1 (spontaneous block trials comprised the same sequence of events, only excluding the instruction screen prior to image onset).



Fig. 6.1. Schematic of trial events in the instructed regulation block. Trials consisted of the following sequence of events: 1) trial instruction (attend or regulate); pre-image fixation (during which the baseline corrugator activity was measured); 3) stimulus (negative or neutral IAPS image); 4) post-image fixation (recovery period); 5) valence rating screen; 6) arousal rating screen; 7) jittered ITI fixation screen. The trial events for the spontaneous block were exactly the same as above, however there was no instruction screen at the beginning of each trial.

Facial EMG recording and processing

EMG activity was measured using sensors positioned over the corrugator supercilii in accordance with the guidelines proposed by Fridlund and Cacioppo (1986). The skin was cleaned using 70% alcohol wipes, after which 4mm Ag/AgCl surface sensors (Discount Disposables, USA) filled with isotonic electrode gel (Mansfield R&D, UK) were attached bipolarly to the left side of the face using 5mm collars (Discount Disposables) at a distance of 10mm apart. A ground electrode was positioned over the left mastoid process. The EMG signal was recorded using an ML-870 Power Lab, amplified 10,000 times by an ML-138 Octal Bioamp and recorded/processed using LabChart 8 (AD Instruments). The raw EMG signal was sampled at a rate of 1kHz, digitized with 16-bit precision. Digital 500 Hz low-pass and 50 Hz high-pass filters were applied offline.

EMG data were visually inspected for any movement artefacts/noise, following which they were rectified and logarithmically transformed to remove negative values and minimize the impact of any extreme values. The magnitude of EMG activity during the image presentation epoch and recovery (post image-offset) epoch were baseline corrected by dividing the mean activity by the mean activity within a one second baseline fixation period preceding each image (de Wied et al., 2009).
6.2.4. Data reduction and analyses

One participant was removed due to poor quality EMG recording, and one participant with incomplete questionnaire data was also removed. This left a final sample of N = 46, which was subject to analysis. To reduce the influence of data outliers, any trials in which corrugator activity deviated from the mean by more than 3*SD were removed. Following all artefact and outlier trial removal the mean number of trials (\pm SD) from which the fEMG metrics were calculated was: negative image trials (M = 14.41 \pm 1.20); neutral image trials (M = 14.93 \pm 0.25). The mean baseline corrected corrugator activity was assessed in two epochs: (1) the "reactivity" epoch comprised the 6 second period during which an affective image was present on screen; (2) the "recovery" epoch comprised the 6 second fixation screen period that immediately followed image offset.

Self-report ratings of valence and arousal were examined using paired samples t-tests, which compared: (1) the negative and neutral image conditions in the spontaneous block, and (2) the regulate and attend conditions in the instructed block. Corrugator EMG data were analysed using a repeated measures ANOVA with emotion (negative/neutral) and epoch (baseline/reactivity/recovery) as within-subjects factors in the spontaneous block, and a repeated measures ANOVA with instruction (attend/regulate) and epoch (baseline/ reactivity/recovery) as withinsubjects factors in the instructed block. The metric of spontaneous recovery following exposure to negative emotional images, was the baseline corrected corrugator activity within the recovery epoch (i.e. the 6 second fixation epoch following image offset). In alignment with prior studies (e.g. van Reekum et al., 2011), to render this recovery epoch independent from emotional reactivity, the baseline corrected corrugator activity within the recovery epoch was regressed against the baseline corrected corrugator activity within the reactivity epoch. The residuals were then saved as a new variable, which was used in the correlation analysis. As lower values for this residualised recovery metric actually reflected a greater magnitude of recovery, for the sake of clarity, these values were reversed such that higher values reflect a greater magnitude of recovery.

Instructed regulation was assessed based on the difference in self-reported valence and arousal ratings for negative images in the regulate and attend conditions (block 2). So that a higher value on each metric reflects a greater magnitude of emotion downregulation, these metrics were calculated in the following way:

Arousal regulation metric = mean attend rating - mean regulate rating Valence regulation metric = mean regulate rating -mean attend rating

The corrugator metrics of instructed regulation magnitude were calculated by subtracting the mean baseline corrected corrugator activity within the

reactivity (0-6s following image onset) and recovery (0-6s following image offset) epochs of the regulate condition from the corresponding epochs in the attend condition. As with the other metrics, higher values reflect a greater magnitude of emotion downregulation (i.e. regulation ability).

The relationship between emotion regulation ability and empathy was examined using bivariate correlations, which tested the relationship between measures of cognitive/affective empathy and the self-report and EMG metrics from the regulation task. In addition to trait empathy, the relationship between these emotion regulation metrics and key metrics from the director task and SFM task were examined (see section 3.2.2 for further details of these tasks/metrics).

The normality of each variable was assessed using Kolmogorov Smirnov tests. Spearman's rho is reported for any correlations where at least one variable distribution was significantly non-normal. All tests are reported as two-tailed with a significance threshold of p = .05. To ensure that the observed results were not unduly influenced by a small number of outlier cases, the same analyses reported in this results section were conducted following the removal of univariate and bivariate outlier cases (see appendix H). Furthermore, the relationship between the task metrics and a trait measure of emotion regulation (the DERS) was examined (see appendix H).

6.3. Results

6.3.1. Block 1: Emotional reactivity and spontaneous recovery

Self-report ratings

A paired samples t-test demonstrated that arousal ratings were significantly higher for negative (M \pm SD = 5.47 \pm 1.46), relative to neutral (M \pm SD = 2.53 \pm 1.29) images, t(45) = 17.30, *p* < .001 (fig. 6.2, left panel). Similarly, valence ratings were lower (i.e. more negative) for negative (M \pm SD = 2.98 \pm 0.85) relative to neutral (M \pm SD = 5.37 \pm 0.55) images, t(45) = -14.94, *p* < .001 (fig. 6.2, right panel).



Fig. 6.2. Mean ratings of arousal (left panel) and valence (right panel) for negative and neutral images in block 1. Error bars depict ±1 within-subjects SEM.

Corrugator activity

A repeated measures ANOVA with valence (negative/neutral) and epoch (baseline/reactivity/ recovery) on the dependent variable corrugator activity, demonstrated a significant main effect of valence, F(1, 45) = 14.96, p < .001, partial η^2 = .25, a significant main effect of epoch, F(1.33, 59.74) = 15.52, *p* < .001, partial η^2 = .26, and a significant valence by epoch interaction, F(1.32, 59.43) = 15.89, *p* < .001, partial η^2 = .26.

Pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni adjustment revealed that mean corrugator activity was greater overall for negative compared to neutral images (p < .001). Overall corrugator activity was lower within the baseline fixation period relative to the reactivity and recovery epochs (both p < .001). There was no difference between corrugator activity for negative and neutral image trials in the baseline period (p = .90), however negative images were associated with significantly higher corrugator activity relative to neutral images in the reactivity and recovery epochs (both p < .001).

For negative images, corrugator activity was higher in the reactivity and recovery epochs relative to the pre-stimulus baseline (all p < .001); corrugator activity for negative images was higher in the reactivity epoch relative to the recovery epoch (p = .01). For neutral images, there were no significant differences in corrugator activity across any epochs (all p >= .67). Baseline corrected corrugator activity for negative and neutral images across the reactivity and recovery epochs are presented in figure 6.3. For illustrative purposes the mean baseline corrected corrugator activity for each 1 second epoch following image onset are presented in figure 6.4.



Fig. 6.3. Baseline corrected corrugator activity for negative (red) and neutral (blue) images in the reactivity and recovery epochs. Error bars depict ±1 within-subjects SEM.



Fig. 6.4. Baseline corrected corrugator activity for negative (red) and neutral (blue) images in each one second epoch of the reactivity and recovery periods. Error bars depict ±1 within-subjects SEM.

Emotional reactivity/spontaneous recovery and empathy

Self-report measures of emotional reactivity

Trait cognitive empathy was not significantly related to arousal ratings for negative images, rho(44) = .19, p = .20. Affective empathy also showed no relationship with negative image arousal ratings, rho(44) = .10, p = .52. These correlations were not significantly different (Z = 0.67, p = .50). Trait cognitive and affective empathy both showed no relationship with valence ratings for negative images (r(44) = -.03, p = .87; r(44) = .03, p = .86, respectively). These correlations were not significantly different (Z = 0.44, p = .66).

To enable greater clarity regarding the influence of one's propensity and ability in relation to the different dimensions of empathy, the relationship between task-based measures of cognitive/affective empathy and the regulation task self-reported emotional reactivity metrics were examined (table 6.1) (see section 3.2.2 for further details of these tasks/metrics).

Table 6.1.

Variable	Mean arousal rating	Mean valence rating
	(neg images)	(neg images)
Director Task	.05 (<i>p</i> = .75)	05 (p = .75)
Angry SFM	.26 (p = .11)	.11 (<i>p</i> = .50)
Happy SFM	.16 (<i>p</i> = .33)	11 (p = .50)

Correlation results for empathy tasks and self-reported arousal and valence

Corrugator EMG measures of spontaneous recovery

To examine spontaneous recovery following exposure to negative images, the correlation between each empathy measure and corrugator activity within the recovery epoch (independent of emotional reactivity) was examined. Trait cognitive empathy showed no relationship with the corrugator recovery metric, r(44) = .14, p = .36. Trait affective empathy showed a non-significant positive trend with the corrugator recovery metric, r(44) = .23, p = .12. These correlations were not significantly different (Z = 0.62, p = .53). The correlations between the recovery metric and task measures of cognitive/affective empathy are shown in table 6.2.

Table 6.2.

Correlation results for empathy tasks and spontaneous recovery metric

Variable	EMG spontaneous recovery metric	
Director Task	.003 (p = .99)	
Angry SFM	.17 (<i>p</i> = .30)	
Happy SFM	.08 (<i>p</i> = .64)	

6.3.2. Block 2 - instructed emotion regulation

Self-report ratings

A paired samples t-test demonstrated that arousal ratings were significantly higher in the attend (M \pm SD = 5.37 \pm 1.46) relative to the regulate (M \pm SD = 4.45 \pm 1.50) condition, *t*(45) = 7.54, *p* < .001 (fig. 6.5, left panel). Similarly, valence ratings were significantly lower (i.e. more negative) in the attend (M \pm SD = 2.89 \pm 0.68) relative to the regulate (M \pm SD = 3.83 \pm 0.73) condition, t(45) = -8.94, *p* < .001 (fig. 6.5, right panel).



Fig. 6.5. Mean ratings of arousal (left panel) and valence (right panel) for the attend and regulate conditions. Error bars depict ±1 within-subjects SEM.

Corrugator activity

A repeated measures ANOVA with instruction (regulate/attend) and epoch (baseline/reactivity/recovery) on the dependent variable corrugator activity demonstrated a significant main effect of instruction, F(1, 45) = 7.92, p = .007, partial $\eta^2 = .15$, a significant main effect of epoch, F(1.45, 65.33) = 15.14, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .25$, and a significant instruction by epoch interaction, F(1.66, 74.65) = 13.31, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .25$.

Pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni adjustment revealed that mean corrugator activity was greater in the attend relative to the regulate condition overall (p = .007). Corrugator activity in the baseline epoch was significantly lower than in the reactivity (p < .001) and recovery (p = .03) epochs. There was no difference between the attend and regulate conditions in the baseline period (p = .65), however, corrugator activity was significantly higher in the attend relative to the regulate condition in the reactivity (p = .003) and recovery (p = .001) epochs.

In the attend condition, mean corrugator activity was lower in the baseline epoch, relative to the reactivity and recovery epochs (both p < .001); mean corrugator activity was higher in the reactivity relative to the recovery epoch (p = .007). In the regulate condition, baseline corrugator activity was lower at trend-level than in the reactivity epoch (p = .05), but was not significantly different to the recovery epoch (p = 1.0); corrugator activity was higher in the reactivity epoch relative to the recovery epoch (p = .01).

Baseline corrected corrugator activity for the attend and regulate conditions across the reactivity and recovery periods are presented in figure 6.6. For illustrative purposes the mean baseline corrected corrugator activity in the attend and regulate conditions for each one second epoch of the trial period are presented in figure 6.7.



Fig. 6.6. Baseline corrected corrugator activity for negative images in the attend (red) and regulate (blue) images in each reactivity and recovery epoch. Error bars depict ±1 within-subjects SEM.



Fig. 6.7. Baseline corrected corrugator activity for negative images in the attend (red) and regulate (blue) in each one second epoch for the reactivity and recovery periods. Error bars depict ±1 within-subjects SEM.

Instructed regulation ability and empathy

Self-report measures of regulation magnitude

To assess instructed regulation ability, the relationship between each empathy measure and the self-reported valence (regulate – attend) and arousal (attend – regulate) regulation metrics were examined. Trait cognitive and affective empathy showed no relationship with the valence regulation metric (r(44) = .01, p = .96; r(44) = -.002, p = .99, respectively). These correlations were not significantly different, Z = 0.08, p = .93.

Similarly, there was no evidence of any relationship between cognitive or affective empathy and the arousal rating regulation metric (rho(44) = -.03, p = .85; rho(44) = .05, p = .73, respectively). These two correlations were not significantly different, Z = 0.55, p = .58. As highlighted in table 6.3, no relationships were observed between self-report metrics of regulation magnitude and task measures of cognitive/affective empathy.

Table 6.3.

Correlations between empathy	y tasks and	l self-report regu	lation metrics
------------------------------	-------------	--------------------	----------------

Variable	Mean arousal diff	Mean valence diff
	(attend - regulate)	(regulate - attend)
Director Task	.03 (p = .87)	.16 (<i>p</i> = .35)
Angry SFM	001 (p = .99)	.17 (<i>p</i> = .30)
Happy SFM	01 (<i>p</i> = .93)	.05 (<i>p</i> = .76)

Corrugator EMG measures of instructed regulation magnitude Trait cognitive and affective empathy were not significantly related to metrics of regulation magnitude in the reactivity epoch (rho(44) = .20, p =.18; rho(44) = .21, p = .17, respectively). These correlations were not significantly different (Z = 0.07, p = .94). There was no evidence of any relationship between trait cognitive and affective empathy and the metric of regulation magnitude in the recovery epoch (rho(44) = -.08, p = .58; rho(44) = .11, p = .48, respectively). These correlations were not significantly different (Z = 1.32, p = .19). There was also no evidence for any relationship between EMG measures of instructed regulation magnitude and task measures of empathy (table 6.4).

Table 6.4.

Variable	EMG regulation metric	EMG regulation metric	
	(reactivity period)	(recovery period)	
Director Task	08 (<i>p</i> = .63)	11 (<i>p</i> = .50)	
Angry SFM	.07 (<i>p</i> = .66)	.01 (<i>p</i> = .98)	
Happy SFM	.08 (<i>p</i> = .62)	.01 (<i>p</i> = .98)	

Correlations between empathy tasks and EMG regulation metrics

6.4. Discussion

6.4.1. Summary of findings

This study examined the relationship that cognitive/affective empathy share with self-report and corrugator EMG metrics of (1) spontaneous emotional recovery and (2) instructed emotion regulation ability. In contrast to tasks that instruct participants to use a particular strategy (or strategies) across all regulate trials, this study utilised a paradigm in which participants were free to regulate their emotions using any strategy of their choosing. A benefit of this approach is that it enables a more holistic and ecologically-valid measure of regulation abilities (Baur et al., 2015), which incorporates aspects of strategy selection and implementation (Gross, 2015).

The results suggest that the task was effective in inducing negative affect and that participants were able to downregulate these experiences as instructed; this was evidenced by significant reductions in self-reported negative valence, arousal, and corrugator activity. These findings are aligned with those of various prior studies (Cacioppo et al., 1986, Dimberg, 1990, Jackson et al., 2000; Larsen et al., 2003, Ray et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2012), and one recent study in particular, which utilised a similar "free choice" regulation task (Baur et al., 2015). Additionally, it was observed that some of the self-report and corrugator change metrics from this task showed trend-level relationships with a trait measure of emotion dysregulation that were in the expected direction (see appendix H). Taken

together these results suggest that the task was effectively tapping into abilities relevant to emotion regulation.

Across both the spontaneous and instructed blocks, the hypothesised relationship between cognitive empathy and emotion regulation ability was not observed; a trait and task measure of cognitive empathy showed no relationship with self-report and corrugator metrics of emotion regulation ability. While trait affective empathy showed a trend-level positive relationship with a corrugator EMG metric of spontaneous emotional recovery, no significant relationships with the regulation task metrics were observed for a trait and task measure of affective empathy.

6.4.2. Cognitive empathy and emotion regulation

Cognitive empathy showed no relationship with metrics of spontaneous recovery following exposure to negative emotional images. In an instructed regulation block, aside from a weak relationship with a corrugator metric of regulation magnitude that was in the expected direction, there was no evidence to support the hypothesis that cognitive empathy is positively associated with emotion regulation ability.

These findings are in contrast to prior theoretical (Schipper and Peterman, 2013) and empirical work (Lockwood et al., 2014; Powell, 2018; Tully et al., 2016), which suggests that greater cognitive empathy may be associated with improved emotion regulation abilities. Furthermore, these results are

discordant with those reported in chapters 2, 3, and 4 of this thesis, which found that cognitive empathy was positively associated with certain emotion regulation abilities. The handful of previous studies that have examined this relationship have typically done so using only trait measures; to my knowledge, this is the first study to examine this relationship using more objective measures of regulation ability that assess different implicit and explicit emotion regulation abilities. Therefore, while the current findings are in contrast to prior work, given the different methodologies used some divergence is not entirely surprising. Similarly, the previous studies in this thesis that reported a relationship between cognitive empathy and emotion regulation assessed different regulatory abilities using different approaches to the current study, which may not necessarily be directly related to one another.

In sum, this study found no strong evidence to support the hypothesis that cognitive empathy is positively associated with emotion regulation ability. Some potential interpretations of these findings in relation to prior theoretical and empirical work are discussed further in section 6.4.4.

6.4.3. Affective empathy and emotion regulation

Given the findings of chapter 5, which suggested that affective empathy was associated with increased downregulation of negative emotion based on implicit but not explicit reappraisal, it was predicted that affective empathy would be positively related to a metric of spontaneous recovery

but would show no relationship with metrics of instructed regulation ability. In block 1, trait and task measures of affective empathy showed no relationship with self-report measures of emotional reactivity (i.e. valence and arousal), however a trend-level positive relationship with an EMG measure of spontaneous emotional recovery was observed for trait affective empathy. While not significant, this finding suggests that greater trait affective empathy was associated with a slightly faster recovery (i.e. corrugator return to baseline) following the offset of negative affective images. In block 2, trait affective empathy showed no relationship with selfreport or corrugator EMG metrics of instructed regulation ability.

Across previous chapters, affective empathy has shown a mixed relationship with metrics of emotion regulation ability. For example, trait affective empathy was associated with fewer difficulties with emotional awareness and increased magnitude of negative emotion downregulation in an implicit reappraisal task; however, it was also associated with greater self-reported difficulty maintaining goal-focused behaviours and increased emotional interference in an implicit emotion regulation task.

With these results in mind, it is possible that greater affective empathy confers advantages for more implicit and spontaneous regulatory processes but can hinder more explicit and effortful processes. A speculative interpretation might be that any potential benefit that a heightened awareness of one's own emotions may confer on one's emotion regulation

abilities, is negated by concurrent heightened levels of emotional interference. This might explain why affective empathy shows some evidence of being associated with improved spontaneous emotional recovery but is largely negatively related or unrelated to metrics assessing more explicit and effortful aspects of emotion regulation.

6.4.4. Summary, conclusions, and limitations

The study reported in this chapter utilised a task measure of emotion regulation that enabled the assessment of different implicit and explicit abilities. In alignment with the extended process model of emotion regulation, performance on this task was reliant not only upon participants' ability to effectively implement regulatory control, but also their ability to select a strategy most suitable for different negative images and the emotional state they evoked (Gross, 2015). Based on self-report (valence and arousal) and EMG (corrugator change) metrics of downregulation magnitude, this study found no strong evidence for any relationship between cognitive or affective empathy and emotion regulation ability.

While the free-choice regulation task provides a more ecologically valid measure of regulation ability than other regulation paradigms, performance on this task may not necessarily provide an accurate reflection on participants' true emotion regulation abilities. While lab-based studies enable greater control over potential confounds, the environment is inherently somewhat artificial and may not accurately capture more

naturalistic regulatory behaviours/abilities. One key aspect relevant to real-world emotion regulation that was not assessed by the current task, is the ability to generate appropriate regulatory goals. According to the extended process model of emotion regulation, one need not necessarily regulate all emotions all the time. Instead, the modulation of emotions should only occur when one's current state interferes with the accomplishment of some explicit or implicit goal (Gross, 1998, 2015). A speculative interpretation of the null findings of this study is that any variability in emotion regulation ability may have been overshadowed by differences in the regulation goals of participants with different levels of cognitive/affective empathy.

To explain this point further, I now draw upon some recent theoretical work highlighting the role of goals and motivation in relation to empathy. This work suggests that an individual's level of trait empathy may influence the extent to which they value engaging with the emotions of others. Individuals with higher trait empathy may place greater value upon engaging with another's emotions, even in instances where this might entail experiencing negative emotions (Cameron et al., 2018; Tamir, 2016; Zaki, 2014). In line with this assertion, it is possible that individuals with higher trait empathy were simply more willing to tolerate a higher level of negativity caused by another's emotional state than those with lower trait empathy, which could have overshadowed any potential advantages that greater empathy might entail with regards to regulation ability.

Any such differences in the goal-states participants with different levels of empathy were trying to achieve through regulation might have manifested as differences in the strategies they chose to use during the task. There are various ways in which an individual could regulate the emotions they experience in response to perceiving the negative state of another. For example, one could try to reappraise the state of the other as less negative or simply distract oneself in order not to think about the other's situation (Cameron et al., 2018; Tamir, 2016; Zaki, 2014).

If individuals with greater empathy place more value on engaging with another's emotions, it could be that they were less likely than those with lower levels of empathy to use a strategy that entailed avoiding the other's emotions (e.g. distraction). Perhaps they were instead more likely to use a regulation strategy that entailed still engaging with the other's experience (e.g. reappraisal). Given evidence that distraction is typically more effective than reappraisal in modulating more intense emotional responses in the short-term (McRae, 2016; Sheppes and Levin, 2013; Smoski et al., 2014), this speculative interpretation could explain why the predicted relationship between cognitive empathy and regulation ability was not observed.

While this interpretation may sufficiently explain the observed relationship between trait empathy and regulation ability, it is somewhat less convincing in relation to the results observed for the task measure of cognitive empathy. While trait empathy largely reflects one's dispositional motivation to engage empathic processes, the director task provides a more objective measure of perspective-taking ability (Gehlbach, 2004; Guzman et al., 2016; Santiesteban et al., 2012). Thus, while the relationship (or lack thereof) between trait cognitive empathy and regulation ability may in part be a reflection of different regulation goal-states and patterns of strategy selection, this interpretation is less able to account for the failure to find any significant relationship between emotion regulation metrics and the task measure of perspective-taking ability.

In the context of the speculative interpretation discussed above, one limitation of the current study is that all of the negative images were of a social nature. Given that one would expect greater cognitive and affective empathy to be associated with increased emotional reactivity to others' negative emotions (e.g. Sato et al., 2013; Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002), it could be that individuals with greater empathy experience greater difficulty in regulating their emotional state in such instances. Thus, it could be that using only social images negated any potential advantage that greater empathy could endow in terms of regulating one's emotions day-to-day, which would often not be triggered by the perception of another individual's emotional state. It would be beneficial for future work to test this speculative interpretation by examining the relationship between measures of empathy and regulation tasks that include both social and nonsocial stimuli.

Chapter 7

General Discussion

7.1. Summary

Despite increasing theoretical work suggestive of a close relationship between empathy and emotion regulation, there has been relatively little empirical study of how different cognitive and affective component processes associated with empathy relate to different emotion regulation abilities. Building upon a handful of prior studies that have found evidence for a relationship between empathy and emotion regulation using trait measures (Contardi et al., 2016; Lockwood et al., 2014), this thesis utilised a range of methodological approaches to examine the relationship between distinct component processes of empathy and emotion regulation. Based on a series of studies, which used a combination of self-report, behavioural, eye-tracking, and psychophysiology metrics, this thesis found evidence that variability in empathy is associated with individual differences in emotion regulation abilities and behaviours.

In the majority of studies there was some evidence to support the hypothesis that the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy share different relationships emotion regulation abilities. While there was some evidence to support the prediction that emotion regulation ability would be positively associated with cognitive empathy and negatively associated with affective empathy, some conflicting findings were observed. The results suggest that the nature of the relationship between these constructs varies as a function of: (1) the precise component of emotion regulation and empathy being tested, and (2) the nature of the methods used to assess

them. The hypotheses and findings for each study are presented in table 7.1.

These findings and their relation to the extant literature are considered in

greater detail in subsequent sections.

Table 7.1. Summary of study hypotheses and findings

Ch	Emp Measure	ER Measure	Hypotheses	Findings
2	Trait (QCAE)	Trait (ERQ) Trait (DERS)	CE positively related to reappraisal use but negatively related to suppression use and emotion dysregulation	CE showed positive relationship with reappraisal use and negative relationship with suppression use and emotion dysregulation
			AE negatively associated with suppression use but positively associated with emotion dysregulation	AE showed negative relationship with suppression use and positive relationship with some facets of emotion dysregulation
3	Task (DT) Task	Trait (ERQ) Trait	Perspective-taking ability positively related to reappraisal use; negatively related to suppression use and emotion dysregulation	DT metric showed negative correlation with emotion dysregulation and negative relationship with suppression use
	(RMET) Task (SFM)	(DERS)	Mental state attribution ability would show no relationship with trait emotion regulation	RMET showed no relationship with any trait emotion regulation measures
			AE negatively associated with suppression use; positively associated with emotion dysregulation	Angry face SFM positively related to reappraisal use and negatively related to emotion dysregulation

4	Trait (QCAE)	Task (Emo- GNG) Task (Emo- Stroop)	CE associated with reduced emotional interference effects AE associated with increased emotional interference effects	CE associated with reduced emotion interference effects in Emo-Stroop but not Emo-GNG AE associated with increased emotion interference effects in Emo-GNG but not Emo- Stroop
5	Trait (QCAE)	Task (Implicit reappraisal) Task (Explicit reappraisal)	CE positively associated with implicit and explicit reappraisal ability AE no relationship with implicit or explicit reappraisal	CE no relationship with implicit reappraisal; negative relationship with explicit reappraisal AE positively associated with implicit reappraisal; no relationship with explicit reappraisal
6	Trait (QCAE) Task (DT) Task (SFM)	Task (Spont & instructed regulation)	CE positively associated with spontaneous and instructed regulation ability AE positively associated with spontaneous recovery but no relationship with instructed regulation	No relationship between cognitive empathy trait/tasks and regulation task metrics Trait AE showed trend- level positive relationship with recovery; no other relationships observed

7.2. Cognitive empathy and emotion regulation

Based on the literature reviewed in chapter 1, it was predicted that cognitive empathy would be positively associated with emotion regulation ability. Broadly speaking, the results of the studies reported in this thesis provide support for this hypothesis. However, the nature of the relationship between cognitive empathy and emotion regulation varied depending upon the way in which each construct was measured.

7.2.1. Trait and task measures of cognitive empathy and their relationship with trait emotion regulation

In chapter 2, it was observed that higher trait cognitive empathy was associated with more adaptive self-reported strategy use, indexed by a greater propensity to use reappraisal and a reduced propensity to use suppression. Trait cognitive empathy was also negatively related to selfreported emotion dysregulation, which was driven primarily by negative relationships with subscales assessing difficulties with emotional awareness and controlling emotional impulses.

In relative alignment with these results, in chapter 3 it was observed that a task measure of perspective-taking ability (director task; henceforth DT) was negatively associated with trait emotion dysregulation. While this perspective-taking metric showed a negative correlation with suppression use, it was not significantly associated with reappraisal use. In contrast to perspective-taking ability, a task assessing participants' ability to recognise complex mental/emotional states based on images of the eye region (the RMET; Baron-Cohen et al., 1997, 2001) was unrelated to any trait measures of emotion regulation.

These findings provide support for the hypothesis that cognitive empathy is positively associated with emotion regulation ability, and build upon prior work in this area by: (1) showing evidence of this relationship using both trait and task measures of cognitive empathy, and (2) providing greater specificity regarding how different abilities associated with cognitive empathy (i.e. perspective-taking and mental state attribution) are related to trait emotion regulation measures.

While the DT and RMET both assess abilities related to the cognitive component of empathy, these tasks may differ in the extent to which they place demands on effortful cognitive processes (Santiesteban et al., 2012). While there is evidence to suggest that various abilities associated with cognitive empathy are related to the efficiency of domain-general cognitive control processes (Bull et al., 2008; Carlson et al., 2004; Dennis et al., 2009; Goel et al., 1995; Gokcen et al., 2017; Hansen, 2011; Saxe et al., 2004), there may be some variability in the extent to which they each place demands on different sub-processes, such as working memory and inhibition (Bailey and Henry, 2008; Guzman et al., 2015; Spengler et al., 2010).

Santiesteban et al. (2012) assert that a key difference between perspectivetaking and mental state attribution/emotion recognition tasks is the extent to which they necessitate the online control of self and other representations. To perform well in the DT, participants must be able to simultaneously hold in mind their own and the director's perspective, and

switch between these coactive self and other related representations. These processes are likely to place demands on working memory and inhibitory control, which have also been implicated in various emotion regulation processes (Guzman et al., 2016; Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016; McRae et al. 2010; Messina et al., 2015).

Similar to perspective-taking, reappraisal may require one to simultaneously hold different appraisals in mind and inhibit dominant appraisals in order to generate new and/or sub-dominant appraisals that might serve to modify one's emotional response (Messina et al., 2015). Furthermore, perspective-taking processes are closely related to the emotion regulation strategy sometimes referred to as cognitive distancing (or reappraisal via perspective-taking) (Davis et al., 2011; Kross and Ayduk, 2008; Messina et al., 2015; Webb et al., 2012a). Both of these processes are associated with a shift in perspective and are likely mediated by similar inhibitory control processes, subserved largely by the PFC and temporoparietal junction (TPJ) (Davis et al., 2011; Guzman et al., 2015; Santiesteban et al., 2012).

Given that many forms of emotion regulation are reliant upon similar underlying processes to those associated with perspective-taking (Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016; Kalisch, 2009; McRae et al., 2010; Salas et al., 2014; Saxe et al., 2004; Urry et al., 2009), it could be that individuals with improved perspective-taking abilities are able to engage these processes

more efficiently, which facilitates emotion regulation. In contrast, as performance on the RMET is thought to rely upon more automatic processes associated with matching the target expression to expression archetypes and terminology stored in memory (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; Vellante et al., 2013), a greater capacity for this component of cognitive empathy may confer little advantage in terms of the efficiency of the processes that support emotion regulation.

7.2.2. Trait cognitive empathy and task measures of emotion regulation

In later chapters of this thesis (chapters 4, 5, and 6), I examined the relationship between trait empathy and task measures of different emotion regulation abilities. Reported in chapter 4 were two tasks that assessed implicit emotion regulation abilities associated with controlling impulsive responses in the presence of salient emotional distractors (Emo-GNG and Emo-Stroop). While cognitive empathy showed no relationship with the Emo-GNG task metrics, it was negatively associated with emotional interference effects in an Emo-Stroop task.

Broadly speaking, these results suggest that individuals with greater cognitive empathy were more effective in minimising the interference caused by emotional distractors. These results are consistent with those reported chapter 2, where trait cognitive empathy was negatively associated with self-reported difficulties with impulse control. These findings may also to some extent explain the relationship observed between

cognitive empathy and habitual regulation strategy use. Many adaptive forms of emotion regulation, such as reappraisal, are dependent upon cognitive control processes such as working memory and inhibition (Buhle et al., 2014; Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016; Salas et al., 2014). A greater capacity to maintain efficiency of these processes in emotional situations may support the ability to form appropriate regulatory goals and to select and implement more adaptive strategies (Koster et al., 2011; Morillas-Romero et al., 2015; Servaas et al., 2013;). This could explain in part why cognitive empathy was positively associated with the habitual use of reappraisal and negatively associated with the habitual use of suppression.

To test whether the increased use of reappraisal reported by individuals with greater cognitive empathy was also associated with improved reappraisal abilities, chapter 5 examined the relationship between trait empathy and two task measures of reappraisal. No evidence was found to support the hypothesis that cognitive empathy would be positively associated with reappraisal ability. Trait cognitive empathy showed no relationship with the magnitude of emotion downregulation in an implicit reappraisal task. Furthermore, trait cognitive empathy was negatively related to self-report and automated facial coding (AFC) metrics of regulation magnitude in an explicit reappraisal task.

Trait cognitive empathy measures largely reflect one's motivational disposition toward taking others' perspectives (Gehlbach, 2004; Keysers

and Gazzola, 2014; Reniers et al., 2011). Accordingly, the results of the explicit reappraisal task could suggest that participants with a greater dispositional propensity to take the perspectives of others were less effective in downregulating negative emotional experiences using reappraisal. Given the social stimuli used in this task, it is possible that an increased disposition to take others' perspectives made it more difficult to adopt a distanced perspective that might facilitate the generation of effective reappraisal narratives. While further work would be required to test this speculative interpretation, it highlights a potentially important divergence between one's ability and propensity for cognitive empathy, and how they relate to emotion regulation.

Taken together, these findings suggest that while cognitive empathy is positively associated with the propensity to use reappraisal, it is not necessarily associated with a heightened ability to downregulate negative emotions using reappraisal. In terms of the extended process model of emotion regulation (Gross, 2015), this could imply that cognitive empathy facilitates the selection, but not the implementation, stage of the regulatory process.

The study reported in chapter 6 utilised a task in which participants were free to choose the means by which they attempted to regulate their emotions. In addition to enabling the assessment of abilities associated with the selection and implementation of emotion regulation strategies, this

study also examined the relationship that trait and task measures of empathy shared with a measure of spontaneous emotional recovery. Based on a combination of self-report and corrugator EMG metrics, this study found no evidence for any relationship between trait cognitive empathy and emotion regulation ability. A task measure of perspective-taking ability also showed no relationship with any of the regulation task metrics.

These findings are in contrast to prior chapters, where greater cognitive empathy was associated with more adaptive emotion regulation abilities and behaviours (chapters 2, 3, and 4). Possible explanations for the different relationships that cognitive empathy shows with trait and task measures of emotion regulation are discussed further in subsection 7.4 of this chapter. Here I focus upon the divergent relationships that trait cognitive empathy shows with different emotion regulation tasks.

The finding that trait cognitive empathy was positively associated with implicit emotion regulation abilities (chapter 4) but did not show a similar positive relationship with regulation ability in chapters 5 and 6, could be due to differences in the regulatory processes that these tasks assess. The tasks in chapters 5 and 6 assessed the ability to downregulate negative emotional responses to social IAPS images, whereas the Emo-Stroop assessed more implicit regulatory process that occur at an early stage of stimulus processing. Thus, some divergence between these different task measures should be expected. However, the regulation tasks reported in

chapters 5 and 6 were similar in many respects; yet, trait cognitive empathy still showed different relationships with these measures.

These inconsistent findings could be due to variability in the strategies that participants used to regulate their emotions in these tasks. In the explicit reappraisal task (chapter 5), participants were specifically instructed to use only reappraisal, whereas in the chapter 6 regulation task they were free to regulate their emotions using any strategy of their choosing.

In the context of interpreting these results, a pertinent distinction between different regulatory strategies is regarding their relative position along an "approach/avoid" continuum. For example, reappraisal entails a relatively "approach" focused strategy, in which the observer still engages with the emotional stimulus (i.e. the other's situation/emotion in the context of social images), but simply tries to change their appraisals of it. In contrast, attentional deployment and distraction strategies can be considered more "avoidant", in the sense that the individual may attempt to reduce the extent to which they attend the emotional stimulus (Augustine and Hemenover, 2009; Gross, 2015; Rieffe et al., 2014).

People tend to favour more avoidant strategies such as distraction over reappraisal for regulating emotional responses to more intense stimuli (Sheppes et al., 2011; Sheppes and Levin, 2013). There is also evidence to suggest that avoidant strategies like distraction are less cognitively

demanding and more effective in inducing short-term emotional modulation than reappraisal (Kanske et al., 2011; Smoski et al., 2014; Strauss et al., 2016). In light of this evidence, it is possible that differences in the strategies that participants used in each of these tasks could to some extent explain the different relationships these measures share with cognitive empathy.

One's capacity to share another's emotion is not driven solely by spontaneous mimicry/embodiment in response to concrete emotion cues. Placing oneself in 'another's shoes' and making inferences about their emotional experience can in itself be sufficient to induce some degree of affective resonance with their imagined state (Bird and Viding, 2014; Goldman, 2011). Given that higher trait cognitive empathy reflects in part a heightened disposition to recognise others' emotions and place oneself in their perspective (Gehlbach, 2004; Keysers and Gazzola, 2014; Reniers et al., 2011), it is reasonable to infer that it might also be associated with increased resonance with others' emotions.

Consequently, the fact that the explicit reappraisal task required participants to maintain engagement with the negative social stimuli may have made regulation more difficult for those with higher trait cognitive empathy. This could perhaps have been due to difficulties in adopting a more detached perspective that might facilitate the generation of alternative reappraisals of the stimuli. In contrast, when participants were

free to use any strategy of their choosing, a heightened propensity to take the depicted target's perspective and resonate with their experience may have exerted less of a negative influence, as regulation could be achieved simply by disengaging one's attention from the more evocative aspects of the stimulus (e.g. the other's suffering).

In sum, the findings of these studies provide some evidence to support the hypothesis that greater cognitive empathy is associated with more adaptive emotion regulation. However, the relationship that cognitive empathy showed with emotion regulation abilities demonstrated significant patterns of divergence across these studies.

7.3. Affective empathy and emotion regulation

Based on evidence to suggest that greater affective empathy is associated increased reactivity to social emotional stimuli (Rueckert et al., 2011; Sato et al., 2013; Sonnby-Borgstrom, 2002) it was expected that higher levels of affective empathy would be associated with a heightened sensitivity to the potential emotional interference on cognitive control processes (Hare et al., 2005, 2008; Tottenham et al., 2011). Given the crucial role these processes play in various aspects of emotion regulation (Buhle et al., 2014; Messina et al., 2015), it was predicted that affective empathy would show a negative relationship with metrics of emotion regulation ability. While there was some evidence to support this hypothesis, as was the case with cognitive empathy, the relationship between affective empathy and emotion
regulation was different depending upon the way in which each construct was measured.

7.3.1. Trait and task measures of affective empathy and their relationship with trait emotion regulation

Trait affective empathy was not significantly associated with overall levels of self-reported emotion dysregulation, however, it showed significant positive relationships with subscales measuring difficulties (1) managing one's emotions and (2) maintaining goal-focused behaviours in emotional situations. In contrast, trait affective empathy was negatively associated with difficulties with emotional awareness, suggesting that higher affective empathy may facilitate the capacity to reflect upon one's own emotions. Taken together these findings suggest that greater affective empathy may support some aspects of emotion regulation while hindering others.

While affective empathy showed no relationship with the habitual use of reappraisal, it was negatively associated with the propensity to use suppression. This suggests that while greater affective empathy is associated with less frequent use of maladaptive strategies, it is not associated with more frequent use of adaptive reappraisal strategies.

Contrary to the results observed for trait affective empathy, a task measure of SFM (a key component process associated with affective empathy) showed relationships with trait measures of emotion regulation that were

broadly indicative of more adaptive emotion regulation abilities. Increased spontaneous mimicry of angry faces was negatively associated with trait emotion dysregulation and showed a positive relationship with the habitual use of reappraisal. Interestingly, no relationship with these emotion regulation measures was observed for mimicry of happy faces (chapter 3).

These results could suggest that emotion dysregulation is associated with valence-specific disruption in spontaneous mimicry mechanisms. It could be that individuals with increased levels of emotion dysregulation exhibit an increased freezing response when exposed to threatening stimuli (e.g. angry faces). It is also possible that these effects were associated with differences in the way in which individuals with high/low trait emotion dysregulation attended to the angry faces. For example, those with greater emotion dysregulation may have been less willing/able to maintain direct eye contact with the threatening angry faces, which could explain their attenuated mimicry response (Hadjikhani et al., 2017).

These findings demonstrate a divergence between trait and task measures of affective empathy in terms of their relationship with emotion regulation. Furthermore, they highlight important considerations regarding the assessment of empathy. Prior work has failed to find evidence of strong convergence between trait and task measures of empathy (Melchers et al., 2015; Murphy and Lilienfeld, 2019), which suggests that these different approaches may not necessarily assess the same underlying constructs. The

current findings are broadly consistent with such work and demonstrate that trait and task measures of affective empathy are differentially related to emotion regulation abilities.

7.3.2. Trait affective empathy and task measures of emotion regulation

While trait affective empathy showed no relationship with the self-reported habitual use of reappraisal, it was associated with increased downregulation of negative emotion in an implicit reappraisal task. This suggests that while those with greater affective empathy do not use reappraisal more frequently in their daily lives, they show a heightened capacity for implicit reappraisal through extrinsic contextual information. In contrast, trait affective empathy showed no relationship with reappraisal ability in an explicit reappraisal task and was not significantly related to metrics of spontaneous recovery or regulation ability in an instructed emotion regulation task. In chapter 4, it was observed that trait affective empathy was positively associated with the magnitude of emotional interference effects in an Emo-GNG task.

In attempting to synthesise the findings of these various studies one could speculate that while higher affective empathy is associated with improved trait emotional awareness (chapter 2), which should support emotion regulation, it is also associated with a heightened sensitivity to emotional interference on inhibitory control processes (chapters 2 and 4). This may negate any potential benefit of improved emotional awareness in instances

where regulation is more reliant upon effortful cognitive control processes (chapter 5, study 2 and chapter 6, instructed block). However, in instances where emotion regulation is less reliant upon conscious implementation and cognitive control, greater affective empathy may support certain regulation processes (chapter 5, study 1 and chapter 6, spontaneous block).

7.4. Divergent patterns for trait and task measures of emotion regulation in terms of their relationship with cognitive and affective empathy

As noted in the preceding sections, the relationships that cognitive and affective empathy shared with emotion regulation were different depending upon the way in which these constructs were measured. While some of the findings across these studies may at first seem somewhat discordant, there are a number of potential explanations for these divergent results.

At the most basic level, it is important to note that different components of emotion regulation were examined across each of these studies. Therefore, the fact that empathy measures were related to some regulation metrics but not others could simply reflect the fact that cognitive and affective empathy share different relationships with distinct components of emotion regulation. Some studies did assess aspects of emotion regulation that one would expect to be at least moderately related; yet, different relationships with these measures and empathy were still observed. I now highlight some important distinctions between the trait and task measures of emotion regulation used in this thesis and reflect upon their relevance for interpreting the relationships that these measures were found to share with empathy.

7.4.1. Propensity versus ability

While trait cognitive empathy was positively correlated with the habitual use of reappraisal, it showed a negative relationship with the magnitude of emotion downregulation in an explicit reappraisal task. A discrepancy between these reappraisal measures is in many ways not surprising given that one measure indexes an individual's propensity to use reappraisal, whereas the other directly assesses their ability to regulate their emotions using this strategy in a laboratory environment.

While one might assume that more frequent use of a given strategy entails a greater ability to use that strategy, and vice versa, this evidently is not necessarily always the case (Ford et al., 2017). While various prior studies have found evidence of a relationship between the habitual use of reappraisal and task metrics of regulation ability (Brudner et al., 2018; Fitzgerald et al., 2017; Kanske et al., 2012; McRae et al., 2013), in the present studies there was little evidence of convergence between self-reported strategy use and task measures of emotion regulation ability.

Unlike task paradigms, trait measures assess respondents' self-perceptions of their regulatory abilities/experiences, which may not necessarily provide an accurate reflection of their true abilities. For example, many regulatory processes can take place on an implicit level; as such, one may not have the ability to accurately reflect upon certain regulatory abilities (Gyurak et al., 2011; Koole et al., 2015; Mauss et al., 2007). Additionally, individuals may overestimate their own abilities and/or positive traits (John and Robins, 1994), which can leave self-report measures susceptible to certain response biases. This is less true of task measures, particularly those that utilise more objective metrics of emotion, such as fEMG.

7.4.2. Social versus non-social emotional triggers

A further distinction between the trait and task measures used in this thesis is the extent to which they assess regulation of emotional states induced by empathic processes. The trait measures that were used measured participants' typical experiences associated with emotion regulation, which would most likely cover a range of contexts, emotion triggers and states. In contrast, the task measures of emotion regulation in these studies all used social stimuli as a means of inducing emotion.

While one might expect an individual's emotion regulation abilities to show a relatively consistent pattern regardless of how emotion was induced, regulation is a highly contextual phenomenon (English et al., 2017; Gross, 2015; Rottweiler et al., 2018; Suri et al., 2018) and it could be that there are

differences in one's ability to regulate emotions as a function of whether they were elicited by social or non-social stimuli.

Consequently, the different relationships that cognitive empathy was found to share with these trait and task measures of emotion regulation could suggest that any potential advantage greater cognitive empathy confers for regulating one's emotions might not apply in instances of negative emotions induced by empathic processes. This could be because a heightened propensity to attend social stimuli and engage empathic processes diminishes the efficiency/efficacy of emotion regulation processes (Hedger et al., 2018; Zaki, 2014). An alternative interpretation is that those with higher trait cognitive empathy place greater relative importance on long-term goals, such as the implicit desire to maintain a positive self-concept of oneself as a compassionate individual, than on short-term goals, such as the desire to reduce one's immediate negative emotional state (Cameron et al., 2018; Zaki, 2014).

7.4.3. Long-term versus short-term emotion regulation processes

Emotion regulation is not simply about one's ability to control emotions in the immediate context, but also how emotions are managed over time (Davidson, 2015; Kuppens et al., 2010). Consider two individuals who experience the same distressing situation. While they may both exhibit similar emotional responses and regulatory efficacy while the situation is occurring, one may subsequently recover from this experience within a few

minutes or hours while the other may be plagued by worry and rumination for weeks.

An important distinction between the trait and task measures used in the current set of studies relates to their relative focus upon short-term versus long-term aspects of emotion regulation. While task paradigms assess the relatively immediate consequences of one's regulatory abilities, trait measures assess more stable dispositional emotion regulation experiences and behaviours (Gross and John, 2003). With these considerations in mind, one could infer that the divergent patterns that cognitive empathy showed with trait and task measures of emotion regulation suggest that while greater cognitive empathy does not confer any significant advantage for regulatory abilities based on short-term measures, it may support regulatory process that unfold over a longer time course.

For example, perspective-taking abilities could support the capacity to adopt a distanced self-perspective when reflecting upon past emotional triggers/experiences, which could facilitate self-reflection and positive reappraisals. Indeed, Kross and colleagues (2005, 2008) have shown how recalling past emotional experiences from a distanced perspective vs a more immersed perspective can aid reappraisal and facilitate insight and closure. Thus, it may be that cognitive empathic abilities such as perspective-taking relate to emotion regulation processes that evolve over a longer time course than those examined in lab-based tasks. This might

explain why cognitive empathy was consistently associated with more adaptive emotion regulation when assessed by trait measures (which may tap into more long-term aspects of emotion regulation) but showed an inconsistent relationship with more short-term task metrics of emotion regulation ability.

A further mechanism through which cognitive empathy could support adaptive emotion regulation in the long-, but not the short-term, is through implementation intentions. Implementation intention refers to an 'if-then' plan that seeks to build an association between a given cue (e.g. an emotional trigger or state) and a specific regulatory response (Gallo et al., 2009). There is evidence to suggest that the formation of implementation intentions can improve the efficacy of regulation efforts in situ, presumably because the primed association between a given situation and a regulatory action improves the efficiency with which that regulatory response is implemented (Azbel-Jackson et al., 2015; Hallam et al., 2015; Webb et al., 2012b). Consequently, one who is better able to anticipate and predict different emotional situations and the potential outcomes of different regulatory strategies may be more effective in regulating their emotions if/when that situation is encountered.

While to my knowledge there is no direct evidence to suggest that cognitive empathy may support the formation and application of implementation intentions, there is strong evidence from which one might reasonably infer

a relationship. In addition to supporting the ability to place oneself in another's perspective, cognitive empathic processes may mediate the ability to shift from one's immediate experience to different temporal/mental locations, such as the perspective of a future or past self (Buckner and Carroll, 2007; Spreng et al., 2009; Suddendorf and Corballis, 2007). Functional MRI studies have demonstrated reductions in vmPFC activity when placing oneself in the perspective of another (Ochsner et al., 2004b), with similar reductions also associated with taking the perspective of a future self (Mitchell et al., 2011, see also O'Connell et al., 2015).

In light of such considerations, it is possible that the relationship between cognitive empathy and emotion regulation is underpinned not by improvements in the implementation of regulatory processes per se, but by a greater ability/propensity to project oneself into potential emotional situations. This form of mental self-projection could trigger the formation of implementation intentions, thereby facilitating the selection and implementation of an appropriate regulation strategy if/when the situation is encountered. Such an interpretation could explain why greater cognitive empathy was consistently associated with more adaptive trait emotion regulation, but the same relationships were not observed for task measures that assessed more short-term consequences of emotion regulation.

7.5. Implications, limitations, and further work

Despite evidence to suggest a close relationship between empathy and emotion regulation, to date very few studies have directly examined this relationship. Furthermore, those that have typically used only trait measures of both constructs (e.g. Lockwood et al., 2014; Powell, 2018; Tully et al., 2016). To my knowledge, this thesis reflects the first research to examine the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation using task-based measures of cognitive and affective empathy, implicit emotion regulation, reappraisal ability, spontaneous emotional recovery, and instructed regulation. Through a systematic examination of the relationship that cognitive and affective empathy share with different abilities related to emotion regulation, the findings of this thesis give greater specificity to the relationship between these constructs.

The current findings provide support for the proposed delineation between the cognitive and affective dimensions of empathy (e.g. Decety, 2010; Goldman, 2011; Shamy-Tsoory, 2009) by demonstrating that they share different relationships with various aspects of emotion regulation. Broadly speaking, they suggest that cognitive empathy is positively associated with some emotion regulation abilities but not with others. The results regarding affective empathy were also mixed, showing a negative relationship with some measures, but a positive relationship with others. The findings demonstrate relationships between various different components of empathy and emotion regulation. Furthermore, they highlight some

interesting patterns of divergence in this relationship, which seemed to depend upon the way in which each construct was measured.

These findings make a significant contribution to our understanding of the relationship between these constructs in normative populations and may provide useful insight for better understanding the shared deficits in empathy and emotion regulation observed in certain psychopathologies, such as ASC and borderline personality disorder.

It is important to note that the findings of these studies should be interpreted with certain limitations in mind. Firstly, given the correlational design of each study it is not possible to make any causal claims regarding the observed relationships. The aim of this thesis was to provide a broad examination of some of the processes that comprise empathy and emotion regulation in order to highlight the potential relationships most worthy of further examination by future work. As such, the correlational design of these studies is not an issue per se, but simply a factor that should be considered in assessing the strengths and limitations of this thesis.

A range of empathy and emotion regulation measures were used throughout this thesis. However, given the complex multidimensional nature of these constructs and the myriad processes they each comprise, it would be useful for future work to further examine this relationship using measures that tap into different abilities to the ones used in this thesis.

Additionally, while various metrics were used to assess empathy and emotion regulation, including self-report, behavioural, eye-gaze tracking, and psychophysiology, it would be useful for future work to utilise additional measures. For example, fMRI may be useful to examine whether individual differences in empathy are associated with variability in patterns of brain activation during emotion regulation.

A further limitation is that the sample in most of these studies consisted largely of female university students aged between 18-30. While this is common in psychological research, it does to some extent limit the generalisability of the current set of results. Power analyses for these studies suggested that each sample demonstrated at the least sufficient power to detect effects of a moderate to large magnitude; however, it is possible that some studies may have lacked the power to detect significant relationships of a smaller magnitude. In these instances, however, the data were largely not suggestive of any relationship. As such, it is unlikely that the failure to find significant relationships between empathy and emotion regulation in these studies was due to a lack of statistical power.

Nevertheless, it would be beneficial for future work to examine these relationships in larger and more heterogeneous samples in order to test the generalisability of these results. It may be particularly useful to study the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation in individuals with ASC and borderline personality disorder, where difficulties with both

constructs are common (Daros et al., 2018; Frith and Happe, 2005; Roepke et al., 2013; Samson et al., 2012).

It should be highlighted that the emotion regulation measures used in this thesis focus almost exclusively upon the downregulation of negative emotions. While negative states are arguably the most likely to be subject to regulation (Gross, 2015; Tice and Bratslavsky 2000), there are many real-world instances in which one might need to downregulate positive emotions (e.g. attempting to hide one's amusement in a situation where its expression would be inappropriate). Additionally, the ability to maintain or upregulate both positive and negative states is an important aspect of emotion regulation (Carstensen et al., 2000; Gross, 2015; Gross et al., 2006; Larsen, 2000).

All of the tasks reported in this thesis used social stimuli to induce emotion; thus, one should bear in mind that these findings relate only to emotion regulation abilities in the context of emotion induced through empathic processes. While one might reasonably assume that an individual's emotion regulation abilities would be relatively consistent across emotions induced by social and non-social stimuli, emotion regulation has been shown to be highly context-dependent (Aldao, 2013; Aldao and Nolen-Hoeksema 2012; Suri et al., 2018). It would be beneficial for future work to examine how empathy is associated with emotion regulation abilities using a combination of social and non-social stimuli.

Effort was made to make each task as relevant to real-world emotion regulation as possible, however, the inherently artificial setting and procedure of lab-based tasks mean they may not provide a wholly accurate reflection of participants' real-world emotion regulation abilities (Opitz et al., 2015). It would be beneficial for future work to build upon the present findings by examining how empathy relates to more ecologically valid measures of emotion regulation. In light of the speculative interpretation regarding potential differences in the relationship that components of empathy share with short- and long-term measures of emotion regulation, longitudinal studies and the use of ecological momentary assessment may prove especially informative (Kuppens et al. 2010; Moberly and Watkins 2010).

Even in light of the above limitations, given the paucity of empirical work on this topic, these studies make a significant contribution to current knowledge and represent an important step toward elucidating the nature of the relationship between empathy and emotion regulation. The findings also highlight important considerations regarding the relationship between different methods used to assess empathy and emotion regulation and prompt a number of actionable research questions that future work should seek to address.

References

- Adolphs, R., Damasio, H., Tranel, D., Cooper, G., & Damasio, A. R. (2000). A role for somatosensory cortices in the visual recognition of emotion as revealed by threedimensional lesion mapping. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(7), 2683–2690.
- Adolphs, R. (2002). Recognizing emotion from facial expressions: Psychological and neurological mechanisms. Behavioral and Cognitive Neuroscience Reviews, 1(1), 21– 62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1534582302001001003</u>
- Adolphs, R. (2009). The social brain: Neural basis of social knowledge. *Annual Review of* Psychology, 60, 693–716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163514</u>
- Ahmed, F. S., & Stephen Miller, L. (2011). Executive function mechanisms of theory of mind. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 41(5), 667–678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-1087-7
- Ainley, V., Maister, L., & Tsakiris, M. (2015). Heartfelt empathy? No association between interoceptive awareness, questionnaire measures of empathy, reading the mind in the eyes task or the director task. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00554

- Albert, J., López-Martín, S., & Carretié, L. (2010). Emotional context modulates response inhibition: Neural and behavioral data. NeuroImage, 49(1), 914–921. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.08.045
- Aldao, A. (2013). The future of emotion regulation research: Capturing context. Perspectives on psychological science, 8(2), 155–172.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691612459518

 Aldao, A., Mennin, D. S., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2013). Differentiating worry and rumination: Evidence from heart rate variability during spontaneous regulation.
 Cognitive Therapy and Research, 37(3), 613–619.

- Aldao, A., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2012). When are adaptive strategies most predictive of psychopathology? Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 121(1), 276–281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023598</u>
- Aldao, A., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Schweizer, S. (2010). Emotion-regulation strategies across psychopathology: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(2), 217–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.11.004
- Algom, D., Chajut, E., & Lev, S. (2004). A rational look at the emotional stroop phenomenon: A generic slowdown, not a stroop effect. *Journal of Experimental* Psychology. General, 133(3), 323–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-</u> 3445.133.3.323
- Altmann, G. T., & Kamide, Y. (1999). Incremental interpretation at verbs: Restricting the domain of subsequent reference. *Cognition*, 73(3), 247–264.
- Anderl, C., Hahn, T., Notebaert, K., Klotz, C., Rutter, B., & Windmann, S. (2015).Cooperative preferences fluctuate across the menstrual cycle. *Judgment and* Decision Making, 10(5), 7.
- Ardizzi, M., Martini, F., Umiltà, M. A., Sestito, M., Ravera, R., & Gallese, V. (2013). When early experiences build a wall to others' emotions: An electrophysiological and autonomic study. PLOS ONE, 8(4), e61004.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061004

Atique, B., Erb, M., Gharabaghi, A., Grodd, W., & Anders, S. (2011). Task-specific activity and connectivity within the mentalizing network during emotion and intention mentalizing. *NeuroImage*, 55(4), 1899–1911.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.12.036

Augustine, A. A., & Hemenover, S. H. (2009). On the relative effectiveness of affect regulation strategies: A meta-analysis. *Cognition and Emotion*, 23(6), 1181–1220. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930802396556

- Austin, G., Groppe, K., & Elsner, B. (2014). The reciprocal relationship between executive function and theory of mind in middle childhood: A 1-year longitudinal perspective. Frontiers in Psychology, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00655
- Ayduk, Ö., & Kross, E. (2010). From a distance: Implications of spontaneous selfdistancing for adaptive self-reflection. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 98(5), 809–829. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019205
- Azbel-Jackson, L., Butler, L. T., Ellis, J. A., & Reekum, C. M. van. (2016). Stay calm!
 Regulating emotional responses by implementation intentions: Assessing the
 impact on physiological and subjective arousal. *Cognition and Emotion*, 30(6), 1107–
 1121. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2015.1049515
- Bailey, P. E., & Henry, J. D. (2008). Growing less empathic with age: Disinhibition of the self-perspective. The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 63(4), P219–P226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/63.4.p219</u>
- Bailey, P. E., Henry, J. D., & Von Hippel, W. (2008). Empathy and social functioning in late adulthood. *Aging & Mental Health*, 12(4), 499–503.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13607860802224243

- Balconi, M., & Bortolotti, A. (2013). The "simulation" of the facial expression of emotions in case of short and long stimulus duration. The effect of pre-motor cortex inhibition by rTMS. Brain and Cognition, 83(1), 114–120.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2013.07.003
- Banks, S. J., Eddy, K. T., Angstadt, M., Nathan, P. J., & Phan, K. L. (2007). Amygdala– frontal connectivity during emotion regulation. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 2(4), 303–312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsm029</u>
- Bargh, J. A., & Gollwitzer, P. M. (1994). Environmental control of goal-directed action: Automatic and strategic contingencies between situations and behavior. In

Nebraska Symposium on Motivation, Vol. 41. Integrative views of motivation, cognition, and emotion (pp. 71–124). Lincoln, NE, US: University of Nebraska Press.

- Bargh, J. A., & Williams, E. L. (2006). The Automaticity of Social Life. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 15(1), 1–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-</u> 7214.2006.00395.x
- Baron-Cohen, S., Golan, O., Wheelwright, S., & Hill, J. J. (2004). Mindreading: The interactive guide to emotions. London: Jessica Kingsley Limited (www.jkp.com).
- Baron-Cohen, S., Jolliffe, T., Mortimore, C., & Robertson, M. (1997). Another advanced test of theory of mind: Evidence from very high functioning adults with autism or asperger syndrome. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 38(7), 813–822.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Leslie, A. M., & Frith, U. (1985). Does the autistic child have a "theory of mind"? *Cognition*, 21(1), 37–46.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Hill, J., Raste, Y., & Plumb, I. (2001). The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" Test revised version: A study with normal adults, and adults with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 42(2), 241–251.*
- Baron-Cohen, S. (1995). Mindblindness: An essay on autism and theory of mind. Cambridge, MA, US: The MIT Press.
- Baron-Cohen, S., & Wheelwright, S. (2004). The empathy quotient: An investigation of adults with Asperger syndrome or high functioning autism, and normal sex differences. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 34(2), 163–175. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JADD.0000022607.19833.00
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., & Jolliffe, and T. (1997). Is there a "language of the eyes"? Evidence from normal adults, and adults with autism or asperger syndrome.
 Visual Cognition, 4(3), 311–331. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/713756761</u>

Başgöze, Z., Gönül, A. S., Baskak, B., & Gökçay, D. (2015). Valence-based Word-Face Stroop task reveals differential emotional interference in patients with major depression. Psychiatry Research, 229(3), 960–967.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2015.05.099

- Bastiaansen, J. A. C. J., Thioux, M., & Keysers, C. (2009). Evidence for mirror systems in emotions. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 364(1528), 2391–2404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0058</u>
- Batson, C. D., Fultz, J., & Schoenrade, P. A. (1987). Distress and empathy: Two qualitatively distinct vicarious emotions with different motivational consequences. *Journal of Personality*, 55(1), 19–39.
- Batson, C. D. (2009). These things called empathy: Eight related but distinct phenomena. In Social Neuroscience. The social neuroscience of empathy (pp. 3–15). https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/9780262012973.003.0002
- Baur, R., Conzelmann, A., Wieser, M. J., & Pauli, P. (2015). Spontaneous emotion regulation: Differential effects on evoked brain potentials and facial muscle activity. International Journal of Psychophysiology, 96(1), 38–48.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2015.02.022

- Berkman, E. T., & Lieberman, M. D. (2009). Using neuroscience to broaden emotion regulation: Theoretical and methodological considerations. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 3(4), 475–493. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2009.00186.x</u>
- Bernhardt, B. C., & Singer, T. (2012). The neural basis of empathy. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 35, 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-062111-150536</u>
- Bird, G., & Viding, E. (2014). The self to other model of empathy: Providing a new framework for understanding empathy impairments in psychopathy, autism,

and alexithymia. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 47, 520–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.09.021

- Blair, K. S., Smith, B. W., Mitchell, D. G. V., Morton, J., Vythilingam, M., Pessoa, L., ...
 Blair, R. J. R. (2007). Modulation of emotion by cognition and cognition by emotion.
 NeuroImage, 35(1), 430–440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.11.048</u>
- Blair, R. J. R. (2005). Responding to the emotions of others: Dissociating forms of empathy through the study of typical and psychiatric populations. Consciousness and Cognition, 14(4), 698–718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2005.06.004</u>
- Boden, M. T., Westermann, S., McRae, K., Kuo, J., Alvarez, J., Kulkarni, M. R., ... Bonn-Miller, M. O. (2013). Emotion regulation and posttraumatic stress disorder: A prospective investigation. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 32(3), 296–314. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2013.32.3.296
- Bollen, K. A., & Jackman, R. W. (1985). Regression diagnostics: An expository treatment of outliers and influential cases. Sociological Methods & Research, 13(4), 510–542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124185013004004
- Bonanno, G. A., & Burton, C. L. (2013a). Regulatory flexibility: An individual differences perspective on coping and emotion regulation. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 8(6), 591–612. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691613504116
- Bonanno, G. A., Papa, A., Lalande, K., Westphal, M., & Coifman, K. (2004). The importance of being flexible: The ability to both enhance and suppress emotional expression predicts long-term adjustment. *Psychological Science*, 15(7), 482–487. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0956-7976.2004.00705.x
- Bornemann, B., Winkielman, P., & der Meer, E. van. (2012). Can you feel what you do not see? Using internal feedback to detect briefly presented emotional stimuli.
 International Journal of Psychophysiology, 85(1), 116–124.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2011.04.007

- Bradford, E. E. F., Jentzsch, I., & Gomez, J.-C. (2015). From self to social cognition:
 Theory of mind mechanisms and their relation to executive functioning. *Cognition*, 138, 21–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2015.02.001
- Breiter, H. C, Etcoff, N. L., Whalen, P. J., Kennedy, W. A., Rauch, S. L., Buckner, R. L., ... Rosen, B. R. (1996). Response and habituation of the human amygdala during visual processing of facial expression. *Neuron*, 17(5), 875–887. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80219-6
- Brudner, E. G., Denkova, E., Paczynski, M., & Jha, A. P. (2018). The role of expectations and habitual emotion regulation in emotional processing: An ERP investigation. *Emotion*, 18(2), 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000313
- Buck, R. (1994). Social and emotional functions in facial expression and communication: The readout hypothesis. *Biological Psychology*, 38(2), 95–115.

https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-0511(94)90032-9

- Buckner, R. L., & Carroll, D. C. (2007). Self-projection and the brain. *Trends in Cognitive* Sciences, 11(2), 49–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2006.11.004</u>
- Buhle, J. T., Silvers, J. A., Wager, T. D., Lopez, R., Onyemekwu, C., Kober, H., ... Ochsner,
 K. N. (2014). Cognitive reappraisal of emotion: A meta-analysis of human
 neuroimaging studies. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(11), 2981–2990.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht154
- Bull, R., Phillips, L. H., & Conway, C. A. (2008). The role of control functions in mentalizing: Dual-task studies of theory of mind and executive function.
 Cognition, 107(2), 663–672. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2007.07.015</u>
- Buschman, T. J., & Miller, E. K. (2007). Top-down versus bottom-up control of attention in the prefrontal and posterior parietal cortices. Science, 315(5820), 1860–1862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1138071</u>

- Cacioppo, J. T., Petty, R. E., Losch, M. E., & Kim, H. S. (1986). Electromyographic activity over facial muscle regions can differentiate the valence and intensity of affective reactions. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 50(2), 260–268. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.50.2.260
- Camerer, C., Loewenstein, G., & Weber, M. (1989). The curse of knowledge in economic settings: An experimental analysis. *Journal of Political Economy*, 97(5), 1232–1254.
- Cameron, C. D., Hutcherson, C. A., Ferguson, A. M., Scheffer, J. A., Hadjiandreou, E., & Inzlicht, M. (2019). Empathy is hard work: People choose to avoid empathy because of its cognitive costs. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 148(6), 962–976.
- Cameron, D., Cunningham, W., Saunders, B., & Inzlicht, M. (2017). The ends of empathy: Constructing empathy from value-based choice [Preprint downloaded from psyarxiv]. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/d99bp
- Campos, J. J., Frankel, C. B., & Camras, L. (2004). On the nature of emotion regulation. Child Development, 75(2), 377–394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> <u>8624.2004.00681.x</u>
- Carlson, S. M., & Moses, L. J. (2001). Individual differences in inhibitory control and children's theory of mind. *Child Development*, 72(4), 1032–1053.
- Carlson, S. M., Moses, L. J., & Breton, C. (2002). How specific is the relation between executive function and theory of mind? Contributions of inhibitory control and working memory. *Infant and Child Development*, 11(2), 73–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.298
- Carlson, S. M., Moses, L. J., & Claxton, L. J. (2004). Individual differences in executive functioning and theory of mind: An investigation of inhibitory control and planning ability. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 87(4), 299–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2004.01.002
- Carr, L., Iacoboni, M., Dubeau, M.-C., Mazziotta, J. C., & Lenzi, G. L. (2003). Neural mechanisms of empathy in humans: A relay from neural systems for imitation to

limbic areas. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 100(9), 5497–5502. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0935845100

- Carretié, L. (2014). Exogenous (automatic) attention to emotional stimuli: A review. Cognitive, Affective & Behavioral Neuroscience, 14(4), 1228–1258. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13415-014-0270-2
- Carstensen, L. L., Pasupathi, M., Mayr, U., & Nesselroade, J. R. (2000). Emotional experience in everyday life across the adult life span. *Journal of Personality and* Social Psychology, 79(4), 644–655.
- Casile, A., Caggiano, V., & Ferrari, P. F. (2011). The mirror neuron system: A fresh view. The Neuroscientist, 17(5), 524–538. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858410392239</u>
- Chakrabarti, B., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2006). Empathizing: Neurocognitive developmental mechanisms and individual differences. *Progress in Brain Research*, 156, 403–417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(06)56022-4</u>
- Chakrabarti, B., Bullmore, E., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2006). Empathizing with basic emotions: Common and discrete neural substrates. Social Neuroscience, 1(3–4), 364–384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17470910601041317</u>
- Chakrabarti, B., Haffey, A., Canzano, L., Taylor, C. P. and McSorley, E. (2017) Individual differences in responsivity to social rewards: insights from two eye-tracking tasks.
 PLoS ONE, 12 (10). e0185146. ISSN 1932-6203
- Chartrand, T. L., & Bargh, J. A. (1999). The chameleon effect: The perception–behavior link and social interaction. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 76(6), 893– 910. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.76.6.893
- Chartrand, T. L., & Dalton, A. N. (2009). Mimicry: Its ubiquity, importance, and functionality. In Social Cognition and Social Neuroscience. Oxford handbook of human action (pp. 458–483). New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press.

- Chartrand, T. L., & van Baaren, R. (2009). Human mimicry. In Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 41, 219–274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)00405-X</u>
- Chen, M., & Bargh, J. A. (1999). Consequences of automatic evaluation: Immediate behavioral predispositions to approach or avoid the stimulus. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 25(2), 215–224.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167299025002007

- Chentsova-Dutton, Y. E., & Tsai, J. L. (2010). Self-focused attention and emotional reactivity: The role of culture. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 98(3), 507–519. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018534</u>
- Choi, D., & Watanuki, S. (2014). Effect of empathy trait on attention to faces: An eventrelated potential (ERP) study. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology*, 33(1), 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1880-6805-33-4</u>
- Cisler, J. M., Olatunji, B. O., Feldner, M. T., & Forsyth, J. P. (2010). Emotion regulation and the anxiety disorders: An integrative review. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 32(1), 68–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-009-9161-1</u>
- Coburn, P. I., Bernstein, D. M., & Begeer, S. (2015). A new paper and pencil task reveals adult false belief reasoning bias. *Psychological Research*, 79(5), 739–749. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-014-0606-0
- Cocking, R. R., & Renninger, K. A. (Series Ed.). (1993). The development and meaning of psychological distance. Hillsdale, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Cohn, J. F., Ambadar, Z., & Ekman, P. (2007). Observer-based measurement of facial expression with the Facial Action Coding System. In Series in Affective Science. Handbook of emotion elicitation and assessment (pp. 203–221). New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press.
- Conner, T., & Barrett, L. F. (2005). Implicit self-attitudes predict spontaneous affect in daily life. *Emotion*, 5(4), 476–488. https://doi.org/10.1037/1528-3542.5.4.476

Contardi, A., Imperatori, C., Penzo, I., Del Gatto, C., & Farina, B. (2016). The association among difficulties in emotion regulation, hostility, and empathy in a sample of young Italian adults. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01068

- Cootes, T. F., Edwards, G. J., & Taylor, C. J. (2001). Active appearance models. IEEE Transactions on pattern analysis and machine intelligence, 23, 681–685.
- Corradi-Dell'Acqua, C., Hofstetter, C., & Vuilleumier, P. (2014). Cognitive and affective theory of mind share the same local patterns of activity in posterior temporal but not medial prefrontal cortex. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 9(8), 1175–1184. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nst097
- Coulson, M. (2004). Attributing emotion to static body postures: Recognition accuracy, confusions, and viewpoint dependence. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 28(2), 117–139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JONB.0000023655.25550.be</u>
- Cowan, D. G., Vanman, E. J., & Nielsen, M. (2014). Motivated empathy: The mechanics of the empathic gaze. Cognition & Emotion, 28(8), 1522–1530. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2014.890563
- Craig, A. D. (2008). Interoception and emotion: A neuroanatomical perspective. In *Handbook of emotions*, *3rd ed* (pp. 272–292). New York, NY, US: The Guilford Press.
- Crowell, S. E., Baucom, B. R., Yaptangco, M., Bride, D., Hsiao, R., McCauley, E., & Beauchaine, T. P. (2014). Emotion dysregulation and dyadic conflict in depressed and typical adolescents: Evaluating concordance across psychophysiological and observational measures. *Biological Psychology*, 98, 50–58.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2014.02.009

Cutuli, D. (2014). Cognitive reappraisal and expressive suppression strategies role in the emotion regulation: An overview on their modulatory effects and neural

correlates. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 8.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2014.00175

- Dall'Oglio, A. M., Rossiello, B., Coletti, M. F., Caselli, M. C., Ravà, L., di Ciommo, V., ... Pasqualetti, P. (2010). Developmental evaluation at age 4: Validity of an Italian parental questionnaire. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 46(7–8), 419–426. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1754.2010.01748.x
- Daros, A. R., Guevara, M. A., Uliaszek, A. A., McMain, S. F., & Ruocco, A. C. (2018).
 Cognitive emotion regulation strategies in borderline personality disorder:
 Diagnostic comparisons and associations with potentially harmful behaviors.
 Psychopathology, 51(2), 83–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000487008</u>
- Darwin, C. (1872). The expression of the emotions in man and animals. London, England: John Murray. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/10001-000
- D'Avanzato, C., Joormann, J., Siemer, M., & Gotlib, I. H. (2013). Emotion regulation in depression and anxiety: Examining diagnostic specificity and stability of strategy use. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 37(5), 968–980.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-013-9537-0

- Davidson, R. J. (2015). Comment: Affective chronometry has come of age. *Emotion* Review, 7(4), 368–370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073915590844</u>
- Davis, J. I., Gross, J. J., & Ochsner, K. N. (2011). Psychological distance and emotional experience: What you see is what you get. *Emotion*, 11(2), 438–444. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021783
- Davis, M. H. (1983). Measuring individual differences in empathy: Evidence for a multidimensional approach. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 44(1), 113–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.44.1.113</u>
- Decety, J. (2010). The Neurodevelopment of Empathy in Humans. Developmental Neuroscience, 32(4), 257–267. https://doi.org/10.1159/000317771

- Decety, J. (2011). The neuroevolution of empathy. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1231, 35–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06027.x</u>
- Decety, J., & Chaminade, T. (2003). When the self represents the other: A new cognitive neuroscience view on psychological identification. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 12(4), 577–596.
- Decety, J., & Jackson, P. L. (2004). The functional architecture of human empathy. Behavioral and Cognitive Neuroscience Reviews, 3(2), 71–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534582304267187
- Decety, J., & Lamm, C. (2006). Human empathy through the lens of social neuroscience. The Scientific World Journal, 6, 1146–1163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1100/tsw.2006.221</u>
- Decety, J., & Sommerville, J. A. (2003). Shared representations between self and other: A social cognitive neuroscience view. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7(12), 527–533.
- Dennis, M., Agostino, A., Roncadin, C., & Levin, H. (2009). Theory of mind depends on domain-general executive functions of working memory and cognitive inhibition in children with traumatic brain injury. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 31(7), 835–847. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390802572419</u>
- Dennis, T. A., & Hajcak, G. (2009). The late positive potential: A neurophysiological marker for emotion regulation in children. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 50(11), 1373–1383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02168.x</u>
- Depue, R. A., Kleiman, R. M., Davis, P., Hutchinson, M., & Krauss, S. P. (1985). The behavioral high-risk paradigm and bipolar affective disorder, VIII: Serum free cortisol in nonpatient cyclothymic subjects selected by the General Behavior Inventory. The American Journal of Psychiatry, 142(2), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.142.2.175

- Derbyshire, S. W. G., Osborn, J., & Brown, S. (2013). Feeling the pain of others is associated with self-other confusion and prior pain experience. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 470. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00470
- Devlin, H. C., Zaki, J., Ong, D. C., & Gruber, J. (2014). Not as good as you think? Trait positive emotion is associated with increased self-reported empathy but decreased empathic performance. PLOS ONE, 9(10), e110470.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0110470

- de Waal, F. B. M., & Preston, S. D. (2017). Mammalian empathy: Behavioural manifestations and neural basis. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, 18(8), 498–509. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2017.72
- DeWall, C. N., Twenge, J. M., Koole, S. L., Baumeister, R. F., Marquez, A., & Reid, M. W. (2011). Automatic emotion regulation after social exclusion: Tuning to positivity. *Emotion*, 11(3), 623–636. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023534
- de Wied, M., Boxtel, A. V., Posthumus, J. A., Goudena, P. P., & Matthys, W. (2009). Facial EMG and heart rate responses to emotion-inducing film clips in boys with disruptive behavior disorders. *Psychophysiology*, 46(5), 996–1004.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2009.00851.x

- de Wied, M., Goudena, P. P., & Matthys, W. (2005). Empathy in boys with disruptive behavior disorders. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 46(8), 867–880. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00389.x</u>
- Diekhof, E. K., Geier, K., Falkai, P., & Gruber, O. (2011). Fear is only as deep as the mind allows: A coordinate-based meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies on the regulation of negative affect. *NeuroImage*, 58(1), 275–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.05.073

- Dijksterhuis, A., & Bargh, J. A. (2001). The perception–behavior expressway: Automatic effects of social perception on social behavior. In *Advances in experimental social* psychology, 33, 1–40. San Diego, CA, US: Academic Press.
- Dimberg, U. (1990a). Facial electromyography and emotional reactions. Psychophysiology, 27(5), 481–494. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469–</u> 8986.1990.tb01962.x
- Dimberg, U. (1990b). Perceived unpleasantness and facial reactions to auditory stimuli. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 31(1), 70–75.
- Dimberg, U., & Petterson, M. (2000). Facial reactions to happy and angry facial expressions: Evidence for right hemisphere dominance. Psychophysiology, 37(5), 693–696.
- Dimberg, U., & Thunberg, M. (1998). Rapid facial reactions to emotional facial expressions. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 39(1), 39–45.
- Dimberg, U., Thunberg, M., & Elmehed, K. (2000). Unconscious facial reactions to emotional facial expressions. Psychological Science, 11(1), 86–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00221
- Dimberg, U, Andréasson, P., & Thunberg, M. (2011). Emotional empathy and facial reactions to facial expressions. *Journal of Psychophysiology*, 25(1), 26–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0269-8803/a000029</u>
- Dolan, M., & Fullam, R. (2004). Theory of mind and mentalizing ability in antisocial personality disorders with and without psychopathy. *Psychological Medicine*, 34(6), 1093–1102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291704002028</u>
- Drabant, E. M., McRae, K., Manuck, S. B., Hariri, A. R., & Gross, J. J. (2009). Individual differences in typical reappraisal use predict amygdala and prefrontal responses. Biological Psychiatry, 65(5), 367–373.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.09.007

- Dvorak, R. D., Sargent, E. M., Kilwein, T. M., Stevenson, B. L., Kuvaas, N. J., & Williams, T. J. (2014). Alcohol use and alcohol-related consequences: Associations with emotion regulation difficulties. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 40(2), 125–130. https://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2013.877920
- Dziobek, I., Rogers, K., Fleck, S., Bahnemann, M., Heekeren, H. R., Wolf, O. T., & Convit,
 A. (2008). Dissociation of cognitive and emotional empathy in adults with Asperger syndrome using the Multifaceted Empathy Test (MET). Journal of Autism and
 Developmental Disorders, 38(3), 464–473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-007-</u>0486-x
- Egeth, H. E., & Yantis, S. (1997). Visual attention: Control, representation, and time course. Annual Review of Psychology, 48, 269–297. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.48.1.269
- Egloff, B., Schmukle, S. C., Burns, L. R., & Schwerdtfeger, A. (2006). Spontaneous emotion regulation during evaluated speaking tasks: Associations with negative affect, anxiety expression, memory, and physiological responding. *Emotion*, 6(3), 356–366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1528-3542.6.3.356</u>
- Egner, T., Etkin, A., Gale, S., & Hirsch, J. (2008). Dissociable neural systems resolve conflict from emotional versus nonemotional distracters. *Cerebral Cortex*, 18(6), 1475–1484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhm179</u>
- Ehring, T., Tuschen-Caffier, B., Schnülle, J., Fischer, S., & Gross, J. J. (2010). Emotion regulation and vulnerability to depression: Spontaneous versus instructed use of emotion suppression and reappraisal. *Emotion*, 10(4), 563–572.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019010

Eimer, M., & Holmes, A. (2007). Event-related brain potential correlates of emotional face processing. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(1), 15–31.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.04.022

- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Miller, P. A., Fultz, J., Shell, R., Mathy, R. M., & Reno, R. R. (1989). Relation of sympathy and personal distress to prosocial behavior: A multimethod study. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57(1), 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.57.1.55
- Eisenberg, N., & Okun, M. A. (1996). The relations of dispositional regulation and emotionality to elders' empathy-related responding and affect while volunteering. *Journal of Personality*, 64(1), 157–183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> 6494.1996.tb00818.x

Ekman, P., Levenson, R. W., & Friesen, W. V. (1983). Autonomic nervous system activity distinguishes among emotions. *Science*, 221(4616), 1208–1210.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6612338

- Ekman, P. (1992). An argument for basic emotions. *Cognition and Emotion*, 6(3–4), 169–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699939208411068</u>
- English, T., Lee, I. A., John, O. P., & Gross, J. J. (2017). Emotion regulation strategy selection in daily life: The role of social context and goals. *Motivation and Emotion*, 41(2), 230–242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-016-9597-z</u>
- Enticott, P. G., Johnston, P. J., Herring, S. E., Hoy, K. E., & Fitzgerald, P. B. (2008). Mirror neuron activation is associated with facial emotion processing. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(11), 2851–2854. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.04.022</u>
- Epley, N., Keysar, B., Van Boven, L., & Gilovich, T. (2004). Perspective taking as egocentric anchoring and adjustment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 87(3), 327–339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.87.3.327</u>
- Erk, S., Mikschl, A., Stier, S., Ciaramidaro, A., Gapp, V., Weber, B., & Walter, H. (2010).
 Acute and sustained effects of cognitive emotion regulation in major depression.
 Journal of Neuroscience, 30(47), 15726–15734.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1856-10.2010

- Etkin, A., Büchel, C., & Gross, J. J. (2015). The neural bases of emotion regulation. Nature Reviews. Neuroscience, 16(11), 693–700. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn4044
- Etkin, A., Egner, T., Peraza, D. M., Kandel, E. R., & Hirsch, J. (2006). Resolving emotional conflict: A role for the rostral anterior cingulate cortex in modulating activity in the amygdala. *Neuron*, 51(6), 871–882.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.07.029

- Etkin, A., Prater, K. E., Hoeft, F., Menon, V., & Schatzberg, A. F. (2010). Failure of anterior cingulate activation and connectivity with the amygdala during implicit regulation of emotional processing in generalized anxiety disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 167(5), 545–554. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09070931
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences.
 Behavior Research Methods, 39(2), 175–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146</u>
- Ferri, J., Schmidt, J., Hajcak, G., & Canli, T. (2013). Neural correlates of attentional deployment within unpleasant pictures. NeuroImage, 70, 268–277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.12.030</u>
- Fertuck, E. A., Lenzenweger, M. F., Clarkin, J. F., Hoermann, S., & Stanley, B. (2006). Executive neurocognition, memory systems, and borderline personality disorder. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 26(3), 346–375.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2005.05.008

Fitzgerald, J. M., MacNamara, A., Kennedy, A. E., Rabinak, C. A., Rauch, S. A. M., Liberzon, I., & Phan, K. L. (2017). Individual differences in cognitive reappraisal use and emotion regulatory brain function in combat-exposed veterans with and without PTSD. Depression and Anxiety, 34(1), 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22551

- Flynn, E. (2007). The role of inhibitory control in false belief understanding. *Infant and Child Development*, 16(1), 53–69. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.500
- Folk, J. B., Zeman, J. L., Poon, J. A., & Dallaire, D. H. (2014). A longitudinal examination of emotion regulation: Pathways to anxiety and depressive symptoms in urban minority youth. Child and Adolescent Mental Health, 19(4), 243–250. https://doi.org/10.1111/camh.12058
- Ford, B. Q., Karnilowicz, H. R., & Mauss, I. B. (2017). Understanding reappraisal as a multi-component process: The psychological health benefits of attempting to use reappraisal depend on reappraisal success. *Emotion*, 17(6), 905–911. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000310
- Foti, D., & Hajcak, G. (2008). Deconstructing reappraisal: Descriptions preceding arousing pictures modulate the subsequent neural response. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20(6), 977–988. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2008.20066</u>
- Fox, E., Lester, V., Russo, R., Bowles, R. J., Pichler, A., & Dutton, K. (2000). Facial expressions of emotion: Are angry faces detected more efficiently? Cognition & Emotion, 14(1), 61–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/026999300378996</u>
- Fox, E., Russo, R., & Georgiou, G. A. (2005). Anxiety modulates the degree of attentive resources required to process emotional faces. Cognitive, Affective & Behavioral Neuroscience, 5(4), 396–404.
- Frijda, N. H. (1986). The Emotions. Cambridge University Press.
- Frith, C. D., & Frith, U. (2006). The neural basis of mentalizing. *Neuron*, 50(4), 531–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.05.001
- Frith, U., & Frith, C. D. (2003). Development and neurophysiology of mentalizing.
 Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological
 Sciences, 358(1431), 459–473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2002.1218</u>

- Frith, U., & Happé, F. (2005). Autism spectrum disorder. *Current Biology*, 15(19), 786-790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2005.09.033
- Furr, R. M., & Funder, D. C. (2007). Behavioral observation. In Handbook of research methods in personality psychology (pp. 273–291). New York, NY, US: The Guilford Press.
- Füstös, J., Gramann, K., Herbert, B. M., & Pollatos, O. (2013). On the embodiment of emotion regulation: Interoceptive awareness facilitates reappraisal. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 8(8), 911–917. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nss089

Gallese, V., Keysers, C., & Rizzolatti, G. (2004). A unifying view of the basis of social cognition. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8(9), 396–403.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.07.002

- Gallo, I. S., Keil, A., McCulloch, K. C., Rockstroh, B., & Gollwitzer, P. M. (2009). Strategic automation of emotion regulation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 96(1), 11–31. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013460
- Gamer, M., & Büchel, C. (2009). Amygdala activation predicts gaze toward fearful eyes. The Journal of Neuroscience, 29(28), 9123–9126.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1883-09.2009

- Garavan, H., Pendergrass, J. C., Ross, T. J., Stein, E. A., & Risinger, R. C. (2001). Amygdala response to both positively and negatively valenced stimuli. Neuroreport, 12(12), 2779–2783. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200108280-00036</u>
- Gehlbach, H. (2004). A new perspective on perspective taking: A multidimensional approach to conceptualizing an aptitude. *Educational Psychology Review*, 16, 207–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/b:edpr.0000034021.12899.11</u>

- Gerdes, K. E., Segal, E. A., & Lietz, C. A. (2010). Conceptualising and measuring empathy. The British Journal of Social Work, 40(7), 2326–2343. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcq048
- Gilbert, D. T., Pinel, E. C., Wilson, T. D., Blumberg, S. J., & Wheatley, T. P. (1998). Immune neglect: A source of durability bias in affective forecasting. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 75(3), 617–638. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.75.3.617</u>
- Goel, V., Grafman, J., Sadato, N., & Hallett, M. (1995). Modeling other minds.
 Neuroreport, 6(13), 1741–1746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199509000-</u>00009
- Gohm, C. L., & Clore, G. L. (2002). Four latent traits of emotional experience and their involvement in well-being, coping, and attributional style. *Cognition and Emotion*, 16(4), 495–518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930143000374</u>
- Gökçen, E., Frederickson, N., & Petrides, K. V. (2016). Theory of mind and executive control deficits in typically developing adults and adolescents with high levels of autism traits. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46, 2072–2087. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2735-3
- Goldin, P. R., McRae, K., Ramel, W., & Gross, J. J. (2008). The neural bases of emotion regulation: Reappraisal and suppression of negative emotion. *Biological Psychiatry*, 63(6), 577–586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.05.031</u>
- Goldman, A. (2011). Two Routes to Empathy. In A. Coplan & P. Goldie (Eds.), *Empathy:* Philosophical and Psychological Perspectives (p. 31). Oxford University Press.
- Goldman, A. I., & Sripada, C. S. (2005). Simulationist models of face-based emotion recognition. *Cognition*, 94(3), 193–213.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2004.01.005

Graham, B. M., Denson, T. F., Barnett, J., Calderwood, C., & Grisham, J. R. (2018). Sex hormones are associated with rumination and interact with emotion regulation
strategy choice to predict negative affect in women following a sad mood induction. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00937

- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 26(1), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOBA.0000007455.08539.94
- Gray, J. A. (1982). The neuopsychology of anxiety. New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press.
- Greenberg, D. M., Kolasi, J., Hegsted, C. P., Berkowitz, Y., & Jurist, E. L. (2017). Mentalized affectivity: A new model and assessment of emotion regulation. PLOS ONE, 12(10), e0185264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185264</u>
- Greenwald, A. G., & Banaji, M. R. (1995). Implicit social cognition: Attitudes, self-esteem, and stereotypes. Psychological Review, 102(1), 4–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 295X.102.1.4
- Gross, J. J., & Levenson, R. W. (1997). Hiding feelings: The acute effects of inhibiting negative and positive emotion. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 106(1), 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1037//0021-843x.106.1.95
- Gross, J. J. (1998). The emerging field of emotion regulation: An integrative review. Review of General Psychology, 2(3), 271–299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-</u> 2680.2.3.271
- Gross, J. J. (2002). Emotion regulation: Affective, cognitive, and social consequences. Psychophysiology, 39(3), 281–291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017.S0048577201393198</u>
- Gross, J. J. (2015). Emotion regulation: Current status and future prospects. Psychological Inquiry, 26(1), 1–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840X.2014.940781</u>

- Gross, J. J., & Feldman Barrett, L. F. (2011). Emotion generation and emotion regulation: One or two depends on your point of view. *Emotion Review*, 3(1), 8–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073910380974</u>
- Gross, J. J., & John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: Implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85(2), 348–362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> 3514.85.2.348
- Gross, J. J., Richards, J. M., & John, O. P. (2006). Emotion regulation in everyday life. In Emotion regulation in couples and families: Pathways to dysfunction and health (pp. 13–35). <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/11468-001</u>
- Gross, J. J., Sheppes, G., & Urry, H. L. (2011). Cognition and emotion lecture at the 2010
 SPSP emotion preconference: Emotion generation and emotion regulation: A
 distinction we should make (carefully). Cognition & Emotion, 25(5), 765–781.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2011.555753
- Gross, J. J., & Thompson, R. A. (2007). Emotion regulation: Conceptual foundations. In Handbook of emotion regulation (pp. 3–24). New York, NY, US: The Guilford Press.
- Gruber, J., Harvey, A. G., & Johnson, S. L. (2009). Reflective and ruminative processing of positive emotional memories in bipolar disorder and healthy controls. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 47(8), 697–704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2009.05.005</u>
- Gruber, J., Kogan, A., Mennin, D., & Murray, G. (2013). Real-world emotion? An experience-sampling approach to emotion experience and regulation in bipolar I disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 122(4), 971–983.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034425

Gump, B. B., & Kulik, J. A. (1997). Stress, affiliation, and emotional contagion. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 72(2), 305–319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> <u>3514.72.2.305</u>

- Gyurak, A., Gross, J. J., & Etkin, A. (2011). Explicit and implicit emotion regulation: A dual-process framework. Cognition & Emotion, 25(3), 400–412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2010.544160</u>
- Haas, B. W., Omura, K., Constable, R. T., & Canli, T. (2006). Interference produced by emotional conflict associated with anterior cingulate activation. Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 6(2), 152–156.

https://doi.org/10.3758/CABN.6.2.152

- Hadjikhani, N., Johnels, J. Å., Zürcher, N. R., Lassalle, A., Guillon, Q., Hippolyte, L., ...
 Gillberg, C. (2017). Look me in the eyes: Constraining gaze in the eye-region
 provokes abnormally high subcortical activation in autism. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1),
 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-03378-5
- Hagemann, T., Levenson, R. W., & Gross, J. J. (2006). Expressive suppression during an acoustic startle. Psychophysiology, 43(1), 104–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2006.00382.x</u>
- Hajcak, G., & Nieuwenhuis, S. (2006). Reappraisal modulates the electrocortical response to unpleasant pictures. Cognitive, Affective & Behavioral Neuroscience, 6(4), 291–297.
- Hallam, G. P., Webb, T. L., Sheeran, P., Miles, E., Wilkinson, I. D., Hunter, M. D., ...
 Farrow, T. F. D. (2015). The neural correlates of emotion regulation by
 implementation intentions. PLOS ONE, 10(3), e0119500.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119500
- Hansen, C. H., & Hansen, R. D. (1988). Finding the face in the crowd: An anger superiority effect. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 54(6), 917–924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.54.6.917</u>

Hansen, S. (2011). Inhibitory control and empathy-related personality traits: Sex-linked associations. Brain and Cognition, 76(3), 364–368.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2011.04.004

- Happé, F., Ehlers, S., Fletcher, P., Frith, U., Johansson, M., Gillberg, C., ... Frith, C. (1996).
 "Theory of mind" in the brain. Evidence from a PET scan study of Asperger syndrome. Neuroreport, 8(1), 197–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-</u>199612200-00040
- Hare, T. A., Tottenham, N., Davidson, M. C., Glover, G. H., & Casey, B. J. (2005).
 Contributions of amygdala and striatal activity in emotion regulation. *Biological Psychiatry*, 57(6), 624–632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.12.038</u>
- Hare, T. A., Tottenham, N., Galvan, A., Voss, H. U., Glover, G. H., & Casey, B. J. (2008).
 Biological substrates of emotional reactivity and regulation in adolescence during an emotional go-nogo task. *Biological Psychiatry*, 63(10), 927–934.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.03.015015
- Harrison, N. R., & Chassy, P. (2019). Habitual use of cognitive reappraisal is associated with decreased amplitude of the late positive potential (LPP) elicited by threatening pictures. *Journal of Psychophysiology*, 33(1), 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1027/0269-8803/a000202
- Hart, S. J., Green, S. R., Casp, M., & Belger, A. (2010). Emotional priming effects during Stroop task performance. NeuroImage, 49(3), 2662–2670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.076</u>
- Hassin, R., Ochsner, K., & Trope, Y. (2010). Self Control in Society, Mind, and Brain. Oxford University Press.
- Hatfield, E., Cacioppo, J. T., & Rapson, R. L. (1993). Emotional contagion. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 2(3), 96–99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-</u> <u>8721.ep10770953</u>

- Healey, M. L., & Grossman, M. (2018). Cognitive and affective perspective-taking:
 Evidence for shared and dissociable anatomical substrates. *Frontiers in Neurology*,
 9, 491. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00491</u>
- Hedger, N., Haffey, A., McSorley, E., & Chakrabarti, B. (2018). Empathy modulates the temporal structure of social attention. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 285(1893), 20181716. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.1716
- Hendricks, M. A., & Buchanan, T. W. (2016). Individual differences in cognitive control processes and their relationship to emotion regulation. *Cognition & Emotion*, 30(5), 912–924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2015.1032893</u>
- Hennenlotter, A., Dresel, C., Castrop, F., Ceballos-Baumann, A. O., Baumann, A. O. C.,
 Wohlschläger, A. M., & Haslinger, B. (2009). The link between facial feedback and
 neural activity within central circuitries of emotion–New insights from botulinum
 toxin-induced denervation of frown muscles. *Cerebral Cortex*, 19(3), 537–542.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhn104
- Hess, U., & Blairy, S. (2001). Facial mimicry and emotional contagion to dynamic emotional facial expressions and their influence on decoding accuracy.
 International Journal of Psychophysiology: Official Journal of the International Organization of Psychophysiology, 40(2), 129–141.
- Hess, Ursula, Philippot, P., & Blairy, S. (1998). Facial reactions to emotional facial expressions: Affect or cognition? *Cognition and Emotion*, 12(4), 509–531. https://doi.org/10.1080/026999398379547
- Hetts, J. J., Sakuma, M., & Pelham, B. W. (1999). Two roads to positive regard: Implicit and explicit self-evaluation and culture. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 35(6), 512–559. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/jesp.1999.1391</u>

Hobson, R. P. (2010). Explaining autism: Ten reasons to focus on the developing self.
 Autism: The International Journal of Research and Practice, 14(5), 391–407.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361310364142

- Hofelich, A. J., & Preston, S. D. (2012). The meaning in empathy: Distinguishing conceptual encoding from facial mimicry, trait empathy, and attention to emotion. *Cognition & Emotion*, 26(1), 119–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2011.559192</u>
- Hogan, R. (1969). Development of an empathy scale. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical* Psychology, 33(3), 307–316. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0027580
- Hopp, H., Troy, A. S., & Mauss, I. B. (2011). The unconscious pursuit of emotion regulation: Implications for psychological health. *Cognition & Emotion*, 25(3), 532– 545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2010.532606</u>
- Hsu, C., Neufeld, J., & Chakrabarti, B. (2018). Reduced reward-related neural response to mimicry in individuals with autism. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 47(6), 610–618. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13620</u>
- Hsu, C. T., Sims, T., & Chakrabarti, B. (2018). How mimicry influences the neural correlates of reward: An fMRI study. Neuropsychologia, 116, 61–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2017.08.018</u>
- Hughes, C., & Ensor, R. (2007). Executive function and theory of mind: Predictive relations from ages 2 to 4. Developmental Psychology, 43(6), 1447–1459.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.6.1447</u>
- Huizinga, M., Dolan, C. V., & van der Molen, M. W. (2006). Age-related change in executive function: Developmental trends and a latent variable analysis. *Neuropsychologia*, 44(11), 2017–2036.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.01.010

- Iacoboni, M., Woods, R. P., Brass, M., Bekkering, H., Mazziotta, J. C., & Rizzolatti, G. (1999). Cortical mechanisms of human imitation. Science, 286(5449), 2526–2528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.286.5449.2526</u>
- Iacoboni, M., & Dapretto, M. (2006). The mirror neuron system and the consequences of its dysfunction. Nature Reviews. Neuroscience, 7(12), 942–951. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2024
- Isaacowitz, D. M., Toner, K., & Neupert, S. D. (2009). Use of gaze for real-time mood regulation: Effects of age and attentional functioning. Psychology and Aging, 24(4), 989–994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017706</u>
- Israelashvili, J., Oosterwijk, S., Sauter, D., & Fischer, A. (2019). Knowing me, knowing you: Emotion differentiation in oneself is associated with recognition of others' emotions. *Cognition and Emotion*, 33(7), 1461–1471.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2019.1577221

- Jackson, D. C., Malmstadt, J. R., Larson, C. L., & Davidson, R. J. (2000). Suppression and enhancement of emotional responses to unpleasant pictures. Psychophysiology, 37(4), 515–522.
- Jackson, P. L., Meltzoff, A. N., & Decety, J. (2005). How do we perceive the pain of others? A window into the neural processes involved in empathy. NeuroImage, 24(3), 771–779. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.09.006</u>
- Jasinska, A. J., Yasuda, M., Rhodes, R. E., Wang, C., & Polk, T. A. (2012). Task difficulty modulates the impact of emotional stimuli on neural response in cognitive-control regions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00345</u>
- John, O. P., & Gross, J. J. (2004). Healthy and unhealthy emotion regulation: Personality processes, individual differences, and life span development. *Journal of Personality*, 72(6), 1301–1333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00298.x</u>

- John, O. P., & Robins, R. W. (1994). Accuracy and bias in self-perception: Individual differences in self-enhancement and the role of narcissism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 66(1), 206–219. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.66.1.206
- Jolliffe, D., & Farrington, D. P. (2006). Development and validation of the Basic Empathy Scale. Journal of Adolescence, 29(4), 589–611.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2005.08.010

- Jones, A. P., Happé, F. G. E., Gilbert, F., Burnett, S., & Viding, E. (2010). Feeling, caring, knowing: Different types of empathy deficit in boys with psychopathic tendencies and autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 51(11), 1188–1197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02280.x</u>
- Joseph, R. M., & Tager-Flusberg, H. (2004). The relationship of theory of mind and executive functions to symptom type and severity in children with autism. Development and Psychopathology, 16(1), 137–155.
- Just, M. A., & Carpenter, P. A. (1980). A theory of reading: From eye fixations to comprehension. Psychological Review, 87(4), 329–354.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.87.4.329

- Kagan, J. (1988). The meanings of personality predicates. American Psychologist, 43(8), 614–620. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.43.8.614</u>
- Kagan, J. (2007). A Trio of Concerns. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 2(4), 361–376. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6916.2007.00049.x

Kahneman, D. (1973). Attention and Effort. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.

Kalisch, R. (2009). The functional neuroanatomy of reappraisal: Time matters.

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 33(8), 1215–1226.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.06.003

- Kang, J., Ham, B.-J., & Wallraven, C. (2017). Cannot avert the eyes: Reduced attentional blink toward others' emotional expressions in empathic people. Psychonomic Bulletin & Review, 24(3), 810–820. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-016-1171-x</u>
- Kanske, P., Heissler, J., Schönfelder, S., & Wessa, M. (2012). Neural correlates of emotion regulation deficits in remitted depression: The influence of regulation strategy, habitual regulation use, and emotional valence. *NeuroImage*, 61(3), 686–693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.03.089
- Kanske, P., Schönfelder, S., & Wessa, M. (2013). Emotional modulation of the attentional blink and the relation to interpersonal reactivity. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00641
- Kaplan, J. T., & Iacoboni, M. (2006). Getting a grip on other minds: Mirror neurons, intention understanding, and cognitive empathy. Social Neuroscience, 1(3–4), 175–183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17470910600985605</u>
- Kappas, A. (2011). Emotion and regulation are one! *Emotion Review*, 3(1), 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073910380971
- Katzir, M., & Eyal, T. (2013). When stepping outside the self is not enough: A selfdistanced perspective reduces the experience of basic but not of self-conscious emotions. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 49(6), 1089–1092. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2013.07.006

Kaufman, E. A., Xia, M., Fosco, G. M., Yaptangco, M., Skidmore, C. R., & Crowell, S. E. (2016). The Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale Short Form (DERS-SF):
Validation and Replication in Adolescent and Adult Samples. *Journal of* Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 38(3), 443–455.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-015-9529-3

Keysar, B., Lin, S., & Barr, D. J. (2003). Limits on theory of mind use in adults. *Cognition*, 89(1), 25–41.

Keysers, C., & Gazzola, V. (2014). Dissociating the ability and propensity for empathy. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 18(4), 163–166.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2013.12.011

- Killgore, W. D., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2001). Sex differences in amygdala activation during the perception of facial affect. *Neuroreport*, 12(11), 2543–2547. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200108080-00050
- Kim, H., Somerville, L. H., Johnstone, T., Polis, S., Alexander, A. L., Shin, L. M., & Whalen,
 P. J. (2004). Contextual modulation of amygdala responsivity to surprised faces. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 16(10), 1730–1745.

https://doi.org/10.1162/0898929042947865

- Kleinke, C. L. (1986). Gaze and eye contact: A research review. Psychological Bulletin, 100(1), 78–100.
- Klin, A., Jones, W., Schultz, R., Volkmar, F., & Cohen, D. (2002). Visual fixation patterns during viewing of naturalistic social situations as predictors of social competence in individuals with autism. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 59(9), 809–816. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.59.9.809
- Koenigsberg, H. W., Fan, J., Ochsner, K. N., Liu, X., Guise, K., Pizzarello, S., ... Siever, L. J. (2010). Neural correlates of using distancing to regulate emotional responses to social situations. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(6), 1813–1822.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.03.002

- Konstantareas, M. M., & Stewart, K. (2006). Affect regulation and temperament in children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental* Disorders, 36(2), 143–154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-005-0051-4</u>
- Koole, S. L., Kuhl, J., Jostmann, N. B., & Finkenauer, C. (2006). Self-regulation in interpersonal relationships: The case of action versus state orientation.
 Intrapersonal and Interpersonal Processes: How They Relate, 360–383.

- Koole, S. L., Webb, T., & Sheeran, P. (2015). Implicit emotion regulation: Feeling better without knowing why. Current Opinion in Psychology, 3, 6–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2014.12.027</u>
- Koole, S. L. (2009). The psychology of emotion regulation: An integrative review. *Cognition and Emotion*, 23(1), 4–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930802619031</u>
- Koole, S. L., & Rothermund, K. (2011). "I feel better but I don't know why": The psychology of implicit emotion regulation. *Cognition & Emotion*, 25(3), 389–399. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2010.550505
- Koole, S. L., & Veenstra, L. (2015). Does emotion regulation occur only inside people's heads? Toward a situated cognition analysis of emotion-regulatory dynamics.
 Psychological Inquiry, 26(1), 61–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840X.2015.964657</u>
- Koster, E. H. W., De Lissnyder, E., Derakshan, N., & De Raedt, R. (2011). Understanding depressive rumination from a cognitive science perspective: The impaired disengagement hypothesis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 31(1), 138–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.08.005
- Kross, E., & Ayduk, O. (2008). Facilitating adaptive emotional analysis: Distinguishing distanced-analysis of depressive experiences from immersed-analysis and distraction. Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin, 34(7), 924–938. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208315938
- Kross, E., & Ayduk, O. (2011). Making meaning out of negative experiences by selfdistancing. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 20(3), 187–191. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721411408883
- Kross, E., Ayduk, O., & Mischel, W. (2005). When asking "why" does not hurt.
 Distinguishing rumination from reflective processing of negative emotions.
 Psychological Science, 16(9), 709–715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2005.01600.x</u>

- Kross, E., Gard, D., Deldin, P., Clifton, J., & Ayduk, O. (2012). "Asking why" from a distance: Its cognitive and emotional consequences for people with major depressive disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 121(3), 559–569. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028808
- Krueger, J., & Clement, R. W. (1994). The truly false consensus effect: An ineradicable and egocentric bias in social perception. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67(4), 596–610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.67.4.596</u>
- Kuppens, P., Oravecz, Z., & Tuerlinckx, F. (2010). Feelings change: Accounting for individual differences in the temporal dynamics of affect. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 99(6), 1042–1060. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020962</u>
- Kurdi, B., Lozano, S., & Banaji, M. R. (2017). Introducing the Open Affective Standardized Image Set (OASIS). Behavior Research Methods, 49(2), 457–470.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-016-0715-3</u>
- Kuypers, K. P. C. (2017). Emotional empathic responses to dynamic negative affective stimuli Is gender-dependent. Frontiers in Psychology, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01491

Laird, J. D., Alibozak, T., Davainis, D., Deignan, K., Fontanella, K., Hong, J., ... Pacheco, C. (1994). Individual differences in the effects of spontaneous mimicry on emotional contagion. Motivation and Emotion, 18(3), 231–247.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02254830

- Lamm, C., Batson, C. D., & Decety, J. (2007). The neural substrate of human empathy: Effects of perspective-taking and cognitive appraisal. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 19(1), 42–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2007.19.1.42</u>
- Lamm, C., Decety, J., & Singer, T. (2011). Meta-analytic evidence for common and distinct neural networks associated with directly experienced pain and empathy

for pain. NeuroImage, 54(3), 2492-2502.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.014

- Lang, P. J., Bradley, M. M., & Cuthbert, B. N. (2005). International Affective Picture System (IAPS): Affective ratings of pictures and instruction manual. Technical Report A-6, Gainesville, FL: University of Florida.
- Lang, P. J., Greenwald, M. K., Bradley, M. M., & Hamm, A. O. (1993). Looking at pictures: Affective, facial, visceral, and behavioral reactions. Psychophysiology, 30(3), 261– 273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.1993.tb03352.x</u>
- Lang, S., Kotchoubey, B., Frick, C., Spitzer, C., Grabe, H. J., & Barnow, S. (2012). Cognitive reappraisal in trauma-exposed women with borderline personality disorder. *NeuroImage*, 59(2), 1727–1734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.061</u>
- Langens, T. A., & Mörth, S. (2003). Repressive coping and the use of passive and active coping strategies. Personality and Individual Differences, 35(2), 461–473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00207-6</u>
- Lapate, R. C., van Reekum, C. M., Schaefer, S. M., Greischar, L. L., Norris, C. J., Bachhuber, D. R. W., ... Davidson, R. J. (2014). Prolonged marital stress is associated with short-lived responses to positive stimuli. Psychophysiology, 51(6), 499–509. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.12203
- Larsen, J. T., Norris, C. J., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2003). Effects of positive and negative affect on electromyographic activity over zygomaticus major and corrugator supercilii.
 Psychophysiology, 40(5), 776–785. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-8986.00078</u>
- Larsen, R. J. (2000). Toward a science of mood regulation. Psychological Inquiry, 11(3), 129–141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1103_01</u>
- Lawrence, E. J., Shaw, P., Baker, D., Baron-Cohen, S., & David, A. S. (2004). Measuring empathy: Reliability and validity of the Empathy Quotient. Psychological Medicine, 34(5), 911–919. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291703001624</u>

- Lazarus, R. S. (1991). Progress on a cognitive-motivational-relational theory of emotion. *American* Psychologist, 46(8), 819–834. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-</u> <u>066X.46.8.819</u>
- Lazarus, R. S., & Alfert, E. (1964). Short-circuiting of threat by experimentally altering cognitive appraisal. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 69(2), 195–205. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0044635
- Lei, Y., Dou, H., Liu, Q., Zhang, W., Zhang, Z., & Li, H. (2017). Automatic processing of emotional words in the absence of awareness: The critical role of P2. Frontiers in Psychology, 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00592</u>
- Leiberg, S., & Anders, S. (2006). The multiple facets of empathy: A survey of theory and evidence. Progress in Brain Research, 156, 419–440.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(06)56023-6

- Leopold, A., Krueger, F., dal Monte, O., Pardini, M., Pulaski, S. J., Solomon, J., & Grafman, J. (2012). Damage to the left ventromedial prefrontal cortex impacts affective theory of mind. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 7(8), 871–880.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsr071
- Levenson, R. W., Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. (1990). Voluntary facial action generates emotion-specific autonomic nervous system activity. Psychophysiology, 27(4), 363– 384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.1990.tb02330.x</u>
- Levenson, Robert W. (1999). The intrapersonal functions of emotion. *Cognition and Emotion*, 13(5), 481–504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/026999399379159</u>
- Lewinski, P., den Uyl, T. M., & Butler, C. (2014). Automated facial coding: Validation of basic emotions and FACS AUs in FaceReader. Journal of Neuroscience, Psychology, and Economics, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/npe0000028</u>

Lewinski, P. (2015). Automated facial coding software outperforms people in recognizing neutral faces as neutral from standardized datasets. Frontiers in Psychology, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01386</u>

- Likowski, K. U., Weyers, P., Seibt, B., Stöhr, C., Pauli, P., & Mühlberger, A. (2011). Sad and lonely? Sad mood suppresses facial mimicry. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 35(2), 101–117. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10919-011-0107-4
- Livingstone, K. M., & Srivastava, S. (2012). Up-regulating positive emotions in everyday life: Strategies, individual differences, and associations with positive emotion and well-being. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 46(5), 504–516.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2012.05.009

- Lockwood, P. L., Bird, G., Bridge, M., & Viding, E. (2013). Dissecting empathy: High levels of psychopathic and autistic traits are characterized by difficulties in different social information processing domains. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00760
- Lockwood, P. L., Seara-Cardoso, A., & Viding, E. (2014). Emotion regulation moderates the association between empathy and prosocial behavior. PLOS ONE, 9(5), e96555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096555</u>
- Mackay, D. G., Shafto, M., Taylor, J. K., Marian, D. E., Abrams, L., & Dyer, J. R. (2004).
 Relations between emotion, memory, and attention: Evidence from taboo Stroop, lexical decision, and immediate memory tasks. *Memory & Cognition*, 32(3), 474–488. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03195840</u>
- MacLeod, C. M. (1991). Half a century of research on the Stroop effect: An integrative review. Psychological Bulletin, 109(2), 163–203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.109.2.163</u>

- Macnamara, A., Foti, D., & Hajcak, G. (2009). Tell me about it: Neural activity elicited by emotional pictures and preceding descriptions. *Emotion*, 9(4), 531–543. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016251
- MacNamara, A., Ochsner, K. N., & Hajcak, G. (2011). Previously reappraised: The lasting effect of description type on picture-elicited electrocortical activity. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 6(3), 348–358.

https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsq053

- Manstead, A. S. R., & Fischer, A. H. (2001). Social appraisal: The social world as object of and influence on appraisal processes. In Series in Affective Science. Appraisal processes in emotion: Theory, methods, research (pp. 221–232). New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press.
- Marchetti, A., Castelli, I., Sanvito, L., & Massaro, D. (2014). Is a bird in the hand worth two in the future? Intertemporal choice, attachment and theory of mind in schoolaged children. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5, 483. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00483
- Marcovitch, S., O'Brien, M., Calkins, S. D., Leerkes, E. M., Weaver, J. M., & Levine, D. W. (2015). A longitudinal assessment of the relation between executive function and theory of mind at 3, 4, and 5 years. *Cognitive Development*, 33, 40–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2014.07.001</u>
- Marsh, A. A., Ambady, N., & Kleck, R. E. (2005). The effects of fear and anger facial expressions on approach- and avoidance-related behaviors. *Emotion*, 5(1), 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1037/1528-3542.5.1.119
- Matarazzo, O., Baldassarre, I., Nigro, G., Cosenza, M., & Abbamonte, L. (2014). Helpful contextual information before or after negative events: Effects on appraisal and emotional reaction. *Cognitive Computation*, 6, 640–651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12559-014-9275-y

- Mauss, I. B., Bunge, S. A., & Gross, J. J. (2007). Automatic emotion regulation. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 1(1), 146–167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-</u> 9004.2007.00005.x
- Mauss, I. B., Levenson, R. W., McCarter, L., Wilhelm, F. H., & Gross, J. J. (2005). The tie that binds? Coherence among emotion experience, behavior, and physiology. *Emotion*, 5(2), 175–190. https://doi.org/10.1037/1528-3542.5.2.175
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa Jr., P. T. (1999). A Five-Factor theory of personality. In Handbook of personality: Theory and research, 2nd ed (pp. 139–153). New York, NY, US: Guilford Press.
- McKenna, F. P., & Sharma, D. (2004). Reversing the emotional Stroop effect reveals that it is not what it seems: The role of fast and slow components. Journal of Experimental Psychology. Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 30(2), 382–392.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.30.2.382
- McKinnon, M. C., & Moscovitch, M. (2007). Domain-general contributions to social reasoning: Theory of mind and deontic reasoning re-explored. *Cognition*, 102(2), 179–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2005.12.011</u>
- McRae, K. (2016). Cognitive emotion regulation: A review of theory and scientific findings. Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences, 10, 119–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2016.06.004</u>
- McRae, K., Gross, J. J., Weber, J., Robertson, E. R., Sokol-Hessner, P., Ray, R. D., ... Ochsner, K. N. (2012). The development of emotion regulation: An fMRI study of cognitive reappraisal in children, adolescents and young adults. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 7(1), 11–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsr093</u>
- McRae, K., Hughes, B., Chopra, S., Gabrieli, J. D. E., Gross, J. J., & Ochsner, K. N. (2010). The neural bases of distraction and reappraisal. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22(2), 248–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2009.21243</u>

McRae, K., Jacobs, S. E., Ray, R. D., John, O. P., & Gross, J. J. (2013). Individual differences in reappraisal ability: Links to reappraisal frequency, well-being, and cognitive control. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 47(3), 226–226.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2013.02.001

Mehrabian, A., & Epstein, N. (1972). A measure of emotional empathy. *Journal of Personality*, 40(4), 525–543. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1972.tb00078.x

Mehta, P. H., & Prasad, S. (2015). The dual-hormone hypothesis: A brief review and future research agenda. Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences, 3, 163–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2015.04.008</u>

Melchers, M., Montag, C., Markett, S., & Reuter, M. (2015). Assessment of empathy via self-report and behavioural paradigms: Data on convergent and discriminant validity. *Cognitive Neuropsychiatry*, 20(2), 157–171.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13546805.2014.991781

Messina, I., Bianco, S., Sambin, M., & Viviani, R. (2015). Executive and semantic processes in reappraisal of negative stimuli: Insights from a meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00956

- Michalska, K. J., Kinzler, K. D., & Decety, J. (2013). Age-related sex differences in explicit measures of empathy do not predict brain responses across childhood and adolescence. Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience, 3, 22–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2012.08.001
- Mitchell, J. P., Schirmer, J., Ames, D. L., & Gilbert, D. T. (2011). Medial prefrontal cortex predicts intertemporal choice. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 23(4), 857–866. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2010.21479</u>
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to

complex "Frontal Lobe" tasks: A latent variable analysis. *Cognitive* Psychology, 41(1), 49–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/cogp.1999.0734</u>

Moberly, N. J., & Watkins, E. R. (2010). Negative affect and ruminative self-focus during everyday goal pursuit. Cognition & Emotion, 24(4), 729–739.
https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930802696849

Mocaiber, I., Sanchez, T. A., Pereira, M. G., Erthal, F. S., Joffily, M., Araujo, D. B., ... de Oliveira, L. (2011). Antecedent descriptions change brain reactivity to emotional stimuli: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of an extrinsic and incidental reappraisal strategy. *Neuroscience*, 193, 241–248.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.07.003

- Mocaiber, Izabela, Pereira, M. G., Erthal, F. S., Machado-Pinheiro, W., David, I. A., Cagy,
 M., ... de Oliveira, L. (2010). Fact or fiction? An event-related potential study of
 implicit emotion regulation. Neuroscience Letters, 476(2), 84–88.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2010.04.008
- Monk, C. S., McClure, E. B., Nelson, E. E., Zarahn, E., Bilder, R. M., Leibenluft, E., ... Pine,D. S. (2003). Adolescent immaturity in attention-related brain engagement toemotional facial expressions. *NeuroImage*, 20(1), 420–428.
- Moors, A. (2013). On the causal role of appraisal in emotion. *Emotion Review*, 5(2), 132–140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073912463601</u>
- Morelli, S. A., Rameson, L. T., & Lieberman, M. D. (2014). The neural components of empathy: Predicting daily prosocial behavior. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 9(1), 39–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nss088</u>
- Morillas-Romero, A., Tortella-Feliu, M., Balle, M., & Bornas, X. (2015). Spontaneous emotion regulation and attentional control. *Emotion*, 15(2), 162–175. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000016

- Morooka, T., Ogino, T., Takeuchi, A., Hanafusa, K., Oka, M., & Ohtsuka, Y. (2012). Relationships between the color-word matching Stroop task and the Go/NoGo task: Toward multifaceted assessment of attention and inhibition abilities of children. Acta Medica Okayama, 66(5), 377–386.
- Morris, J. S., Frith, C. D., Perrett, D. I., Rowland, D., Young, A. W., Calder, A. J., & Dolan, R. J. (1996). A differential neural response in the human amygdala to fearful and happy facial expressions. *Nature*, 383(6603), 812–815.

https://doi.org/10.1038/383812a0

- Moskowitz, D. S. (1986). Comparison of self-reports, reports by knowledgeable informants, and behavioral observation data. *Journal of Personality*, 54(1), 294–317. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1986.tb00396.x</u>
- Müller, U., Liebermann-Finestone, D. P., Carpendale, J. I. M., Hammond, S. I., & Bibok,
 M. B. (2012). Knowing minds, controlling actions: The developmental relations
 between theory of mind and executive function from 2 to 4 years of age. Journal of
 Experimental Child Psychology, 111(2), 331–348.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2011.08.014

- Murata, A., Saito, H., Schug, J., Ogawa, K., & Kameda, T. (2016). Spontaneous facial mimicry Is enhanced by the goal of inferring emotional states: Evidence for moderation of "automatic" mimicry by higher cognitive processes. PLOS ONE, 11(4), e0153128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0153128</u>
- Murphy, B. A., & Lilienfeld, S. O. (2019). Are self-report cognitive empathy ratings valid proxies for cognitive empathy ability? Negligible meta-analytic relations with behavioral task performance. *Psychological Assessment*, 31(8), 1062–1072. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000732
- Mutter, B., Alcorn, M. B., & Welsh, M. (2006). Theory of mind and executive function: Working-memory capacity and inhibitory control as predictors of false-belief task

performance. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 102(3), 819-835.

https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.102.3.819-835

- Nadel, J. (2002). Imitation and imitation recognition: Functional use in preverbal infants and nonverbal children with autism. In *Cambridge Studies in Cognitive Perceptual Development*. The imitative mind: Development, evolution, and brain bases (pp. 42– 62). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511489969.003
- Naragon-Gainey, K., McMahon, T. P., & Chacko, T. P. (2017). The structure of common emotion regulation strategies: A meta-analytic examination. Psychological Bulletin, 143(4), 384–427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000093</u>
- Nee, D. E., Wager, T. D., & Jonides, J. (2007). Interference resolution: Insights from a meta-analysis of neuroimaging tasks. *Cognitive*, Affective, & Behavioral *Neuroscience*, 7(1), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/CABN.7.1.1</u>
- Niedenthal, P. M. (2007). Embodying emotion. Science, 316(5827), 1002–1005. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1136930
- Niedenthal, P. M., Brauer, M., Halberstadt, J. B., & Innes-Ker, Å. H. (2001). When did her smile drop? Facial mimicry and the influences of emotional state on the detection of change in emotional expression. *Cognition and Emotion*, 15(6), 853–864. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930143000194
- Nix, G., Watson, C., Pyszczynski, T., & Greenberg, J. (1995). Reducing depressive affect through external focus of attention. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 14(1), 36–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.1995.14.1.36</u>
- Oatley, K., & Jenkins, J. M. (1992). Human emotions: Function and dysfunction. Annual Review of Psychology, 43(1), 55–85.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ps.43.020192.000415

Ochsner, K. N., & Gross, J. J. (2005). The cognitive control of emotion. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 9(5), 242–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2005.03.010

- Ochsner, K. N., & Gross, J. J. (2008). Cognitive emotion regulation: Insights from social cognitive and affective neuroscience. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 17(2), 153–158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00566.x</u>
- Ochsner, K. N., Knierim, K., Ludlow, D. H., Hanelin, J., Ramachandran, T., Glover, G., & Mackey, S. C. (2004b). Reflecting upon feelings: An fMRI study of neural systems supporting the attribution of emotion to self and other. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 16(10), 1746–1772. https://doi.org/10.1162/0898929042947829
- Ochsner, K. N., Ray, R. D., Cooper, J. C., Robertson, E. R., Chopra, S., Gabrieli, J. D. E., & Gross, J. J. (2004a). For better or for worse: Neural systems supporting the cognitive down- and up-regulation of negative emotion. *NeuroImage*, 23(2), 483–499. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.06.030</u>
- Ochsner, K. N., Ray, R. R., Hughes, B., McRae, K., Cooper, J. C., Weber, J., ... Gross, J. J. (2009). Bottom-up and top-down processes in emotion generation: Common and distinct neural mechanisms. *Psychological Science*, 20(11), 1322–1331. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02459.x
- Ochsner, K. N., Silvers, J. A., & Buhle, J. T. (2012). Functional imaging studies of emotion regulation: A synthetic review and evolving model of the cognitive control of emotion. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1251, E1-24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06751.x
- O'Connell, G., Christakou, A., & Chakrabarti, B. (2015). The role of simulation in intertemporal choices. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00094
- O'Doherty, J. P., Dayan, P., Friston, K., Critchley, H., & Dolan, R. J. (2003). Temporal difference models and reward-related learning in the human brain. *Neuron*, 38(2), 329–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00169-7</u>

- Ohman, A., Flykt, A., & Esteves, F. M. (2001). Emotion drives attention: Detecting the snake in the grass. Journal of Experimental Psychology. General, 130(3), 466–478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.130.3.466</u>
- Okun, M. A., Shepard, S. A., & Eisenberg, N. (2000). The relations of emotionality and regulation to dispositional empathy-related responding among volunteers-in-training. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 28(2), 367–382.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00107-5

Ólafsson, R. P., Smári, J., Guðmundsdóttir, F., Ólafsdóttir, G., Harðardóttir, H. L., & Einarsson, S. M. (2011). Self-reported attentional control with the Attentional Control Scale: Factor structure and relationship with symptoms of anxiety and depression. Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 25(6), 777–782.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2011.03.013

Olatunji, B. O., Ciesielski, B. G., Armstrong, T., Zhao, M., & Zald, D. H. (2011). Making something out of nothing: Neutral content modulates attention in generalized anxiety disorder. *Depression and Anxiety*, 28(5), 427–434.

https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20806

- Olderbak, S., Wilhelm, O., Olaru, G., Geiger, M., Brenneman, M. W., & Roberts, R. D.
 (2015). A psychometric analysis of the reading the mind in the eyes test: Toward a brief form for research and applied settings. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6, 1503. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01503
- Olszanowski, M., Pochwatko, G., Kuklinski, K., Scibor-Rylski, M., Lewinski, P., & Ohme, R. K. (2015). Warsaw set of emotional facial expression pictures: A validation study of facial display photographs. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01516

Opitz, P. C., Cavanagh, S. R., & Urry, H. L. (2015). Uninstructed emotion regulation choice in four studies of cognitive reappraisal. Personality and Individual Differences, 86, 455–464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.06.048</u>

- Osborn, J., & Derbyshire, S. W. G. (2010). Pain sensation evoked by observing injury in others. *Pain*, 148(2), 268–274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.11.007</u>
- Ovaysikia, S., Tahir, K. A., Chan, J. L., & DeSouza, J. F. X. (2011). Word wins over face: Emotional stroop effect activates the frontal cortical network. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2010.00234</u>
- Ozonoff, S., & McEvoy, R. E. (1994). A longitudinal study of executive function and theory of mind development in autism. *Development and Psychopathology*, 6(3), 415–431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579400006027</u>
- Ozonoff, S., Pennington, B. F., & Rogers, S. J. (1991). Executive function deficits in highfunctioning autistic individuals: Relationship to theory of mind. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 32(7), 1081–1105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> 7610.1991.tb00351.x
- Padmala, S., Bauer, A., & Pessoa, L. (2011). Negative emotion impairs conflict-driven executive control. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00192

- Parkinson, B., & Totterdell, P. (1999). Classifying Affect-regulation Strategies. *Cognition* and Emotion, 13(3), 277-303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/026999399379285</u>
- Paul, S., Kathmann, N., & Riesel, A. (2016). The costs of distraction: The effect of distraction during repeated picture processing on the LPP. Biological Psychology, 117, 225–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2016.04.002</u>
- Paulhus, D. L. (1991). Measurement and control of response bias. In Measures of Social Psychological Attitudes, Vol. 1. Measures of personality and social psychological attitudes (pp. 17–59). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-590241-0.50006-X</u>
- Paulhus, D. L., & Vazire, S. (2007). The self-report method. In Handbook of research methods in personality psychology (pp. 224–239). New York, NY, US: The Guilford Press.

- Perner, J., & Lang, B. (1999). Development of theory of mind and executive control. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 3(9), 337–344.
- Peterson, E., & Miller, S. F. (2012). The eyes test as a measure of individual differences: How much of the variance reflects verbal IQ? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00220
- Pfeifer, J. H., Iacoboni, M., Mazziotta, J. C., & Dapretto, M. (2008). Mirroring others' emotions relates to empathy and interpersonal competence in children. *NeuroImage*, 39(4), 2076–2085. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.10.032</u>
- Phan, K. L., Fitzgerald, D. A., Nathan, P. J., Moore, G. J., Uhde, T. W., & Tancer, M. E. (2005). Neural substrates for voluntary suppression of negative affect: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Biological Psychiatry*, 57(3), 210–219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.10.030</u>
- Pinkham, A. E., Harvey, P. D., & Penn, D. L. (2018). Social cognition psychometric evaluation: Results of the final validation study. Schizophrenia Bulletin, 44(4), 737–748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbx117</u>
- Powell, P. A. (2018). Individual differences in emotion regulation moderate the associations between empathy and affective distress. Motivation and Emotion, 42(4), 602–613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-018-9684-4</u>
- Pratto, F., & John, O. P. (1991). Automatic vigilance: The attention-grabbing power of negative social information. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61(3), 380–391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.61.3.380</u>
- Preckel, K., Kanske, P., & Singer, T. (2018). On the interaction of social affect and cognition: Empathy, compassion and theory of mind. *Current Opinion in* Behavioral Sciences, 19, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2017.07.010</u>

- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 1(4), 515–526. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X00076512
- Preston, S. D., & de Waal, F. B. M. (2002). Empathy: Its ultimate and proximate bases. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 25(1), 1–20.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X02000018

- Prinz, W. (1997). Perception and Action Planning. European Journal of Cognitive Psychology, 9(2), 129–154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/713752551</u>
- Ray, R. D., McRae, K., Ochsner, K. N., & Gross, J. J. (2010). Cognitive reappraisal of negative affect: Converging evidence from EMG and self-report. *Emotion* (*Washington*, D.C.), 10(4), 587–592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019015</u>
- Reeck, C., & Egner, T. (2011). Affective privilege: Asymmetric interference by emotional distracters. Frontiers in Psychology, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00232</u>
- Reijntjes, A., Stegge, H., Terwogt, M. M., Kamphuis, J. H., & Telch, M. J. (2006). Emotion regulation and its effects on mood improvement in response to an in vivo peer rejection challenge. *Emotion*, 6(4), 543–552. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1528-</u> 3542.6.4.543
- Reniers, R. L. E. P., Corcoran, R., Drake, R., Shryane, N. M., & Völlm, B. A. (2011). The QCAE: A questionnaire of cognitive and affective empathy. *Journal of Personality* Assessment, 93(1), 84–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2010.528484</u>
- Richards, A., French, C. C., Johnson, W., Naparstek, J., & Williams, J. (1992). Effects of mood manipulation and anxiety on performance of an emotional Stroop task.
 British Journal of Psychology (London, England: 1953), 83 (Pt 4), 479–491.
- Rieffe, C., De Bruine, M., De Rooij, M., & Stockmann, L. (2014). Approach and avoidant emotion regulation prevent depressive symptoms in children with an Autism

Spectrum Disorder. International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience, 39, 37– 43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2014.06.003

Rive, M. M., van Rooijen, G., Veltman, D. J., Phillips, M. L., Schene, A. H., & Ruhé, H. G. (2013). Neural correlates of dysfunctional emotion regulation in major depressive disorder. A systematic review of neuroimaging studies. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37(10), 2529–2553.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.07.018

Rizzolatti, G., & Craighero, L. (2004). The mirror-neuron system. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 27, 169–192.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.27.070203.144230

- Robins, R. W., Tracy, J. L., & Sherman, J. W. (2007). What kinds of methods do personality psychologists use?: A survey of journal editors and editorial board members. In
 Robins, R.W., Fraley, R. C., Krueger, R. F. (Eds), Handbook of research methods in personality psychology (pp. 673-678), New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Roepke, S., Vater, A., Preißler, S., Heekeren, H. R., & Dziobek, I. (2013). Social cognition in borderline personality disorder. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 6.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2012.00195

- Rothbart, M. K., & Rueda, M. R. (2005). The development of effortful control. In Decade of Behavior. Developing individuality in the human brain: A tribute to Michael I. Posner (pp. 167–188). <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/11108-009</u>
- Rottweiler, A.-L., Taxer, J. L., & Nett, U. E. (2018). Context matters in the effectiveness of emotion regulation strategies. AERA Open, 4(2), 2332858418778849. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858418778849
- Rubio-Fernández, P. (2017). The director task: A test of Theory-of-Mind use or selective attention? Psychonomic Bulletin & Review, 24(4), 1121–1128. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-016-1190-7

Ruby, P., & Decety, J. (2004). How would you feel versus how do you think she would feel? A neuroimaging study of perspective-taking with social emotions. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 16(6), 988–999.

https://doi.org/10.1162/0898929041502661

- Rueckert, L., Branch, B., & Doan, T. (2011). Are gender differences in empathy due to differences in emotional reactivity? Psychology, 02(06), 574–578. https://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2011.26088
- Rueda, M. R., Posner, M. I., & Rothbart, M. K. (2005). The development of executive attention: Contributions to the emergence of self-regulation. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 573–594.
- Russell, J. A. (1994). Is there universal recognition of emotion from facial expression? A review of the cross-cultural studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 115(1), 102-141. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.115.1.102
- Russell-Smith, S. N., Bayliss, D. M., Maybery, M. T., & Tomkinson, R. L. (2013). Are the autism and positive schizotypy spectra diametrically opposed in empathizing and systemizing? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(3), 695–706.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1614-9

- Rychlowska, M., Cañadas, E., Wood, A., Krumhuber, E. G., Fischer, A., & Niedenthal, P.
 M. (2014). Blocking mimicry makes true and false smiles look the same. PLOS ONE, 9(3), e90876. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090876</u>
- Rymarczyk, K., Żurawski, Ł., Jankowiak-Siuda, K., & Szatkowska, I. (2016). Emotional empathy and facial mimicry for static and dynamic facial expressions of fear and disgust. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01853</u>
- Rymarczyk, K., Żurawski, Ł., Jankowiak-Siuda, K., & Szatkowska, I. (2018). Neural correlates of facial mimicry: Simultaneous measurements of EMG and BOLD

responses during perception of dynamic compared to static facial expressions. Frontiers in Psychology, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00052

- Sabbagh, M. A., Xu, F., Carlson, S. M., Moses, L. J., & Lee, K. (2006). The development of executive functioning and theory of mind. A comparison of Chinese and U.S. preschoolers. Psychological Science, 17(1), 74–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> 9280.2005.01667.x
- Salas Riquelme, C. E., Turnbull, O. H., & Gross, J. J. (2014). Reappraisal generation after acquired brain damage: The role of laterality and cognitive control. Frontiers in Psychology, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00242</u>
- Samson, A. C., Huber, O., & Gross, J. J. (2012). Emotion regulation in Asperger's syndrome and high-functioning autism. *Emotion*, 12(4), 659–665. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027975
- Santiesteban, I., Banissy, M. J., Catmur, C., & Bird, G. (2012). Enhancing social ability by stimulating right temporoparietal junction. *Current Biology*: CB, 22(23), 2274–2277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.10.018</u>
- Sato, W., Fujimura, T., Kochiyama, T., & Suzuki, N. (2013). Relationships among facial mimicry, emotional experience, and emotion recognition. PLOS ONE, 8(3), e57889. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057889
- Sato, W., & Yoshikawa, S. (2007). Spontaneous facial mimicry in response to dynamic facial expressions. *Cognition*, 104(1), 1–18.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2006.05.001

Saxe, R., Carey, S., & Kanwisher, N. (2004). Understanding other minds: Linking developmental psychology and functional neuroimaging. Annual Review of Psychology, 55, 87–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.142044</u>

- Scheibe, S., Sheppes, G., & Staudinger, U. M. (2015). Distract or reappraise? Age-related differences in emotion-regulation choice. *Emotion*, 15(6), 677–681. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039246
- Scherer, K. R. (2003). Vocal communication of emotion: A review of research paradigms. Speech Communication, 40(1–2), 227–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-6393(02)00084-5
- Schimmack, U. (2005). Attentional interference effects of emotional pictures: Threat, negativity, or arousal? *Emotion*, 5(1), 55–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1528-3542.5.1.55</u>
- Schipper, M., & Petermann, F. (2013). Relating empathy and emotion regulation: Do deficits in empathy trigger emotion dysregulation? Social Neuroscience, 8(1), 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470919.2012.761650
- Schmeichel, B. J., & Demaree, H. A. (2010). Working memory capacity and spontaneous emotion regulation: High capacity predicts self-enhancement in response to negative feedback. *Emotion*, 10(5), 739–744. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019355</u>
- Schmeichel, B. J., Volokhov, R. N., & Demaree, H. A. (2008). Working memory capacity and the self-regulation of emotional expression and experience. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 95(6), 1526–1540.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013345

Schmid, P. C., Schmid Mast, M., Bombari, D., Mast, F. W., & Lobmaier, J. S. (2011). How mood states affect information processing during facial emotion recognition: An eye tracking study. *Swiss Journal of Psychology*, 70(4), 223–231.

https://doi.org/10.1024/1421-0185/a000060

Schmid, Petra Claudia, & Mast, M. S. (2010). Mood effects on emotion recognition. Motivation and Emotion, 34(3), 288–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-010-9170-0</u>

- Schoorl, J., Rijn, S. van, Wied, M. de, Goozen, S. van, & Swaab, H. (2016). Emotion regulation difficulties in boys with oppositional defiant disorder/conduct disorder and the relation with comorbid autism traits and attention deficit traits. PLOS ONE, 11(7), e0159323. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159323
- Schwenck, C., Mergenthaler, J., Keller, K., Zech, J., Salehi, S., Taurines, R., ... Freitag, C.
 M. (2012). Empathy in children with autism and conduct disorder: Group-specific profiles and developmental aspects. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 53(6), 651–659. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02499.x</u>
- Sebastian, C. L., McCrory, E. J. P., Cecil, C. A. M., Lockwood, P. L., Brito, S. A. D., Fontaine, N. M. G., & Viding, E. (2012). Neural responses to affective and cognitive theory of mind in children with conduct problems and varying levels of callousunemotional traits. Archives of General Psychiatry, 69(8), 814–822.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.2070

Servaas, M. N., van der Velde, J., Costafreda, S. G., Horton, P., Ormel, J., Riese, H., & Aleman, A. (2013). Neuroticism and the brain: A quantitative meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies investigating emotion processing. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 37(8), 1518–1529.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.05.005

Shafir, R., Thiruchselvam, R., Suri, G., Gross, J. J., & Sheppes, G. (2016). Neural processing of emotional-intensity predicts emotion regulation choice. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 11(12), 1863–1871.

https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsw114

Shamay-Tsoory, S. G., Aharon-Peretz, J., & Perry, D. (2009). Two systems for empathy: A double dissociation between emotional and cognitive empathy in inferior frontal gyrus versus ventromedial prefrontal lesions. Brain: A Journal of Neurology, 132(Pt 3), 617–627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn279</u>

- Shanton, K., & Goldman, A. (2010). Simulation theory. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews Cognitive Science, 1(4), 527–538. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.33</u>
- Sheppes, G., & Levin, Z. (2013). Emotion regulation choice: Selecting between cognitive regulation strategies to control emotion. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00179
- Sheppes, G., Scheibe, S., Suri, G., & Gross, J. J. (2011). Emotion-regulation choice. Psychological Science, 22(11), 1391–1396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611418350</u>
- Sheppes, G., Suri, G., & Gross, J. J. (2015). Emotion regulation and psychopathology. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 11, 379–405. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032814-112739
- Shiota, M. N., & Levenson, R. W. (2012). Turn down the volume or change the channel? Emotional effects of detached versus positive reappraisal. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 103(3), 416–429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029208</u>
- Sifneos, P. E., Apfel-Savitz, R., & Frankel, F. H. (1977). The phenomenon of 'Alexithymia.' Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 28(1–4), 47–57.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000287043

- Silani, G., Lamm, C., Ruff, C. C., & Singer, T. (2013). Right supramarginal gyrus is crucial to overcome emotional egocentricity bias in social judgments. The Journal of Neuroscience, 33(39), 15466–15476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1488-</u> 13.2013
- Sims, T. B., Reekum, C. M. V., Johnstone, T., & Chakrabarti, B. (2012). How reward modulates mimicry: EMG evidence of greater facial mimicry of more rewarding happy faces. Psychophysiology, 49(7), 998–1004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2012.01377.x</u>

- Singer, T., & Lamm, C. (2009). The social neuroscience of empathy. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1156, 81–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-</u> <u>6632.2009.04418.x</u>
- Smoski, M. J., LaBar, K. S., & Steffens, D. C. (2014). Relative effectiveness of reappraisal and distraction in regulating emotion in late-life depression. *The American Journal* of Geriatric Psychiatry, 22(9), 898–907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2013.01.070
- Sonnby-Borgström, M. (2002). Automatic mimicry reactions as related to differences in emotional empathy. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 43(5), 433-443. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1467-9450.00312
- Stenberg, G., Wiking, S., & Dahl, M. (1998). Judging words at face value: Interference in a word processing task reveals automatic processing of affective facial expressions.
 Cognition and Emotion, 12(6), 755–782. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/026999398379420</u>
- Stevens, J. A., Fonlupt, P., Shiffrar, M., & Decety, J. (2000). New aspects of motion perception: Selective neural encoding of apparent human movements. *Neuroreport*, 11(1), 109–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200001170-00022</u>
- Strand, M., Oram, M. W., & Hammar, Å. (2013). Emotional information processing in major depression remission and partial remission: Faces come first. *Applied Neuropsychology. Adult*, 20(2), 110–119.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09084282.2012.670159

- Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 18(6), 643–662. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0054651</u>
- Subic-Wrana, C., Beutel, M. E., Brähler, E., Stöbel-Richter, Y., Knebel, A., Lane, R. D., &
 Wiltink, J. (2014). How is emotional awareness related to emotion regulation
 strategies and self-reported negative affect in the general population? PLOS ONE,
 9(3), e91846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091846</u>

- Suddendorf, T., & Corballis, M. C. (2007). The evolution of foresight: What is mental time travel, and is it unique to humans? The Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 30(3), 299–313; discussion 313–351. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X07001975
- Suri, G., Sheppes, G., Young, G., Abraham, D., McRae, K., & Gross, J. J. (2018). Emotion regulation choice: The role of environmental affordances. *Cognition & Emotion*, 32(5), 963–971. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2017.1371003
- Sweeny, T. D., Suzuki, S., Grabowecky, M., & Paller, K. A. (2013). Detecting and categorizing fleeting emotions in faces. *Emotion (Washington, D.C.)*, 13(1), 76–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029193</u>
- Swick, D., Ashley, V., & Turken, U. (2011). Are the neural correlates of stopping and not going identical? Quantitative meta-analysis of two response inhibition tasks. *NeuroImage*, 56(3), 1655–1665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.02.070</u>
- Symeonidou, I., Dumontheil, I., Chow, W.-Y., & Breheny, R. (2016). Development of online use of theory of mind during adolescence: An eye-tracking study. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 149, 81–97.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2015.11.007

- Tamir, M. (2009). What do people want to feel and why?: Pleasure and utility in emotion regulation. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 18(2), 101–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01617.x
- Tamir, M. (2011). The Maturing Field of Emotion Regulation. *Emotion Review*, 3(1), 3–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073910388685</u>
- Tamir, M. (2016). Why do people regulate their emotions? A taxonomy of motives in emotion regulation. Personality and Social Psychology Review, 20(3), 199–222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868315586325
- Tamir, M., Halperin, E., Porat, R., Bigman, Y. E., & Hasson, Y. (2019). When there's a will, there's a way: Disentangling the effects of goals and means in emotion regulation.

Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 116(5), 795–816.

https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000232

- Tamir, M., & Millgram, Y. (2017). Motivated emotion regulation: Principles, lessons, and implications of a motivational analysis of emotion regulation. In Advances in Motivation Science, (pp. 207–247). San Diego, CA, US: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Tanenhaus, M. K., Spivey-Knowlton, M. J., Eberhard, K. M., & Sedivy, J. C. (1995).
 Integration of visual and linguistic information in spoken language comprehension.
 Science, 268(5217), 1632–1634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7777863</u>
- Tassinary, L. G., & Cacioppo, J. T. (1992). Unobservable facial actions and emotion.
 Psychological Science, 3(1), 28–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u>
 <u>9280.1992.tb00252.x</u>
- Taylor, J. G., & Fragopanagos, N. F. (2005). The interaction of attention and emotion. Neural Networks, 18(4), 353–369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neunet.2005.03.005</u>
- Tice, D. M., & Bratslavsky, E. (2000). Giving in to feel good: The place of emotion regulation in the context of general self-control. Psychological Inquiry, 11(3), 149– 159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1103_03</u>
- Todd, A. R., Forstmann, M., Burgmer, P., Brooks, A. W., & Galinsky, A. D. (2015). Anxious and egocentric: How specific emotions influence perspective taking. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 144(2), 374–391.

https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000048

- Tooby, J., & Cosmides, L. (1990). The past explains the present: Emotional adaptations and the structure of ancestral environments. Ethology and Sociobiology, 11(4), 375– 424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0162-3095(90)90017-Z</u>
- Tottenham, N., Hare, T. A., & Casey, B. J. (2011). Behavioral assessment of emotion discrimination, emotion regulation, and cognitive control in childhood,

adolescence, and adulthood. Frontiers in Psychology, 2.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00039

- Tottenham, N., Tanaka, J. W., Leon, A. C., McCarry, T., Nurse, M., Hare, T. A., ... Nelson,
 C. (2009). The NimStim set of facial expressions: Judgments from untrained
 research participants. Psychiatry Research, 168(3), 242–249.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2008.05.006
- Trope, Y., & Liberman, N. (2010). Construal-level theory of psychological distance. Psychological Review, 117(2), 440–463. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018963
- Tully, E. C., Ames, A. M., Garcia, S. E., & Donohue, M. R. (2016). Quadratic associations between empathy and depression as moderated by emotion dysregulation. The Journal of Psychology, 150(1), 15–35.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2014.992382

- Uchida, M., Biederman, J., Gabrieli, J. D. E., Micco, J., de Los Angeles, C., Brown, A., ...
 Whitfield-Gabrieli, S. (2015). Emotion regulation ability varies in relation to intrinsic functional brain architecture. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 10(12), 1738–1748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsv059</u>
- Urry, H. L., & Gross, J. J. (2010). Emotion regulation in older age. *Current Directions in* Psychological Science, 19(6), 352–357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721410388395</u>
- Urry, H. L., van Reekum, C. M., Johnstone, T., & Davidson, R. J. (2009). Individual differences in some (but not all) medial prefrontal regions reflect cognitive demand while regulating unpleasant emotion. *NeuroImage*, 47(3), 852–863. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.05.069
- Uusberg, A., Taxer, J. L., Yih, J., Uusberg, H., & Gross, J. J. (2019). Reappraising
 Reappraisal. Emotion Review, 11(4), 267–282.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073919862617
- Uusberg, H., Uusberg, A., Talpsep, T., & Paaver, M. (2016). Mechanisms of mindfulness: The dynamics of affective adaptation during open monitoring. *Biological Psychology*, 118, 94–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2016.05.004</u>
- Valstar, M. F., Mehu, M., Jiang, B., Pantic, M., & Scherer, K. (2012). Meta-analysis of the first facial expression recognition challenge. *Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics*. Part B: Cybernetics, 42(4), 966–979.

https://doi.org/10.1109/TSMCB.2012.2200675

- van der Schalk, J., Hawk, S. T., Fischer, A. H., & Doosje, B. (2011). Moving faces, looking places: Validation of the Amsterdam Dynamic Facial Expression Set (ADFES). *Emotion*, 11(4), 907–920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023853</u>
- van Kuilenburg, H., Wiering, M., & den Uyl, M. (2005a). A model based method for automatic facial expression recognition. In J. Gama, R. Camacho, P. B. Brazdil, A. M. Jorge, & L. Torgo (Eds.), *Machine Learning*: ECML 2005 (pp. 194–205). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Van Overwalle, F. (2009). Social cognition and the brain: A meta-analysis. *Human Brain* Mapping, 30(3), 829–858. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20547</u>
- Van Overwalle, F., & Baetens, K. (2009). Understanding others' actions and goals by mirror and mentalizing systems: A meta-analysis. NeuroImage, 48(3), 564–584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.009</u>
- van Reekum, C. M., Johnstone, T., Urry, H. L., Thurow, M. E., Schaefer, H. S., Alexander, A. L., & Davidson, R. J. (2007). Gaze fixations predict brain activation during the voluntary regulation of picture-induced negative affect. *NeuroImage*, 36(3), 1041–1055. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.03.052</u>
- van Reekum, C. M., Schaefer, S. M., Lapate, R. C., Norris, C. J., Greischar, L. L., & Davidson, R. J. (2011). Aging is associated with positive responding to neutral

information but reduced recovery from negative information. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 6(2), 177–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsq031</u>

- van Rijn, S., Schothorst, P., Wout, M. van 't, Sprong, M., Ziermans, T., van Engeland, H.,
 ... Swaab, H. (2011). Affective dysfunctions in adolescents at risk for psychosis:
 Emotion awareness and social functioning. *Psychiatry Research*, 187(1), 100–105.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2010.10.007
- Vellante, M., Baron-Cohen, S., Melis, M., Marrone, M., Petretto, D. R., Masala, C., & Preti,
 A. (2013). The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" test: Systematic review of
 psychometric properties and a validation study in Italy. *Cognitive Neuropsychiatry*,
 18(4), 326–354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13546805.2012.721728</u>
- Viding, E., Fontaine, N. M., & McCrory, E. J. (2012). Antisocial behaviour in children with and without callous-unemotional traits. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 105(5), 195–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1258/jrsm.2011.110223</u>
- Volokhov, R. N., & Demaree, H. A. (2010). Spontaneous emotion regulation to positive and negative stimuli. Brain and Cognition, 73(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2009.10.015
- Vorauer, J. D., & Ross, M. (1999). Self-awareness and feeling transparent: Failing to suppress one's self. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 35(5), 415–440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/jesp.1999.1388</u>
- Vrijsen, J. N., Lange, W.-G., Becker, E. S., & Rinck, M. (2010). Socially anxious individuals lack unintentional mimicry. Behaviour Research and Therapy, 48(6), 561–564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2010.02.004
- Wade, M., Prime, H., Jenkins, J. M., Yeates, K. O., Williams, T., & Lee, K. (2018). On the relation between theory of mind and executive functioning: A developmental cognitive neuroscience perspective. Psychonomic Bulletin & Review, 25(6), 2119– 2140. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-018-1459-0

- Wager, T. D., Davidson, M. L., Hughes, B. L., Lindquist, M. A., & Ochsner, K. N. (2008).
 Prefrontal-subcortical pathways mediating successful emotion regulation. *Neuron*, 59(6), 1037–1050. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.09.006</u>
- Wallace-Hadrill, S. M. A., & Kamboj, S. K. (2016). The impact of perspective change as a cognitive reappraisal strategy on affect: A systematic review. Frontiers in Psychology, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01715
- Wallbott, H. G. (1991). Recognition of emotion from facial expression via imitation?
 Some indirect evidence for an old theory. British Journal of Social Psychology, 30(3), 207–219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8309.1991.tb00939.x</u>
- Wallbott, H. G. (1998). Bodily expression of emotion. European Journal of Social Psychology, 28(6), 879–896. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-</u> 0992(1998110)28:6<879::AID-EJSP901>3.0.CO;2-W
- Walter, H. (2012). Social cognitive neuroscience of empathy: Concepts, circuits, and genes. *Emotion Review*, 4(1), 9–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073911421379</u>
- Wang, Yan, Yang, L., & Wang, Y. (2014). Suppression (but not reappraisal) impairs subsequent error detection: An ERP study of emotion regulation's resourcedepleting effect. PLOS ONE, 9(4), e96339.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096339

Wang, Yi, & Li, X. (2017). Temporal course of implicit emotion regulation during a Priming-Identify task: An ERP study. *Scientific Reports*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep41941

- Wang, Yin, & Hamilton, A. F. C. (2012). Social top-down response modulation (STORM):
 A model of the control of mimicry in social interaction. Frontiers in Human
 Neuroscience, 6, 153. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00153</u>
- Webb, T. L., Gallo, I. S., Miles, E., Gollwitzer, P. M., & Sheeran, P. (2012b). Effective regulation of affect: An action control perspective on emotion regulation.

European Review of Social Psychology, 23(1), 143-186.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10463283.2012.718134

- Webb, T. L., Miles, E., & Sheeran, P. (2012a). Dealing with feeling: A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of strategies derived from the process model of emotion regulation.
 Psychological Bulletin, 138(4), 775–808. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027600</u>
- Webb, T. L., & Sheeran, P. (2008). Mechanisms of implementation intention effects: The role of goal intentions, self-efficacy, and accessibility of plan components. British Journal of Social Psychology, 47(3), 373–395.

https://doi.org/10.1348/014466607X267010

- Weyers, P., Mühlberger, A., Hefele, C., & Pauli, P. (2006). Electromyographic responses to static and dynamic avatar emotional facial expressions. Psychophysiology, 43(5), 450–453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2006.00451.x</u>
- Whalen, P. J., Bush, G., McNally, R. J., Wilhelm, S., McInerney, S. C., Jenike, M. A., & Rauch, S. L. (1998). The emotional counting Stroop paradigm: A functional magnetic resonance imaging probe of the anterior cingulate affective division. Biological Psychiatry, 44(12), 1219–1228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-</u>3223(98)00251-0
- Whalen, P. J., Rauch, S. L., Etcoff, N. L., McInerney, S. C., Lee, M. B., & Jenike, M. A. (1998). Masked presentations of emotional facial expressions modulate amygdala activity without explicit knowledge. The Journal of Neuroscience, 18(1), 411–418.
- Wild, B., Erb, M., & Bartels, M. (2001). Are emotions contagious? Evoked emotions while viewing emotionally expressive faces: Quality, quantity, time course and gender differences. Psychiatry Research, 102(2), 109–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-1781(01)00225-6</u>

- Williams, L. E., Bargh, J. A., Nocera, C. C., & Gray, J. R. (2009). The Unconscious
 Regulation of Emotion: Nonconscious Reappraisal Goals Modulate Emotional
 Reactivity. Emotion, 9(6), 847–854. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017745
- Wimmer, H., & Perner, J. (1983). Beliefs about beliefs: Representation and constraining function of wrong beliefs in young children's understanding of deception. *Cognition*, 13(1), 103–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(83)90004-5
- Wisco, B. E., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2011). Effect of visual perspective on memory and interpretation in dysphoria. Behaviour Research and Therapy, 49(6–7), 406–412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2011.03.012</u>
- Wu, L., Winkler, M. H., Andreatta, M., Hajcak, G., & Pauli, P. (2012). Appraisal frames of pleasant and unpleasant pictures alter emotional responses as reflected in selfreport and facial electromyographic activity. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 85(2), 224–229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2012.04.010</u>
- Yerys, B. E., Ruiz, E., Strang, J., Sokoloff, J., Kenworthy, L., & Vaidya, C. J. (2013). Modulation of Attentional Blink with Emotional Faces in Typical Development and in Autism Spectrum Disorders. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 54(6), 636–643. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12013
- Yiend, J., Mathews, A., Weston, B., Dunn, B. D., Cusack, R., & Mackintosh, B. (2008). An investigation of the implicit control of the processing of negative pictures. *Emotion*, 8(6), 828–837. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014146</u>
- Yu, C.-L., & Chou, T.-L. (2018). A dual route model of empathy: A neurobiological prospective. Frontiers in Psychology, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02212</u>
- Yuan, J., Ding, N., Liu, Y., & Yang, J. (2015). Unconscious emotion regulation:
 Nonconscious reappraisal decreases emotion-related physiological reactivity
 during frustration. *Cognition & Emotion*, 29(6), 1042–1053.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2014.965663

- Zaki, J. (2014). Empathy: A motivated account. Psychological Bulletin, 140(6), 1608–1647. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037679
- Zhang, W., & Lu, J. (2012). Time course of automatic emotion regulation during a facial Go/Nogo task. *Biological Psychology*, 89(2), 444–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2011.12.011
- Zhu, X., Zhang, H., Wu, T., Luo, W., & Luo, Y. (2010). Emotional conflict occurs at an early stage: Evidence from the emotional face-word Stroop task. *Neuroscience Letters*, 478(1), 1–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2010.04.036</u>

Appendices

APPENDIX A: QCAE	331
APPENDIX B: ERQ	333
APPENDIX C: DERS	334
APPENDIX D: CHAPTER 2 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	335
APPENDIX E: CHAPTER 3 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	336
APPENDIX F: CHAPTER 4 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	342
APPENDIX G: CHAPTER 5 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	345
APPENDIX H: CHAPTER 6 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	352

APPENDIX A: QCAE (Reniers et al., 2011)

1. I sometimes find it difficult to see things from the "other guy's" point of view.

2. I am usually objective when I watch a film or play, and I don't often get completely caught up in it.

3. I try to look at everybody's side of a disagreement before I make a decision.

4. I sometimes try to understand my friends better by imagining how things look from their perspective.

5. When I am upset at someone, I usually try to "put myself in his shoes" for a while.

6. Before criticizing somebody, I try to imagine how I would feel if I was in their place.

7. I often get emotionally involved with my friends' problems.

8. I am inclined to get nervous when others around me seem to be nervous.

9. People I am with have a strong influence on my mood.

10. It affects me very much when one of my friends seems upset.

11. I often get deeply involved with the feelings of a character in a film, play, or novel.

12. I get very upset when I see someone cry.

13. I am happy when I am with a cheerful group and sad when the others are glum.

14. It worries me when others are worrying and panicky.

15. I can easily tell if someone else wants to enter a conversation.

16. I can pick up quickly if someone says one thing but means another.

17. It is hard for me to see why some things upset people so much.

18. I find it easy to put myself in somebody else's shoes.

19. I am good at predicting how someone will feel.

20. I am quick to spot when someone in a group is feeling awkward or uncomfortable.

21. Other people tell me I am good at understanding how they are feeling and what they are thinking.

22. I can easily tell if someone else is interested or bored with what I am saying.

23. Friends talk to me about their problems as they say that I am very understanding.

24. I can sense if I am intruding, even if the other person does not tell me.

25. I can easily work out what another person might want to talk about.

26. I can tell if someone is masking their true emotion.

27. I am good at predicting what someone will do.

28. I can usually appreciate the other person's viewpoint, even if I do not agree with it.

29. I usually stay emotionally detached when watching a film.

30. I always try to consider the other fellow's feelings before I do something.

31. Before I do something I try to consider how my friends will react to it.

Subscales and scoring

Cognitive empathy:

Perspective taking: 15, 16, 19, 20, 21, 22, 24, 25, 26, 27 Online simulation: 1 (r), 3, 4, 5, 6, 18, 28, 30, 31

Affective empathy:

Emotion contagion: 8, 9, 13, 14 Proximal responsivity: 7, 10, 12, 23 Peripheral responsivity: 2 (r), 11, 17 (r), 29 (r)

Each item is responded to using a 4-point Likert scale, where 1 = strongly disagree and 4 = strongly agree. The two cognitive subscales are summed to produce the score on the cognitive empathy scale and the three affective subscales are summed to produce the affective empathy score. Reverse coded items are identified by (r).

APPENDIX B: ERQ (Gross and John, 2003)

- 1. When I want to feel more positive emotion (such as joy or amusement), I change what I'm thinking about.
- 2. I keep my emotions to myself.
- 3. When I want to feel less negative emotion (such as sadness or anger), I change what I'm thinking about.
- 4. When I am feeling positive emotions, I am careful not to express them.
- 5. When I'm faced with a stressful situation, I make myself think about it in a way that helps me stay calm.
- 6. I control my emotions by not expressing them.
- 7. When I want to feel more positive emotion, I change the way I'm thinking about the situation.
- 8. I control my emotions by changing the way I think about the situation I'm in.
- 9. When I am feeling negative emotions, I make sure not to express them.
- 10. When I want to feel less negative emotion, I change the way I'm thinking about the situation.

Subscales and scoring

Reappraisal: sum of items 1, 3, 5, 7, 8, 10

Suppression: sum of items 2, 4, 6, 9

Each item is rated using a 7-point Likert scale, where 1 = Strongly disagree and 7 = strongly agree.

APPENDIX C: DERS-SF (Kaufman et al., 2016)

- 1. I pay attention to how I feel.
- 2. I have no idea how I am feeling.
- 3. I have difficulty making sense out of my feelings.
- 4. I care about what I am feeling.
- 5. I am confused about how I feel.
- 6. When I'm upset, I acknowledge my emotions.
- 7. When I'm upset, I become embarrassed for feeling that way.
- 8. When I'm upset, I have difficulty getting work done.
- 9. When I'm upset, I become out of control.
- 10. When I'm upset, I believe that I'll end up feeling very depressed.
- 11. When I'm upset, I have difficulty focusing on other things.
- 12. When I'm upset, I feel guilty for feeling that way.
- 13. When I'm upset, I have difficulty concentrating.
- 14. When I'm upset, I have difficulty controlling my behaviours.
- 15. When I'm upset, I believe that there is nothing I can do to make myself feel better.
- 16. When I'm upset, I become irritated with myself for feeling that way.
- 17. When I'm upset, I lose control over my behaviours.
- 18. When I'm upset, it takes me a long time to feel better.

Subscales and scoring

Awareness: 1 (r), 4 (r), 6 (r) Clarity: 2, 3, 5 Impulse: 9, 14, 17 Goals: 8, 11, 13 Non-Acceptance: 7, 12, 16 Strategies: 10, 15, 18

Each item is rated using a 5-point response scale ranging from almost never (0-10%) to almost always (91-100%). Items on each subscale are summed, and the sum of each subscale reflects the DERS-Total score.

APPENDIX D: Chapter 2 supplementary material

D.1. Correlation analysis following outlier removal

Reported here are the results from the chapter 2 trait analysis following outlier removal. Univariate and bivariate outliers were identified using a criterion of 3*IQR and Cook's distance > 4/N (Bollen & Jackson, 1990), respectively (number of outlier cases removed <= 16). Normality was assessed using Kolmogorov Smirnov tests; Spearman's rho is reported for correlations where any of the variable distributions showed significant deviation from normality.

QCAE-ERQ correlations

Variable	Reappraisal	Suppression
Cognitive Empathy	.22 (p = .001)	16 (<i>p</i> = .02)
Affective Empathy	.07 (<i>p</i> = .33)	31 (<i>p</i> < .001)

QCAE-DERS correlations

Variable	DERS-Total
Cognitive Empathy	19 (<i>p</i> = .03)
Affective Empathy	.09 (<i>p</i> = .32)

APPENDIX E: Chapter 3 supplementary material

E.1. Director task instructions

In this task you will be shown a shelving unit with different objects positioned on some of the shelves. I will be viewing the same shelving unit from the opposite side and will give you verbal instructions to move a particular object to a new location. You will notice that some of the shelves have open backs whereas others are covered at the back, meaning that the objects on those shelves can not be seen from my side. When interpreting my instructions, you should consider which objects I can and can't see from my perspective.

Each trial will start with a fixation cross; please focus on this cross whenever it is present on screen. I will see the shelves just before you and will deliver my instruction, at which point you will see the shelving unit. You should first of all decide which object I am asking you to move and to which shelf location. As soon as you have identified the object and the new location, please click the left mouse button once. The cursor will then appear on the screen and you should click on the object you want to move, this will then be highlighted, and then click on the location you want to move this object to. You will then see the object move and the display will progress to the next fixation screen.

While accuracy is most important for this task, you should still try to perform the task quickly; i.e. click the mouse button as soon as you are confident that you know which object should be moved to which location. E.2. Director task trial-level instructions

Practice 1 (self-perspective):	Move the big camera one shelf up
Practice 2 (self-perspective):	Move the big ball one shelf up
Practice 3 (self-perspective):	Move the ball over the top camera
Practice 4 (director-perspective):	Move the big camera one shelf up
Practice 5 (director-perspective):	Move the big ball one shelf up
Practice 6 (director-perspective):	Move the ball over the top camera

- 1. Move the bottom camera over the mouse
- 2. Move the big heart one shelf down
- 3. Move the leaf over the small cup
- 4. Move the big camera over the tape
- 5. Move the ice cream next to the top battery
- 6. Move the top cup under the yogurt
- 7. Move the small heart one shelf down
- 8. Move the perfume next to the bottom ball
- 9. Move the bottom camera two shelves up
- 10. Move the big heart one shelf up
- 11. Move the perfume next to the top ball
- 12. Move the big camera next to the ice
- 13. Move the bottom heart over the camera
- 14. Move the small triangle to the top corner
- 15. Move the top battery over the ice cream
- 16. Move the top camera one shelf down
- 17. Move the top triangle over the cup
- 18. Move the yogurt under the small cup
- 19. Move the small camera over the tape
- 20. Move the perfume next to the bottom triangle
- 21. Move the bottom ball under the perfume
- 22. Move the leaf over the big cup
- 23. Move the ice cream next to the bottom battery
- 24. Move the bee under the small ball

- 25. Move the bottom cup to the top
- 26. Move the bottom ball two shelves up
- 27. Move the small camera next to the ice
- 28. Move the big triangle to the bottom corner
- 29. Move the top camera over the mouse
- 30. Move the small triangle two shelves up
- 31. Move the top heart over the camera
- 32. Move the yogurt under the big cup
- 33. Move the big battery under the ball
- 34. Move the small heart one shelf up
- 35. Move the perfume over the top triangle
- 36. Move the small battery under the ball
- 37. Move the bee over the big ball
- 38. Move the bottom cup under the yogurt
- 39. Move the big triangle one shelf down
- 40. Move the big battery one shelf up
- 41. Move the top ball under the perfume
- 42. Move the big heart next to the ball
- 43. Move the bottom triangle over the cup
- 44. Move the bottom battery over the ice cream
- 45. Move the top cup to the bottom
- 46. Move the small battery one shelf up
- 47. Move the top ball one shelf down
- 48. Move the small heart next to the ball

Note: Trial order was reversed for half of the sample.

E.3. RMET instructions

On each trial you will see an image of some eyes. For each set of eyes, choose which word best describes what the person in the picture is thinking or feeling by pressing the corresponding number on the keyboard. You may feel that more than one word is applicable but please choose just one word, the word which you consider to be most suitable.

You should try to do the task as accurately as possible. Before making your choice, please make sure that you have read all 4 words. If you really don't know what a word means you can look it up in the definition handout.

E.4. SFM task instructions

In this task you will be shown brief videos of people making different facial expressions. It will last around 4 minutes and you do not need to respond in any way. However, it is important that you look at and pay attention to the faces for the duration of the task.

E.5. Correlation analysis following outlier removal

Reported here are the results from the chapter 3 correlation analysis examining the relationship between task measures of cognitive/affective empathy and trait emotion regulation (DERS & ERQ). Univariate and bivariate outliers were identified using a criterion of 3*IQR and Cook's distance > 4/N, respectively (number of outlier cases removed <= 9). Normality was assessed using Kolmogorov Smirnov tests; Spearman's rho is reported for correlations where any of the variable distributions showed significant deviation from normality.

Variable	DERS-Total	Reappraisal (ERQ)	Suppression (ERQ)
Director Task	51 (p = .001)	.27 (p = .11)	38 (p = .02)
RMET	11 (p = .52)	.06 (p = .73)	.08 (p = .64)
	• /	•	L
Angry SFM	47 (p = .004)	.48 (p = .003)	19 (p = .26)
0,			ų <i>,</i>
Happy SFM	18 (p = .33)	20 (p = 27)	07 (p = .72)

Empathy Tasks-DERS/ERQ correlations

E.6. Relationship between trait and task measures of empathy To better understand the different relationships with trait emotion regulation observed for these tasks and those observed for the trait empathy measure in chapter 2, the convergence between these different empathy measures were examined (table 3.3.2). The results highlight some interesting points of divergence between trait and task measures of cognitive/affective empathy, which could have implications for understanding the different relationships with emotion regulation observed across trait and task measures of empathy.

Correlations between trait and task measures of empathy

Variable	Director Task	RMET	Mean SFM
Cognitive empathy (QCAE)	.20 (p = .22)	.05 (p = .78)	.35 (p = .03)
Affective empathy (QCAE)	.39 (<i>p</i> = .01)	.08 (p = .61)	.19 (<i>p</i> = .24)

APPENDIX F: Chapter 4 supplementary material

F.1. Emo-GNG task instructions

On each trial a face displaying an emotional expression will be presented on screen. You must press the '0' key with the index finger of your right hand as fast as you can whenever you see a face displaying a particular emotional expression. Do NOT press the button when you see any other expression. At the start of each block you will be told which expression you should respond to.

Example of block instructions:

Press the '0' key as fast as you can whenever you see a HAPPY face. Do NOT press for any other faces; only the HAPPY faces.

F.2. Emo-Stroop task instructions

On each trial a WORD and a FACE will be presented on screen. You must press a button on the keyboard to state whether the WORD is positively or negatively valenced. Try to ignore the face and respond as quickly as possible to the word.

Press '1' if the WORD is POSITIVE Press '2' if the WORD is NEGATIVE

Please press the appropriate key using either the index or middle finger of your right hand. Remember to respond to the word as fast as you can without making mistakes.

F.3. Correlation analysis following outlier removal

Reported here are the results from the chapter 4 correlation analysis examining the relationship between trait empathy and task measures of implicit emotion regulation (Emo-GNG & Emo-Stroop), with outlier cases removed. Univariate and bivariate outliers were identified using a criterion of 3*IQR and Cook's distance > 4/N, respectively (number of outlier cases removed <= 5). Normality was assessed using Kolmogorov Smirnov tests; Spearman's rho is reported for correlations where any of the variable distributions showed significant deviation from normality.

Correlations between trait and task measures of empathy

Variable	Emo-GNG	Em o-Stroop	Emo-Stroop
	emotional	emotional	em oti on al
	interference	interference	facilitation
Cognitive empathy (QCAE)	.08 (p = .49)	29 (p = .01)	.17 (p = .14)
Affective empathy (QCAE)	.32 (p = .004)	01 (p = .91)	07 (p = .56)

F.4. Relationship between trait and task measures of emotion regulation Reported here are the correlations between the Emo-GNG and Emo-Stroop task metrics and a trait emotion regulation measure (ERQ).

ERQ-Emo GNG/Emo-Stroop correlations

Variable	Emo-GNG emotional	Emo-Stroop emotional	Emo-Stroop emotional
	interference	interference	facilitation
Reappraisal (ERQ)	05 (<i>p</i> = .68)	16 (<i>p</i> = .15)	.29 (<i>p</i> = .01)
$Suppression \ (ERQ)$	19 (<i>p</i> = .10)	04 (<i>p</i> = .73)	12 (p = .30)

Emo GNG-Emo Stroop correlations

Variable	Emo-Stroop emotional	Emo-Stroop emotional
	interference	facilitation
Emo-GNG emotional interference	.02 (p = .88)	.21 (<i>p</i> = .08)

APPENDIX G: Chapter 5 supplementary material

G.1. Implicit reappraisal task instructions

BLOCK 1 (freeview):

You will be shown a series of images. After each image you will be asked to rate how pleasant/unpleasant the image made you feel. Please provide accurate and honest ratings based upon your initial reaction to the image.

BLOCK 2 (framed):

In this block, before each image you will see a sentence that provides some context for what is happening in the image. As in the previous block you will be asked to rate how pleasant/unpleasant each image made you feel. Please provide accurate and honest ratings based upon your initial reaction to the image.

G.2. Implicit reappraisal task stimuli

Neutral IAPS image numbers and frame sentences from the implicit reappraisal task.

IAPS Number	Descriptive Frame Sentence
2025	She is holding her finger to her mouth
2038	The woman is reading something on her laptop
2102	The man reads the stock report every morning
2280	The boy has brown eyes and short hair
2385	Her hair is covering her face
2393	These workers are checking the settings of a complicated machine
2394	The doctor is checking a patient's measurement
2396	The couple are walking down a flight of stairs holding a cat basket
2441	She has blue eyes and long hair
2480	The man is holding the curtains to look out the window
2491	He is checking his temperature with a thermometer
2500	The man has a large white beard
2515	The woman and children are picking strawberries
2579	The chefs are making dumplings in the market
2580	These men play chess three times a week
2593	This café has outdoor seating
2597	People are queuing to buy tuna at the fish market
2635	The cowboy is cold in the snow holding his coat
2749	The man is smoking a cigar and drinking wine in his house
7550	The man is working on an old engineering program

IAPS Number	Neutralising Frame Sentence	Descriptive Frame Sentence
2205	The man's wife was ill but is fully	The man holds his sick wife's hand
	recovering	
2700	These women are overwhelmed	The women are crying in a group
	with joy at a wedding	
3030	With medical care he will only	He will have scarring from the flesh
	have a small scar	wound
3051	The amount of blood makes it look	She has some cuts and bruises on her
	worse than it is	face
3101	With good medical care, this	This man has facial burns which
	man's burns will heal well	require medical care
3180	This is an actress in a film about	She has been beaten and has a black
	domestic abuse	eye
3300	Thanks to medical care she will	She is receiving medical care in a
	recover from her illness	hospital
3350	Thanks to early care this baby	While in early care this premature
	develops into a healthy toddler	baby is being monitored
3500	The man escapes unharmed	The man is being held at gun-point
6212	This soldier is protecting the child	The soldier is watching the child run
6350	This is an actress in a self-defence	The man is holding a knife to the
	training video	woman's throat
6834	Mother and child are protected by	The police are arresting a man in
	the policemen's actions	front of a mother and child
6838	The child is scared but will come	The child is crying in front of the car
	to no harm	
9041	She is just a little shy	She is hiding her face
9220	The couple can take comfort from one another	The couple are at the graveside
9250	These doctors will save the	The medics are taking the young
	woman's life	woman to medical care
9429	The children are being protected	The children and mothers are
	by their mothers	running down the road
9561	The kitten can be treated by a vet	The kitten has an unhealthy-looking
		eve
9900	Nobody was seriously injured in	A large number of firefighters were
	this car accident	sent to the scene
9921	The firefighters get this woman to	The firefighters are carrying a
	safety just in time	wom an from a burning building

Negative IAPS image numbers and frame sentences from the implicit reappraisal task.

G.3. Explicit reappraisal task instructions

You will be shown a series of images. After each image you will be asked to rate: (1) how pleasant/unpleasant you felt in response to the image; (2) how much arousal you felt in response to the image. Please be entirely honest in your ratings.

Prior to each image you will be shown a written instruction to either: (1) WATCH, or (2) RETHINK. When the instruction is "WATCH", attend to the image and allow any thoughts and feelings to arise as they naturally would. Do not try to change the feelings that arise, and keep your eyes on the picture the entire time it is on screen.

When the instruction is "RETHINK", try to think about what is happening in the depicted situation in a way that helps you feel less negative. For example, you could try to think that whatever is happening is not as bad as it looks or will soon be resolved. You could also think about the steps that could be taken to change the situation.

Please keep your eyes on the image the entire time it is on the screen and do not think about unrelated things. None of the images you will see are staged and it is important that you treat the depicted situations as real and do not simply think that the images are fake. Try to start thinking differently about the depicted situation as soon as the picture appears on the screen; continue to think differently until it disappears.

Some pictures may not make you feel particularly negative. Nevertheless, we ask that you try to find ways to think differently about the picture so that any negative impression, however slight, would be reduced.

G.4. Explicit reappraisal task stimuli

IAPS Image Number	Image Set (Neg)
2205	1
2375.1	1
2717	1
2799	1
3051	1
3100	1
3181	1
3300	1
3500	1
9400	1
9910	1
9921	1
2141	2
2700	2
2710	2
3030	2
3101	2
3180	2
3350	2
3550	2
9040	2
9250	2
9425	2
9900	2

Negative IAPS image numbers from the explicit reappraisal task

IAPS Image Number	Image Set (Neu)
2191	1
2393	1
2394	1
2396	1
2500	1
2635	1
2491	2
2515	2
2579	2
2580	2
2597	2
2749	2

Neutral IAPS image numbers from the explicit reappraisal task

G.5. Correlation analysis following outlier removal

Reported here are the results from the chapter 5 correlation analysis examining the relationship between trait empathy and task measures of implicit and explicit reappraisal. Univariate and bivariate outliers were identified using a criterion of 3*IQR and Cook's distance > 4/N, respectively. Univariate and bivariate outliers were identified using a criterion of 3*IQR and Cook's distance > 4/N, respectively (number of outlier cases removed <= 7). Normality was assessed using Kolmogorov Smirnov tests; Spearman's rho is reported for correlations where any of the variable distributions showed significant deviation from normality.

Implicit reappraisal task-QCAE correlations

Variable	Implicit reappraisal task metric	
Cognitive empathy (QCAE)	10 (<i>p</i> = .38)	
Affective empathy (QCAE)	.44 (<i>p</i> < .001)	

Explicit reappraisal task-QCAE correlations

Variable	Self-report change		Facereader AFC	valence change
	Valence	Arousal	Early epoch	Late epoch
Cognitive empathy (QCAE)	18 (p = .30)	37 (p = .02)	36 (<i>p</i> = .03)	.19 (<i>p</i> = .30)
Affective empathy (QCAE)	.38 (<i>p</i> = .03)	.22 $(p = .21)$.20 (p = .25)	.20 (<i>p</i> = .27)

G.6. Relationship between trait and task measures of reappraisalReported here are the relationships between the ERQ measure of habitualreappraisal use and key metrics of reappraisal magnitude from the implicitand explicit reappraisal tasks.

Implicit and explicit reappraisal task-ERQ correlations

Variable	Implicit Reappraisal	Self-report change		Facereader AFC valence change	
	Task				
		Valence	Arousal	Early epoch	Late epoch
Reappraisal (ERQ)	02 (p = .87)	10 (p = .56)	09 (p = .61)	11 (p = .50)	12 (p = .46)

APPENDIX H: Chapter 6 supplementary material

H.1. Spontaneous and instructed regulation task instructions

BLOCK 1 instructions:

You will be shown a series of images. Please attend to each image and allow any thoughts and feelings to arise as they naturally would. After each image you will be asked to rate: (1) how pleasant/unpleasant you felt in response to the image; (2) how much arousal you felt in response to the image. Please be entirely honest in your ratings.

BLOCK 2 instructions:

In this next block, each image will be preceded by an instruction to either: (1) ATTEND, or (2) REGULATE. When the instruction is "ATTEND", simply attend to the image as in the previous block and allow any thoughts and feelings to arise as they naturally would.

When the instruction is "REGULATE", try to reduce any emotional response that the image evokes, so that you feel less negative about it. You can do whatever you wish to try to feel less negative, we just ask that you don't close your eyes or look away from the image. Please keep your eyes on the image the entire time it is on the screen.

None of the images you will see are staged and it is important that you treat the depicted situations as real. Some pictures may not make you feel particularly negative. Nevertheless, we ask that you try to find ways to reduce any negative impression, however slight. H.2. Spontaneous and instructed regulation task stimuli

Image Set
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3

Negative IAPS image numbers from the regulation task

IAPS Image Number
2280
2393
2394
2396
2441
2480
2491
2500
2515
2579
2580
2597
2635
2749
7550

Neutral IAPS image numbers from the regulation task

H.3. Correlation analysis following outlier removal

Reported here are the results from the chapter 6 correlation analysis testing the relationship between trait/task measures of empathy and task measures of spontaneous recovery and instructed regulation magnitude. Univariate and bivariate outliers were identified using a criterion of 3*IQR and Cook's distance > 4/N, respectively (number of outlier cases removed <= 8). Normality was assessed using Kolmogorov Smirnov tests; Spearman's rho is reported for correlations where any of the variable distributions showed significant deviation from normality.

Emotional reactivity & spontaneous recovery-QCAE correlations

Variable	Self-rep	EMG recovery metric	
	Valence	Arousal	
Cognitive empathy (QCAE)	.04 (<i>p</i> = .82)	.23 (p = .15)	.13 (<i>p</i> = .39)
Affective empathy (QCAE)	.02 (p = .91)	.09 (<i>p</i> = .56)	15 (<i>p</i> = .34)

Emotional reactivity & spontaneous recovery-empathy tasks correlations

Variable	Self-repo	EMG recovery metric	
	Valence	Arousal	
Director task	14 (<i>p</i> = .44)	.07 (<i>p</i> = .68)	20 (<i>p</i> = .26)
SFM Angry	.10 (p = .57)	.38 (p = .02)	.06 (<i>p</i> = .74)
SFM Happy	03 (<i>p</i> = .89)	.19, (<i>p</i> = .30)	.14 (<i>p</i> = .42)

Instructed regulation metrics-QCAE correlations

Variable	Self-report rating change		Corrugator E	MG change
	Valence	Arousal	Reactivity epoch	Recovery epoch
Cognitive empathy (QCAE)	17 (p = .29)	15 (p = .34)	12 (p = .42)	12 (p = .42)
Affective empathy (QCAE)	.002 (p = .99)	.06 (<i>p</i> = .70)	.28 (p = .06)	.17 (p = .27)

Instructed regulation metrics-empathy tasks correlations

Variable	Self-report ra	Self-report rating change		lG change
	Valence	Arousal	Reactivity epoch	Recovery epoch
Director task	.21 (p = .22)	.001 (<i>p</i> = 1.0)	11 (<i>p</i> = .53)	23 (p = .17)
SFM Angry	.22 (p = .21)	002 (<i>p</i> = .99)	.21 (<i>p</i> = .24)	09 (<i>p</i> = .61)
SFM Happy	.05 (p = .78)	02 (<i>p</i> = .90)	04 (<i>p</i> = .84)	01 (p = .95)

H.4. Relationship between trait and task measures of emotion regulation To assess the convergent validity of the block 1 regulation task metrics of reactivity and spontaneous recovery, the relationship between these metrics and the DERS were examined. Reported here are the relationships between the DERS measure of self-reported difficulties in emotion regulation and self-report and corrugator EMG task metrics of emotional reactivity, spontaneous recovery, and instructed regulation magnitude.

Reactivity and spontaneous recovery metrics-DERS correlations

Variable	Self-report	Self-report ratings	
	Valence	Arousal	
DERS-Total	.05 (<i>p</i> = .77)	05 (<i>p</i> = .75)	25 (p = .09)

Instructed regulation metrics-DERS correlations

Variable	Self-report rating change		Corrugator EM	IG change
	Valence	Arousal	Reactivity epoch	Recovery epoch
DERS-Total	35 (<i>p</i> = .02)	26 (<i>p</i> = .08)	15 (<i>p</i> = .33)	.05 (p = .74)